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ONTARIO IN THE DOMINION:
GENERAL OUTLINES

set apart as a community, and the character of its

early settlers, fixed its future destiny. It was, by
deliberate design, the region reserved for the English-speaking
portion of the people, and it became, by the rapid issue of
events, the shelter of the refugee loyalists of the American
Revolution. This has remained a fundamental factor in the
evolution of Ontario. That the genius of the English race
for self-government should reproduce itself here, and that
this should be accompanied by a steady and at times ardent
attachment to British connection, were equally inevitable.
Of the loyalists it may be said that they would have formed
a valuable immigration for the upbuilding of any state,
even for one less richly dowered by nature than this. They
gave to Ontario the traditions and the impulses which are
still its most precious possessions. The defects which they
developed under trying conditions do not detract from the
enduring nature of their achievements as a whole. During
the years immediately following the migration their priva-
tions were many, and a bare living was only won by the
most arduous toil. Under such conditions the progress of
the new state was necessarily slow. Men could look ahead,
but not with the prospect of enjoying prosperity themselves.
Then came the war of invasion and the withdrawal from pro-
ductive labour of the greater part of the male population.
The loyalist settlers once more made a supreme sacrifice, and
the courage with which they repelled the repeated attacks of
superior forces denoted qualities that in all ages of the world
have been held in high honour.

T HE circumstances under which Upper Canada was

3



4 ONTARIO IN THE DOMINION

It may be that during the distinctively loyalist period
the province developed at a snail’s pace as compared with
the neighbouring States of the American Union. Meagrely
furnished with capital for public works or private enterprises,
lacking a market for its surplus products, the province was
deprived of those opportunities for rapid material growth
which go far to reconcile men to the drawbacks of a rough
environment and a crude social existence. To the natural
barriers that separated the people from the French of Lower
Canada were added the unhappy dissensions arising out of
differences of race and creed. For these reasons an inland
community, restricted in its intercourse with civilization, cut
off from the main currents of thought in the Old World, was
forced in many respects to subsist upon itself, with the result
that undue emphasis was placed upon political controversy
and agitation.

This brings us to another essential factor in the life of the
province, and one that must be studied with care if we are
to understand the Ontario of to-day. The lessons of the
past have been potent in moulding the development of the
province. The constitution has derived its strength and the
policy its harmony from the experience and strife of previous
generations. It has been said that the state which fails to
honour and to profit by its own past must soon cease to exist.
Ontario has never forgotten its history, nor has it omitted
to learn and apply the teaching of a century and a quarter.
At the outset Simcoe, a man of many virtues and consider-
able parts, was neither more nor less far-seeing than his
contemporaries. Everywhere throughout the British Empire
the . forces of reaction were aroused. The young loyalist
colony in Upper Canada had been forced into existence by
one revolution. The greater revolution in France was now
in its early stages. This event cast its dark shadow over
the debates upon the Constitutional Act of 1791. If we look
vainly in that measure for generous concessions to the British
self-governing spirit at the hands of Pitt, Burke, and Fox,
and if we wonder somewhat impatiently why disorder in
France secured more attention from these brilliant states-
men than the details of the bill, a little reflection will supply
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the explanation. The revolutions in North America and in
France alarmed moderate men and resulted in postponing
parliamentary reform and in checking the democratic move-
ment generally. Simcoe, therefore, was in accord with the
dominant ideas of the day when he endeavoured to set up
an aristocratic system and to establish a governing class.
This design, futile as it proved to be, bore a train of evils
which harassed the politics of the province for half a cen-
tury. It produced the Family Compact. Simcoe’s successors,
adapting their policy to changing conditions, followed in his
footsteps, trying to stem a tide which could not be con-
trolled. The energies of the young community were turned
more to the solution of political problems than to internal
development, to the exploiting of vast possessions in land,
minerals, and timber, or to the possibilities of a rich agri-
culture and a great commerce, which in our day attract to
Ontario the gaze of the world.

Finally, an armed rebellion, abortive in its effects but
startling because it seemed to be proof of general discontent
with British institutions, awakened statesmen to a sense of
the danger. In 1837, we should bear in mind, English parlia-
mentary reform was but five years old, and so far from
cabinet responsibility being an unchallenged constitutional
maxim, the royal prerogative had been exercised to dismiss
a ministry as recently as 1834. The forced union of Upper
and Lower Canada in 1841 was in no sense a wise expedient.
What prospects it presented were rendered hopeless by the
refusal of the crown’s representatives to yield all executive
control to ministers. When this error was ultimately rectified,
the inherent weakness of the new constitution began to dis-
play itself. The two provinces were not without interests in
common ; but their ideals in education, in civil law, in the
relations of church and state, and in the conduct of public
affairs were utterly at variance. They could not be yoked
together. The federal principle was the true remedy for
communities so situated, and its adoption in 1867 brought
relief to the body politic, conferred full liberty of action
within an allotted sphere, and imparted to the spirit of
advancement its required stimulus.
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If the province spent seventy-six years in evolving the
constitution best suited to its needs and wishes, the time was
not devoted to a single object. Important as that object
was, the attainment of efficiency in legislative machinery
alone could never absorb all the energies of an intelligent
people. However imperfect a parliamentary structure may
be, popular aims and ideals will find means of asserting them-
selves. Upper Canada early displayed its zeal for systematic
progress. It was foremost in planning the organizations
that pertain to a well-ordered state. The resources of the
people were narrow, but their ideas were on a large scale
and their faith in the future undoubted. Municipal in-
stitutions, the judiciary, and the system of education date
in embryo from the beginning. In these are to be found the
real capacity of a community to govern itself. The story of
parliamentary struggles can be more effectively staged. It
impresses the superficial observer more deeply. But if we
wish to apply the true test of a community’s moral and
material vitality, we seek it in the methods employed to train
the people, to administer the laws, and to regulate civic affairs.
The extent to which Ontario has been influential in national
life is largely determined by the completeness of her develop-
ment, and these methods are the basis of it. The schools,
imperfect at first, gradually improved until a practical
elementary training was within the reach of all. The vigour
of the system dates from the appointment of Ryerson as
superintendent, not the least of whose achievements is that
he evoked a genuine ardour for education from a frugal rural
population. By leaving the management of the schools
largely in the hands of the people in each locality, he was
able to place upon them the chief burden of support. The
central authority retained sufficient control to conduct the
training of teachers, to ensure harmony in the courses of
study, and to expand the system as the years wore on. The
excellent system of secondary schools, which owe so much to
Paxton Young and John Seath, opened for talent and in-
dustry an easy path to advanced training. The long struggle
for a non-sectarian state university produced an institution
of the highest efficiency, whose graduates have attained dis-
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tinction in every walk of life. Thus by its educational
institutions Ontario has provided men well qualified to fill
the professions and to enter political life, while, in addition,
they create and sustain an influential body of educated
opinion. In administering their schools the people of the
province received a sound training in the duties of citizen-
ship, a discipline still further impressed upon them by the
working of their municipal system. The evolution of these
bodies is one of the most remarkable chapters in the annals
of the state. The native of Ontario is well equipped for
nearly every form of public duty. When he removes to
some other portion of the Dominion he carries with him
an experience of self-government and an insight into all its
modern phases which enable him, if endowed with natural
force of character, to perform the most useful functions of
the citizen. The courts of justice date from the foundation
of the province, and bear the impress of those lofty tradi-
tions and principles which we are accustomed to associate
with the British courts of law. The bench, from the appoint-
ment of Osgoode, the first chief justice, in 1792, has main-
tained an enviable reputation for probity and talent. It
has been recruited from the foremost members of the legal
profession, and that profession itself has always occupied a
place of dignity in public estimation, The reorganization of
the Ontario system, following from time to time, in its general
outlines at least, the English courts, has tended to meet the
requirements of the province, and to afford adequate means
of establishing the rights of individuals. The enforcement of
law and order has a direct relation to the administration
of justice. If Ontario bears a good name for absence of
crime and for orderly habits of living, the respect for authority
which prevails throughout its bounds has been stimulated
by the judicial system. The following monographs upon
these phases of the provincial structure are of striking import-
ance because they deal with the sources of that strength and
stability which Ontario has contributed to the Dominion.
Set free by the Confederation Act, the province was to
work out her own future. The partnership of the previous
twenty-five years had proved irksome. Lord Durham, in
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one of the eloquent passages of his Report, declared that he
had found two nations warring in the bosom of a single
state. The condition he deplored was not merely perpetuated
in the constitution of 1841, but so far intensified by a closer
union that UpperCanada found her interests compromised and
her legislation hampered at every turn. The history of this
unfortunate experiment in government is given elsewhere in
this work?! and need not be repeated here. Itis sufficient to
point out that both parties to the arrangement were averse
from it, and neither can be reproached for wishing to withdraw.
In subsequent inter-provincial conferences they have demon-
strated a willingness to work amicably together on behalf of
objects common to both. The release was welcomed with
special satisfaction by Ontario, and it was now to be seen
bhow complete freedom would be employed. Her people had
been substantially unanimous in favouring the new state
of things, and oddly enough the chief opponent of the change
became the first prime minister of the province. Only one
legislative chamber had been created. In it were gathered
many men of note. Divided, it is true, by party differences,
they were pledged to unity by the oft-expressed desire to
promote, without let or hindrance, those provincial interests
which had been too long neglected. In the following pages
the political record of Ontario for almost half a century is
presented in detail for the first time, and we are thus enabled
to judge the sincerity of past professions in the light of things
accomplished.

The task was not taken up with absolute confidence.
There were fears of a subordinate position in the Dominion
where the greater would entirely overshadow the less; of
friction in jurisdiction so serious as to render nugatory the
long-sought autonomy ; of a tendency to pettiness in aims
and legislation ; of a heavy loss in men drawn away to the
larger parliamentary sphere. - All these fears proved ground-
less. The trustees of a great estate proved equal to the duty
cast upon them. The provincial legislation developed on
broad lines the various departments of moral, social, and
civic life. There was no absorption into the Dominion in

1 Section 111, United Canada, 1840-186;.
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the sense that the identity of the province dwindled away
and men of the best calibre sought elsewhere the careers
denied them at home. Ontario was incorporated into the
federal system in the fullest meaning of the term, was the
mainstay of the union during both extremes of fortune, and
yet has asserted an individuality and maintained an exclusive
entity without sapping the vigour of the nation.

The latest phase of provincial growth is the most complex
to analyse because the marked expansion of natural resources
seems to overshadow everything else, and may yet pro-
foundly affect the moral and social forces. In 1867 Ontario
was, as has been said, a great estate. But its realized wealth
lay in agriculture. The manufacturing interest was not ex-
tensive. The mining industry was in its infancy. The pro-
vince was essentially an agricultural one, and farming was
carried on with skill and enterprise. The story of its begin-
nings and development possesses the fascination which must
always attach to a pursuit forming the basis of the state.
Untiring industry and enforced frugality had moulded the
character of the people. The doctrines of laisser-faire were
still in the ascendant, but the legislature thrust theory aside
by actively assisting the farmer and increasing his voting
power. Goldwin Smith declared that Ontario might have
been a nation in itself. The statistics that represent
Ontario’s share of Canadian resources reveal greater oppor-
tunities than were even suspected by the pioneer explorers.
They are a revelation to the average person who deems
himself well informed. The extensions of the provincial
boundaries have added large areas to the original domain,
and the precise value of these the future must determine.
Apparently the province is on the threshold of a remarkable
expansion, and the effect of this upon institutions and char-
acter can only be conjectured. A century may elapse before
it will be possible to depict with accuracy the effects of a
transformation from moderate prosperity to opulence and
power. We cannot as yet fully comprehend the modifica-
tions of tastes and standards and the displacements of
political authority which may be wrought by great eco-
nomic changes. These are the outstanding considerations
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suggested by the writers who follow. Each has brought the
fruits of long reflection and close investigation to his task.
Upon the array of evidence here presented it is well to
generalize with the prudence that should mark every form
of inductive reasoning. This at least stands out in bold
relief : Ontario is one of the most conspicuous examples
in history of what may be accomplished by a state within
a federal union, and such may be her most solid legacy to
the ages and her best right to an enduring fame.
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PIONEER SETTLEMENTS

INTRODUCTORY

N 1763, when Canada passed from the control of France

I to that of Great Britain, there were few permanent

French settlements in the immense territory now in-
cluded under the name of the Province of Ontario. With
the exception of the settlement on the Detroit River of about
one thousand souls, one-third of whom lived along the eastern
bank of the river between the present town of Walkerville
and the mouth of the Canard River, the whole population
of Canada, about sixty thousand, was within the confines
of what is now the Province of Quebec. The centres of popu-
lation were around the towns of Quebec, Three Rivers, and
Montreal, and along the River St Lawrence between Quebec
and Montreal.

If the permanent settlements were sparse west of the
Ottawa River, it was not because the region was an unknown
wilderness. Every lake, and every stream that would float
a canoe, had been travelled by some intrepid Frenchman.
The Récollets and Jesuits had planted missions in the country
of the Hurons between Lake Simcoe and Georgian Bay, and
at favourable places along the Great Lakes from the foot of
Lake Ontario to the head of Lake Superior. More explor-
ing expeditions had been sent out from French Canada than
from any other part of the world. It is no exaggeration to
say that the whole of North America was discovered through
the mouth of the St Lawrence : Jolliet and Marquette, La
Salle, Radisson, Vérendrye, Mackenzie, Fraser, and Thompson
all first navigated the St Lawrence before venturing on their
expeditions into the interior of the country, or to the Arctic,

or Hudson Bay, or the Pacific.
13
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For one hundred and fifty years France laboured to build
up a strong colony in Canada, and the result at the end of
that time was a scattered population of less than seventy-five
thousand people. Historians are prone to put the blame
for this comparative lack of success in colonization on the
methods adopted by France. But during the time she held
possession of New France the mother country did every-
thing possible, according to her lights, both directly and
indirectly, to build up a powerful colony in Canada. She
granted monopolies to trading companies on condition that
they should establish settlements. She sent out regiments
of soldiers, and when they were no longer needed in the field
she placed them on the land. But it cannot be said that
France was eminently successful in establishing a strong,
self-reliant colony in Canada.

Geographic influences tended to retard emigration from
the homeland. The climatic conditions were harsher than
those of sunny France. The arable soil was inferior in quality,
and much labour had to be expended in clearing away the
forest before food crops could be produced. Often the land
after being cleared was found unfit for cultivation or so
coarse and rocky as to be almost worthless for agricultural
purposes. Conditions necessitated a reversion to a lower
economic type of existence.

No part of the world furnished more luxuriant forests.
In these magnificent forests roamed all kinds of game and
fur-bearing animals. The French colonist was irresistibly
drawn to the adventurous life of the trapper and the fur
trader. The long rivers and numerous lakes furnished him
a highway for thousands of miles from his home on the banks
of the St Lawrence. Besides, his pelts found a ready sale
in France, where fur-trimmed garments and beaver hats were
the fashion.

The nomadic and adventurous life of the French pioneer,
due to the influences of climate and of natural highways
leading far into the interior, made him restless and difficult
to control. He chafed under the exacting conditions laid
upon him by a paternal government separated from him by
an ocean barrier over two thousand miles in width.
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The environment of the settler in New France was in
sharp contrast with that of his hereditary enemies who occu-
pied the narrow coastal plain between the Appalachian Moun-
tains and the sea. Here, under a less severe climate and on
a more fertile soil, the English colonist became a farmer and
a tradesman. The density of the population led to unifica-
tion. As yet there were no annoying regulations imposed
upon them by the home government. Their territorial
growth kept pace with the growth of population. Here was
exemplified in the fullest degree that general law of expan-
sion and strength—‘ The more nearly the political area coin-
cides with the ethnic the greater is the strength and stability
of the state.” The time came, however, when expansion
beyond the Alleghany Mountains became a necessity. At
length all the best farming land east of the mountains was
occupied, and as the fertility of the western slope became
well known, the struggle between the French and the English
for possession of the Ohio valley commenced and could not
end until one or the other was driven from the continent.
From the beginning there was never any doubt which nation
would be the ultimate victor. France fought valiantly, but
was at last forced to yield and to leave Great Britain in
possession of practically the whole of the North American
continent,

THE LOYALISTS

The final struggle had taught the British authorities the
immense possibilities of the territory they had won, and
without loss of time they hastened to make laws for its
government. While they were in the business of law-making,
they thought that as the old colonies had been neglected in
that particular for some years, a few acts might be passed
for their benefit and for the good of the Empire as a whole.
These laws were neither exacting nor arbitrary. While they
were opposed by nearly the entire population of the thir-
teen colonies as being unnecessarily vexatious and irritating,
there was a difference of opinion among the colonists as to
the best method of correcting the abuses and leading the
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British government to see the mistake it had made. A
large number, not by any means a majority, were for separa-
tion ; fully as many, if not more, were opposed to separation ;
and the remainder, in numbers not nearly so great as the
other two classes, were neutral. Those opposed to separa-
tion contended that the British parliament was liberal and
broad-minded enough to listen to argument and were con-
fident that justice would soon be forthcoming.

It is not the purpose here to discuss the merits or short-
comings of either party in the great struggle that lost Britain
her fairest colonies and was the means of building up to the
north of these old colonies a dominion in all respects the
most important of her present possessions. One party, the
whigs, from the first were for separation. The other party,
the tories, who were, if anything, more active than the
whigs before the Revolution ‘in seeking to correct abuses,
believed that the best interests of the colonies would be
served by remaining a part of the Empire, and that, after
the peculiar crisis in political affairs in Britain had passed
away, Britain’s sense of justice would lead her to remove the
causes of dissatisfaction. Trusting in this faith and never
realizing that the dispute would have to be settled by a
resort to war, they were unprepared when the supreme
moment arrived. They were as reluctant to resort to force
to compel their opponents to accept their opinions as they
were to compel Britain to redress their grievances. Taken
unawares, the tories in nearly every section were disarmed,
imprisoned, and terrorized. Thus, at the beginning of the
struggle, the whigs gained an advantage that they never
lost. When armed resistance to authority was instituted
the whole situation was changed. The rebellion must be
crushed at any price. Their inactivity in the initial stages
compelled the tories against their will to sanction Britain’s
military programme and to see relief only in the success
of British arms.

When war broke out many of the persecuted loyalists
fled to Canada. Those able to bear arms enlisted as soldiers
and were formed into loyalist battalions to aid the British
cause. Refugees from the valleys of the Mohawk and the
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Hudson went to Niagara or to Chambly on the Richelieu.
The refugees at Niagara were formed into a corps of Rangers
commanded by Lieutenant-Colonel John Butler. Those
who came to Chambly and Montreal were formed into the
King’s Royal Regiment of New York, commanded by Sir
John Johnson. The courage and audacity of these two
corps in the border warfare of New York made them objects
of the most intense hatred of the whigs.

The unexpected success of the rebellious party blasted all
the hopes of the upholders of the authority of the crown.
All their efforts and suffering had been in wvain, but the
greatest blow of all, however, fell when, by the Peace of
Versailles, signed in 1783, it was found that Britain had
abandoned the loyalists to their fate. The active loyalists
could not remain in their old homes. Their estates were
confiscated and their families scattered ; in many cases this
had happened long before the struggle ended. Punishment
in the most humiliating forms, even the death penalty, was
imposed upon those who dared to return to their homes.
Emigration was all that was left to these unfortunate people.
Thousands went to England, some to the West Indies, and
a few to Florida, then a Spanish colony, where they soon
lost their identity. The larger portion, however, went
northward to Canada, Nova Scotia, and New Brunswick. In
these provinces liberal grants of land were made them. They
were the first actual settlers of that part of Quebec now
known as the Province of Ontario.

THE NIAGARA SETTLEMENT

The loyalist settlement at Niagara began a few years
before that along the St Lawrence, Lake Ontario, and the Bay
of Quinte; therefore it will occupy our attention first. The
fort at Niagara was on the east bank of the river at its mouth
and was in possession of the British until given up to the
United States by Jay’s Treaty of 1794, along with those of
Detroit, Mackinac, Oswegatchie and others. The evacua-
tion took place in 1796. These forts were held by the British
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after the Treaty of Paris, signed on September 3, 1783, because
the United States had not fulfilled their obligations regard-
ing the loyalists. Niagara and Detroit were centres of
British power and havens for distressed loyalists.

On September 13, 1779, General Haldimand, the governor-
in-chief of Canada, knowing the rich character of the soil
at Niagara, proposed to Lord George Germain that farmers
should be encouraged to settle on land near the fort and raise
produce to supply the garrison. By a treaty with the
Senecas concluded by Sir William Johnson in 1764 a tract
of land about fourteen miles long by four wide, comprising
land on both sides of the Niagara River, had been ceded to
the British. The Missisaugas claimed the land on the west
side of the river, and they confirmed the treaty made with
the Senecas. In 1778 log barracks were built on the west
bank, and it was here that it was proposed to form a settle-
ment. In 1780 Haldimand’s plan was approved by Lord
Germain. Haldimand conferred with Lieutenant-Colonel
John Butler, commander of the Rangers, who was at Quebec,
and gave instructions that, for the better accommodation
of His Majesty’s loyal subjects who had been driven from
their homes, land should be divided into lots and distributed
to refugees who were capable of cultivating the soil. If, after
peace should be restored, any of them desired to quit Niagara
and return to their old homes, they were to be at liberty to
do so. The settlers were to have the land rent free and to
sell the produce of it not required for their own consumption
to the commander-in-chief, and not to traders. They were
to have no claim to the lands, but if they left they were to
have the right to dispose of their stock and produce and they
would be paid for their improvements to the land. When
land was so plentiful this regulation appears rather severe.
Haldimand, however, was the firm friend of the loyalists,
and in very many cases he advanced money and granted
concessions to needy applicants without authority from the
home government.

In the summer of 1780 the clearing and breaking up of
the land had begun, so that winter wheat could be sown.
The wheat arrived too late, and Butler applied for sixty
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bushels of spring wheat and oats, twelve bushels of buck-
wheat and a barrel of Indian corn for spring planting. At
this time Butler reports that four or five families were
settled on the land and were building houses.

On May 20, 1781, Butler acknowledges the receipt of
the grain and asks for a forge which had been promised in
the preceding year, and for iron fit for ploughshares, axes,
and hoes. He is very sanguine of the success of the settle-
ment and says that it will be self-sustaining after one year.
When the land for settlement was thrown open, seven or
eight Rangers brought their families from the frontier near
the Hudson and asked to be discharged and to be granted
a year’s provisions. In the summer of 1782 Butler wrote
Haldimand that sixteen families, numbering sixty-eight per-
sons, had settled, and that they owned forty-nine horses,
forty-two cattle, thirty sheep, and one hundred and three
hogs. The settlers had come from the Susquehanna valley
in Pennsylvania and from Tryon County in New York.
In 1783 the settlers petitioned Lieutenant-Colonel Butler
for a more permanent tenure of their land. Under their
present tenure they were subject to the whim of the officer
commanding the fort and were liable to be turned off their
land at any time. They suggested paying a fixed rent for
a term of eight years.

If the loyalists had any hope of regaining their farms in
the old colonies, their hopes were destroyed when they learned
the nature of the provisional articles of peace and reconcilia-
tion agreed to between Great Britain and the United States.
It is true there was a clause in these articles for their benefit;
but they did not expect justice from their late opponents,
and the reports from their old homes indicated clearly that
they were correct in their judgments. Meetings were held
in various districts in the old colonies and resolutions were
passed ordering those who had returned to leave before
June 10, 1783 ; if they remained they, along with any others
who might return, were to be subjected to severe measures.
Deserters from the provincial corps were sent away when
they returned to their old homes, but those from the regulars
were allowed to stay. The purpose of this discrimination
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was probably to dissuade the loyalists from returning to
claim their property.

At the end of 1783 an official report shows that forty-six
families had settled in the vicinity of Niagara and had built
forty-four houses and twenty barns, cleared seven hundred
and thirteen acres and had one hundred and twenty-three
acres sown with winter wheat, and three hundred and forty-
two acres were ploughed ready for the spring sowing. The
settlement already formed at this place was a nucleus around
which soldiers from other corps, associated loyalists, and
discharged soldiers from the regular regiments began to
settle. The older settlement was of the greatest help to
their distressed brethren who arrived later.

The war had been virtually concluded by the end of the
year 1782, but the Treaty of Paris, as already stated, was not
signed until September 3, 1783, immediately after the signing
of the Treaty of Versailles. In direct violation of the fifth
and sixth clauses of the treaty several States of the Union
passed acts for the punishment of the loyalists and the con-
fiscation of their estates. As the result of these acts not only
pronounced loyalists, but moderate sympathizers, were driven
out of the country. Hundreds of non-combatants were
forced to go to the nearest place where British troops were
stationed. The numbers already at cantonments of pro-
vincial corps at Niagara, Chambly, Ile-aux-Noix, Sorel, and
Montreal were largely increased by these refugees, and the
British authorities in Canada had a difficult task to shelter,
clothe, and feed the numbers that arrived.

Persecuted by their enemies and seemingly abandoned
by the British government, theirs was a hard fate. Haldi-
mand, however, was equal to the supreme task before him.
During his long and brilliant career as a soldier and adminis-
trator, no act of this able man stands out so prominently, or
was ultimately to prove so valuable to the nation he served,
as the location of the loyalist corps and their friends on the
unoccupied land under his control.

Orders were received by Haldimand on November 24,
1783, to disband the provincials forthwith, but he deferred
action till December 24, and these corps remained at their

- —
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stations until the spring, when their members were located
at points advantageous for settlement. Butler's Rangers
were sent to Niagara, and Colonel de Peyster and Major
Ross, who were in command at the fort, were given instruc-
tions to receive them and to care for them until they were
established in new homes.

SETTLING OF THE LOYALISTS

The foremost loyalist in Canada was Sir John Johnson,
son and heir of Sir William Johnson. He occupies such a
prominent place in the history of the critical period during
and imimediately after the War of the Revolution that a short
sketch of his career is necessary to a proper understanding
of his activity as a soldier and as a friend of the refugee
loyalists and the Indians of the Six Nations.

On the death of his father on July 11, 1774, John Johnson
succeeded to the title and his immense estates on the Mohawk
River. The Six Nations, particularly the Mohawks, trans-
ferred to the son the implicit faith they had in the father,
and, as superintendent-general and inspector -general of
Indian Affairs, he rendered valuable services to the crown
in dealing with the red men. At the outbreak of the revolu-
tion Sir John Johnson was living on his estate surrounded
by loyal Palatine settlers and the newly arrived Scots High-
landers, principally of the clan Macdonell.

Philip Schuyler of Albany, who had at first been chosen
for the task of invading Canada, was through illness com-
pelled to relinquish his command to General Richard Mont-
gomery. He was, however, soon able to undertake work
attended with less risk than the capture of Quebec. With
four thousand troops from New England Schuyler was sent
to disarm the loyalists in the Mohawk valley and to exact
assurances of neutrality from Sir John Johnson and his
friends. Hostages from the Palatines and the Highlanders
were taken and sent to Connecticut. Sir John and his friends
gave up their arms and agreed not to leave the country if
their property were not touched. In violation of this agree-
ment the people were plundered and their stock was driven
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off. After being subjected to every annoyance during the
winter of 1775-76, Sir John was secretly informed by his
friends in Albany that Schuyler intended to release him from
his parole and take him prisoner. Hurriedly burying his
papers and trusting to a negro servant to secrete his plate,
he gathered about him two hundred of his loyal friends and
set out by an unfrequented route for Montreal, where he
arrived in the last week of June 1776, the day after the city,
recently evacuated by the rebel invaders, was entered by
the victorious British troops under Sir Guy Carleton. Sir
John now applied for leave to raise a battalion from among
his friends on the Mohawk. This privilege was granted on
July 7, and soon the battalion was complete and was called
the King’s Royal Regiment of New York. In 1780 a second
battalion was formed. During the progress of the war and
at its close many of the members of these corps fled from
their old homes, and with their families found their way over
the Lake Champlain and Richelieu River route to protection
under the flag of Britain.

Other loyalist corps, recruited in the old colonies and
after their disbandment settled in what is now the Province
of Ontario, are : the King's Rangers, commanded by Major
James Rogers ; the King's Loyal Americans, commanded by
Colonel Ebenezer Jessup; the Queen’s Loyal Rangers, com-
manded by Lieutenant-Colonel Peters; M¢Alpine’s Corps ;
and the first battalion of the 84th or Royal Highland Emi-
grants. A large number of this latter regiment settled in
the county of Glengarry and at various points along the St
Lawrence and Lake Ontario.

It has been said that it is more difficult to disband an
army than to recruit one. When disbanded troops have no
homes to which they may go, when they are encumbered
with their families, when they must be supplied with food
and clothing, and when it is proposed to place them on lands
yet covered with primeval forest, lands yet unknown as to
fertility or suitability for farming, the task becomes one so
formidable that the most resolute might shrink from attempt-
ing it. The duty of performing this great work fell to the
lot of General Haldimand and his secretary, Major Mathews.
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Amidst the clamour of factions and irritated and annoyed
by privilege-seekers, these officers, trained in all grades of
that strict and exacting school, the British army, undertook
this momentous task with a serenity and a cheerfulness
that was superior to every form of vexatious annoyance.
Duty was their watchword. It is an inspiration for one
to read in the voluminous correspondence of these men
how painstaking and careful they were in dealing with
the varied interests that had to be appeased in one form
or another.

First, much of the land had to be bought from the Indians.
No advantage was taken of these people. Every claim they
had to any part of the land on which it was proposed to place
the loyalists was settled to their satisfaction. Surveys had
to be made and a system of allotment of land had to be insti-
tuted so that the humblest private soldier would not feel that
he was slighted because of his rank. Several claimed special
privileges, but they were given clearly to understand that
no favours would be shown. If there were to be any pre-
ference, it would be given to the loyalists who served during
the war.

On May 26, 1783, the surveyor-general, Major Samuel
Holland, was given instructions to survey the land from the
last French seigniory to Cataraqui (Kingston) and from
there along the north shore of Lake Ontario to Niagara.
His deputy was John Collins. Other surveyors were McNiff
and Sutherland, who surveyed the townships along the
St Lawrence. Holland, Collins, and another surveyor,
Louis Kotte, were engaged for the work from Cataraqui
westward.

On September 19, 1783, Captain Justus Sherwood of the
King’s Loyal Americans, or Loyal Rangers, as they were
sometimes called, set out from Montreal to report upon the
land from the ‘ west end of Lake St Francis to the Bay Kenty.’
Accompanying Sherwood were Lieutenant J. Johns and two
men of the King’s Rangers, and Ensign A. Botham and seven
men of the Loyal Rangers. The work seems to have been
pretty thoroughly done for some distance back from the
river. Sherwood reports the land good from Lake St Francis
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to twelve miles above Oswegatchie (Prescott) and that twelve
townships six miles square could be laid out. He says: ‘ The
six lower townships would be the best of the twelve, indeed,
I think there cannot be better land in America.” The land
on both sides of the Bay of Quinte he reports as good, but
he does not speak so favourably of that portion from Cataraqui
to Gananoque.

The loyalists—both soldiers and associated loyalists—
who had arrived at the several forts were far from being a
mild-mannered and submissive people. They made a great
deal of trouble, particularly after the corps were disbanded.
Some objected strenuously to going west into the wilderness.
Some wanted to settle on land near Montreal, and others
wanted to go to the land along the St John River, where they
fancied the loyalists were receiving more favours than they
would receive in the western settlements. Some deserted
and went to their old homes, while others were released from
their corps and given permission to go after being severely
reprimanded. Major Mathews wrote to the officers who
had charge of the camps to wink at the desertion of the
loyalists, as the province was well rid of those who did not
remain out of choice.

On May 13, 1784, orders were issued to the officers of the
various corps to embark the loyalists under their charge and
to proceed by boat up the St Lawrence to the townships
allotted to them. The principal officers who had charge
of them were Colonel Stephen de Lancey, chief officer, under
whom were Captain Maurer, Captain Barnes, the officers
of the various corps—Sir John Johnson, Major Campbell,
Major Jessup, and Major Holland—Major Peter Van Alstine,
who had charge of a party not connected with any of the corps
mentioned, and Captain Michael Grass, head of a similar
contingent lately arrived by boat from New York. Along
with each party were sent tents, clothing, provisions, and
tools, principally those required in clearing the land and
erecting houses in preparation for the winter. It was no
light task to provide for the large number, and it is a marvel
that the arrangements were so perfect.

Sir John Johnson’s first battalion of the King’s Royal
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Regiment of New York, sometimes called Royal Greens, or
Royal Yorkers, were to occupy the townships from Charlotten-
burgh westward. Lancaster was considered too low and
wet for settlement ; therefore it was not settled at first. In
June the whole party landed in New Johnstown, now Corn-
wall, and after deciding which party would take certain
townships the land was drawn by lot; slips of paper with
the number of the lots on them were put in a hat and
each person drew from it his own. Exchanges were made to
accommodate friends who wished to settle near each other.

The first battalion of the Royal Greens was composed
principally of Scottish Highlanders and German Palatines.
Some of the Highlanders were Roman Catholics and some
Presbyterians. Some of the Palatines were Presbyterians
and some Lutherans. Those of the same religion asked to
be placed together, and Haldimand gave his consent, pro-
vided the regulations as to settlement were observed. It
was arranged that the Scottish Roman Catholics were to be
placed in township number 1, Charlottenburgh ; then, in order,
the Scottish Presbyterians, the German Presbyterians, the
German Lutherans, and the Anglicans. The townships settled
by this regiment were numbers 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5, now known
as Charlottenburgh, Cornwall, Osnabruck, Williamsburg, and
Matilda. Part of Jessup’s corps settled upon townships
numbers 6 and 7 and part of 8, now known as Edwards-
burgh, Augusta, and Elizabethtown.

In the autumn of 1783 a party of the loyalists from the
city of New York, principally artisans, arrived under the
leadership of Captain Michael Grass. They were assigned
township number 1 from Cataraqui (Kingston). Number 2
was settled by part of Jessup's corps and part of the 84th
Regiment. The third township from Cataraqui, Fredericks-
burg, was settled by Major Rogers’s corps and part of the
second battalion of the King's Royal Regiment. Number 4,
or Adolphustown, was settled by the remainder of the second
battalion of the King’s Royal Regiment and by Van Alstine’s
party of loyalists which had sailed from the port of New
York in seven vessels convoyed by the brig Hope of forty
guns. Van Alstine’s party left New York on September
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8, 1783, and arrived in Quebec on October 8. They passed
the winter at Sorel with Grass’'s party and other loyalists.
The fifth township, Marysburgh, was occupied by the soldiers
of the various regular regiments that were leaving Canada.
These soldiers had served for twenty-one years, or nearly
that time, and preferred to stay in Canada. Part of this
township was settled by a detachment of the Hessian troops
under Baron Reitzenstein.

In October the disbanded troops and loyalists settled
on the St Lawrence and west of Cataraqui were mustered.
The result was as follows :

East of Cataraqui West of Cataraqui

Township | Persons | Acres cleared | Township l Persons | Acres cleared

I 456 12 I 2205 1| 86%

2 517 101} 2 416 1463

3 Lo 30 % 580 no return

4 | 203 1013 4 240 66

5 177 56% 5 251 33

6 166 | 122 Hessians 48 7

7 1 238040 qay |

8 | _185 3% {

2007 | 587k 1755 | 339

There were 620 persons at Niagara, but there is no return
of the land cleared.

The settlers were mustered for the purpose of granting
rations. Governor Haldimand had received instructions from
the home government to reduce the supply of rations to the
loyalists, but he knew that the people were in need of help, and
took upon himself the responsibility of allowing a full ration.
Tools of all kinds, such as axes, grindstones, saws, nails,
hammers, augers, hoes, glass for windows, cooking utensils,
and many other necessaries were supplied at once. By the
above return it will be seen that the settlers had not been
idle. Houses of logs had been constructed and some fall
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wheat was sown on the newly cleared land. A number of
the loyalists had during the first year by great effort cleared
land early enough to plant potatoes. After the transporta-
tion of provisions, tools, and clothing was completed, bateaux
were provided for each township. The settlers were not
granted any live stock, but every assistance was given them
to bring in cattle from the old colonies. By the second year
several cattle, horses, and hogs were in the settlements. Fish
abounded in the lakes and rivers and game was plentiful, but
firearms were not granted. From the first, however, many
of the settlers had a flint-lock musket and a supply of
powder and bullets.

Saw-mills and flour-mills were established along streams
in all the districts, one mill often supplying three or four
townships. The first boards were split out of logs and
smoothed with a broad ax or sawed by hand with a whip-
saw. The wheat was ground in hand-mills and in many
cases pounded fine, by means of a large smooth stone, in a
mortar made by hollowing out the end of a short section of
a large maple tree.

LovarList Losses CLAIMS

In July 1783 the British parliament appointed a com-
mission of five members to classify the losses and services
of the loyalists. The board began work in London and all
claims had to be submitted in writing before March 25, 1784.
Many of the loyalists who were connected with the various
corps sent in their claims through their commanding officers.
It was seen, however, that to do justice the time for re-
porting losses would have to be extended and that repre-
sentatives of the commission would have to visit America.
Hence Colonel Thomas Dundas and Jeremy Pemberton came
to Canada. They began work at Halifax on November 17,
1785, and continued until 1788. Their final report was
handed in on May 15, 1789. Evidence was taken at Halifax,
St John, Quebec, and Montreal. Only a small percentage
of the loyalists from the St Lawrence and westward could
afford the time during the season of open navigation to go
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to Montreal, and the journey in winter was too long and
arduous, so that relatively few claims were presented. For
the 1401 claims heard in Canada $2,745,000 was paid, ranging
from $50 to $221,000, the latter sum being paid to Sir John
Johnson.

GRANTS TO LOYALISTS

The amount of land granted to the loyalists is set forth in
instructions to General Haldimand dated July 16, 1783 :

Whereas many of Our Loyal Subjects Inhabitants of
the Colonies and Provinces, now in the united States
of America, are desirous of retaining their Allegiance to
Us, and of living in our Dominions, and for this purpose
are disposed to take up and improve Lands in Our Pro-
vince of Quebec ; and We being desirous to encourage
our said Loyal Subjects in such their Intentions, and
to testify our approbation of their loyalty to Us, &
Obedience to our Government, by alloting Lands for
them in our said Province ; And whereas We are also
desirous of testifying our approbation of the Bravery
and Loyalty of our Forces serving in our said Province,
and who may be reduced there, by allowing a certain
quantity of Land to such of the Non-Commissioned
Officers and private Men of Our said Forces, who are
inclined to become settlers therein. It is Our Will and
pleasure, that immediately after you shall receive this
Our Instruction, you do direct our Surveyor General of
Lands for our said Province of Quebec, to admeasure &
lay out such a Quantity of Land as you with the advice
of our Council shall deem necessary & convenient for

" the Settlement of our said Loyal Subjects, the non-Com-
missioned Officers & private Men of our Forces which
may be reduced in our said Province, who shall be
desirous of becoming Settlers therein ; such Lands to be
divided into distinct Seigneuries or Fiefs, to extend from
two or four leagues in front, and from three to five
leagues in depth, if situated upon a Navigable River,
otherwise to be run square, or in such shape and in such
quantities as shall be convenient & practicable—and
in each Seigneurie a Glebe to be reserved and laid out
in the most convenient spot, to contain not less than
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300 nor more than 500 Acres; the propriety of which
Seigneuries or Fiefs shall be and remain vested in Us,
our Heirs and Successors, and you shall allot such parts
of the same as shall be applied for by any of our said
Loyal Subjects Non-Commissioned Officers & Private
Men of our Forces reduced as aforesaid, in the following
proportions ; that is to say

To every Master of a Family, One Hundred Acres, and
Fifty Acres for each person of which his Family shall
consist.

To every single Man Fifty Acres.

To every Non-Commissioned Officer of Our Forces
reduced in Quebec Two Hundred Acres.

To every private Man reduced as aforesaid One
Hundred Acres.

And for every Person in their Family Fifty Acres.

The said Lands to be held under Us Our Heirs &
Successors, Seigneurs of the Seigneurie or Fief in which
the same shall be situated, upon the same terms, acknow-
ledgements and services, as Lands are held in our said
Province under the respective Seigneurs holding and
possessing Seigneuries, or Fiefs therein ; and reserving to
Us our Heirs and Successors, from and after the expira-
tion of Ten years from the Admission of the respective
Tenants, a Quit Rent of one half penny P Acre.

Supplementary instructions, dated August 7, authorized
the governor-in-chief to allot to every field-officer one thou-
sand acres, to every captain seven hundred acres, and to
every subaltern, staff or warrant officer five hundred acres,
and he was advised to intersperse these allotments with those
of the non-commissioned officers and privates of their own
corps, with the object ‘ that the several settlements may be
thereby strengthened and united, and in case of attack be
defended by those who have been accustomed to bear arms
and serve together.” Members of the organization known as
the Associated Loyalists were placed on the same footing as
those of other corps. Applicants were required to take the
oaths of allegiance, supremacy, abjuration, and declaration
before receiving their certificates, and grants were to be made
within twelve months, providing that they actually settled
upon their lands.
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Instructions of August 23, 1786, to Lord Dorchester, who
succeeded Haldimand as governor-in-chief, regarding the
land grants are the same as those to Haldimand, but excep-
tion was made in the case of the officers and men of the 84th
Regiment, now reduced, who wished to settle on lands in
Canada, or Quebec, as it was then called. The cause of this
exception was to fulfil a promise to all who would enlist,
made in instructions to the governors of New York and
North Carolina on April 3, 1775. The amount granted was
as follows :

To Field-Officers } | ' . 5000 acres
,, Captains : ? b . 3000 ,,
., Subalterns . g ¢ 2 . 2000 ,,
,, Non-Commissioned Officers . 2 1 DopLi
,, Privates ; A . : | 56 Wi

On April 11, 1785, scarcely a year after settling on their
lands, the loyalists, along with Sir John Johnson, petitioned
the king as follows :

To the King’s Most Excellent Majesty.

The Petition of Sir John Johnston Baronet, and
others whose names are hereunto subscribed, on Behalf
of the Officers and Soldiers of the Provincial Troops
and Indian Department, who served under their Com-
mand during the late Rebellion ; and of the other
Loyalists, their Associates, who have taken refuge in
Canada.

Most humbly Sheweth,

That the Persons of the above Description, animated
by your Petitioners’ Example, having sacrificed their
Estates and Properties in support of Your Majesty’s
Laws and Government, did faithfully serve in Canada,
and on its Frontiers, till the Reduction of these Corps ;
when being still actuated by the same Principle of
Loyalty and Affection, they, to the number of several
Thousands, resolved to settle within Your Majesty’s
Government, on the Lands assigned them as a Reward
for their Services, and in pursuance of the Proclamation
of Your Majesty’s Commissioners in the year 1776 ;
and entered earnestly on the Improvement thereof, with
a Prospect of making a Provision for their Families, and
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thereby contributing greatly to the Advantage, Strength,
and Security of that Province, and to the Increase of
Your Majesty’s Revenues.

That the Tenure of Lands in Canada is such as to
subject them to the rigorous Rules, Homages and Reser-
vations, and Restrictions of the French Laws and
Customs, which are so different from the mild Tenures
to which they had ever been accustomed, and which
continue to be enjoyed by the rest of Your Majesty’s
subjects, has occasioned a general Discontent, and would
have induced many to decline accepting their Locations,
and to resolve on abandoning their Enterprize, but for
the Influence of your Petitioners, who had first led them
into the Service, and on whose Endeavours they relied
for obtaining, through Your Majesty’s Favour, the Grant
of such Terms and Tenures, and the Establishment of
the same Laws as they formerly enjoyed under the
auspices of Your Majesty’s Government. In full Con-
fidence of this happy Event they were prevailed upon
to persevere in their Settlements, on which they have
already, at some Expence, and much Labour, erected
Habitations, and cleared Part of the Lands allotted
to them.

For the Attainment of these Objects, so essential to
the Happiness of Your Majesty’s faithful Subjects, so
conducive to the Increase of these new Settlements, and
so salutary in their Consequences to the Public, we have,
upon mature Deliberation, formed a Plan, which with
the reasons in support of it, we humbly presume to
submit to Your Majesty’s Royal Consideration.

1st. It is proposed, that the County of Point Boudet,
on Lake St Francois, in the River St Lawrence, and
from thence Westward, shall be comprehended within
One District, distinct from the Province of Quebec,
under the Government of a Lieutenant Governor and
Council, to be appointed by Your Majesty, with the
necessary Powers of internal Regulation, but subordinate
to the Governor and Council of Quebec, in the same
manner as the Island of Cape Breton now is, to the
Government of Nova Scotia. This Territory will in-
clude all the Settlements made or intended to be made
by the disbanded Corps, and the other Loyalists, while
it leaves all French Canada and the French Seigneuries
as they were before.
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2dly. That this Territory shall be subdivided into
smaller Districts or Counties, Cataraqui being the
Metropolis, with Courts of Justice, to be established by
Your Majesty.

In support of such an Arrangement, we beg leave to
remark, that it will be productive of the most beneficial
Consequences, not only to the Settlers, but to the Nation
at large. Whilst this Territory remains a Part of the
Province of Quebec, and the Inhabitants amenable to
the Courts of Justice there and at Montreal, the Delay
and expence of an Attendance on those Courts, both
to Suitors and Witnesses, will be enormous, the distance
from Detroit to Montreal being not less than Six hundred
Miles, without any Road whatsoever, and the water
communication exceedingly tedious, precarious, and
during the Winter Season absolutely impassable : Crimes
will be committed with Impunity, from the difficulty
of Prosecutions ; and Civil Remedies in effect rendered
burthensome from the same causes.

The Inhabitants of this Territory, already amounting
to several Thousands, conceive with all Humility that
they have the strongest Grounds to hope for such an
exempt Jurisdiction as they ask for; They were born
British Subjects, and have ever been accustomed to the
Government and Laws of England. It was to restore
that Government, and to be restored to those Laws, for
which from Husbandmen they became Soldiers, animated
with the Hope, even in the most gloomy Aspect of Public
Affairs, that should they fail in their Attempts to re-
cover their former Habitations by a Restoration of Your
Majesty’s Government, they would still find a Resource
in some Parts of the British Dominions, where they
might enjoy the Blessings of British Laws and of the
British Government ; and they still possess the greatest
Confidence, that by Your Majesty’s Gracious Interposi-
tion they will be exempted from the Burthens of French
Tenures, which, however congenial they may be to Men
born and bred under them, would be in the highest
Degree exceptionable to Englishmen.

The Petitioners have the more Confidence in the
Success of their Application, from reflecting that they
do not ask for more than has already been granted to
their Fellow Sufferers in Nova Scotia, for less indeed
than is enjoyed by those who are settled in the Province
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of New Brunswick, and only to be in the same situation
with the Settlers in the Island of Cape Breton. A
distinction between men under the same circumstances
of Prescription, Confiscation, and Attainder, and who
have been invited into the Public Service, and to take
Part in the Royal Cause, by the same assurances of
Protection, and the same Gracious Offers of Rewards,
in the one case continuing to Settlers the Blessings of
the British Constitution, and in the other subjecting
them to the Hardships of French Tenures and French
Laws, they trust will not be permitted by a Gracious
Sovereign who is the Father of all His People.

In consideration of the vast extent of this Territory,
along an important and valuable Communication, which
is not only the Channel of the Fur Trade, but the Resi-
dence of those Nations of Indians who took part in
Support of the Royal Cause, the Security, growth and
extension of these Settlements, must evidently be an
object of the utmost Consequence, not only as it will
most essentially secure and promote that Trade, but
as it will preserve those Indians in their adherence to
Your Majesty.

The United States are duly impressed with this Idea,
and have already manifested a purpose of supplanting
us in the Friendship of the Indians; and unless they
are counteracted, the British Interest with those Nations
will very rapidly decline. We humbly presume that
effectually to counteract them nothing would be so
conducive as the Establishment of a liberal System of
Tenure, Law, and Government in this new Settlement ;
this would best contribute to the Growth and Increase
of it ; whilst it would stimulate the Adventurers them-
selves to the most vigorous Exertions, it would invite
and encourage Emigration to it; for as the present In-
habitants before the Rebellion principally resided in the
now United States, their extensive connections there,
from their Attachment to your Majesty, their ancient
Predilection in favour of the British Government, their
Dislike of the Republican Government they now live
under, as well as from their Family, and Personal
Attachments, would be strongly induced to remove to
this new Colony. Should Your Majesty graciously
vouchsafe Your Royal Protection to these Settlements,
we are confident that in every Competition for the
VOL. XVII (o]
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Favour of the Indians Your Majesty will have a decided
Advantage, not only from the Influence which many
of your Petitioners are known to have over them, but
because Numbers of the present Settlers have long been
in Habits of Friendship and mutunal good Offices with
them, sharing the same Dangers, and fighting in the
same Cause, and whose former Prepossession would
thus, by means of a familiar and constant Intercourse
with Your Majesty’s Faithful Subjects, be best pre-
served and rendered permanent.

Upon the whole, whether we consider the Relief and
Prosperity of the Settlers as Sufferers in the Cause of
their King and Country, for whom Your Majesty has
ever expressed so Benevolent a Disposition, or the
Advancement of the Settlement, as conducive to the
Benefit of the Nation, in either View, and much more
in both respects, do we conceive that the Plan now pro-
posed is such an one as will merit and obtain Your Royal
Attention and Patronage.

For our Part, we conceive ourselves bound by the
strongest Ties to use every Endeavour in our Power to
promote the Wishes of these People; It was by our
Example that numbers of them were induced to quit
their former Possessions, and to take up Arms, by which
they have been deprived of their Property, and Banished
from their Country ; and it was from their expectation
of the Success of our Representation to their Sovereign,
that they have entered upon the arduous undertaking
of forming Settlements in a wild and inhospitable
Country : Well knowing the Disposition of these People,
and the habits in which they have been bred, we think
it our Duty most respectfully to declare it to be our
opinion, that unless they can obtain the object they are
in pursuit of, they will be discouraged from carrying on
their present Enterprize, and prefer some other part of
Your Majesty’s Dominions, where they may enjoy the
Blessings of the British Constitution, but where perhaps
they would not be equally useful as they will be in their
present situation, should they receive the Protection
they solicit.

Your Petitioners, therefore, impelled by motives of
Humanity towards a Number of Distressed Families,
by a sense of Honor and Justice to a set of Deserving
Men, who placed their Confidence in them, and to
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whose Eventual Loss of Property and Reverse of
Fortune, they consider themselves in a great Degree
accessary, and at the same time by a Conviction of the
Public Utility of the Measure, most humbly implore
Your Majesty that the Blessings of the British Laws
and of the British Government, and an exemption from
the Tenures, may be extended to the aforesaid Settle-
ments.
112k April 178s. (Signed)
Guy JounsoN, Col. 6 Nations
& Superintendant of their
Affairs.

RoB® LEAKE, Major late 24
Batt® K.R. Regt New York.
Joun Muxro, Capt late 15t
Batt? K.R. Regt New York.

P. DALy, Capt late 18 Batt®
K.R. Regt New York.

Tro®* GUMMERSAL, Capt late
18§ Batt® K.R. Regt! New
York.

JouNBUTLER, Lt Colonel Com-
manding late Rangers.

EBEN JEssup, late Lt Colonel
Command®¢ King’s Loyal
Americans.

JaMmEs Gray, late Major K.R.
Regt New York.

Epw. Jessup, Major Commd#
late Corpsof Royal Rangers.

These settlers again showed their dissatisfaction through
their magistrates, who wrote to Sir John Johnson in December

1786 making several suggestions.

These suggestions were

embodied in another petition, which is as follows :
To His Excellency the Right Honorable Guy Lord

Dorchester Captain General and Governor in Chief of
the Colonies of Quebec, Nova Scotia, and New Brunswick,
and their dependencies, and Vice Admiral of the same.
General and Commander in Chief of all His Majesty’s
Forces in the said Colonies, and the Island of New-
foundland.

The petition of the Subscribers, residing in the new
settlement, in behalf of themselves and the Inhabitants
at large, in the respective Townships, from Point au
Baudet on Lake St Francis Westward, as far as Niagara.

Humbly sheweth,

That your petitioners impressed with the more lively
sentiments of gratitude, beg leave through the Channel
of your Lordship, to offer their sincere, and united
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tribute of thanks to their most gracious Sovereign for
the singular, and multiplied favors conferred on them ;
at the same time they presume that your Lordship
will with your wonted Goodness, interest yourself in
regard to some propositions they have to make which
with submission, they conceive are very essential to
promote the happiness of the People, and facilitate
the progress of the settlement; and they humbly
hope, that what your Lordship cannot with propriety
grant yourself, you will be so condescending as to
recommend to His Majesty, for His Royal approbation
and consent.

1st. It is the confirm’d opinion of your Petitioners
from the fullest conviction, that if the blessing of the
British Constitution was extended to this infant Settle-
ment, and their lands granted according to English
Tenures, such a change wou’d produce many happy
effects, among the rest to augment the happiness of the
People, to strengthen the bands as well as the Interest
of Government, to give a Spur to Industry, to popula-
tion and Commerce and damp the hopes, and the expec-
tations of their enemies ;—at the same time they must
confess, it is not without some degree of envy that they
reflect on privileges, and indulgences, granted to their
fellow Sufferers in Nova Scotia which they themselves
do not enjoy—especially when the same motives which
engaged them in the Honourable and Glorious cause of
defending the rights of their Sovereign, and the dignity
of the Nation, places them on the same footing, and
gives them equal pretensions, but notwithstanding they
rest satisfied in the hope that your Lordship’s represen-
tation of their situation, will induce his Majesty to inter-
pose his Royal favor in their behalf, to remove all cause
of Jealousy and crown the happiness of your Petitioners ;
the arrangement for this purpose so anxiously wished
for, and the arguments in support of it, are so well
described in a petition drawn up by Sir John Johnson
and others, in behalf of themselves and the Loyalists
at large in this Province (and presented to His Majesty
in Council the 11th April 1785) renders it unnecessary
to add anything further on the subject at present,
except to beg leave to refer your Lordship to the afore-
said Petition and to transmit you a Copy, which will
accompany this.
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2d. Your Petitioners pray for some assistance in
establishing the Church of England, and Scotland, in
this Infant Settlement, and that a Glebe of Four Hundred
Acres of Land in each Township, may be set apart for a
Clergyman.

3d. They pray for some assistance towards estab-
lishing a school in each district, viz. New Johnstown,
New Oswegatchie, Cataraqui and Niagara, for the
purpose of teaching English, Latin, Arithmetic and
Mathematics.

4th. They pray for a prohibition of Pot and pearl
Ash and Lumber from the State of Vermont, to prevent
a door being opened for an Illicit Trade from the United
States, which wou’d be a detriment to the Province in
general, to this Settlement in particular, and only bene-
ficial to a few interested Individuals—they also pray
for a Bounty to be laid on the above Articles, as well
as on Hemp, in order to stimulate their Industry, and
encourage their internal Trade.

sth. They pray that Government will be so generous
in addition to former Bounties, to grant them a loan
of three months’ provisions, consisting of the article of
Pork only,—to be paid by the Settlers in three Years,
under such restrictions and obligations as may be
thought most expedient to insure the punctual payment
of the same.

6th. They beg to inform your Lordship that a number
of the Inhabitants who have been in the service are so
unfortunate as not to have drawn any Clothing by
reason of their not being in the Province at the periods
when it was issued, and that others who cannot be put
in this class are yet notwithstanding on account of their
distress’d situation rendered objects deserving of such an
indulgence.

7th. They pray that some Plan may be adopted to
expedite the Business of running the division lines in
the respective Townships, to prevent the increase of an
gvil already experienced on account of that not being

one.

8th. They pray that a Post Road may be established
from Montreal to Cataraqui with Post Offices for
Letters & at New Johnstown, New Oswegatchie, and
Cataraqui.

gth. They pray that a passage may be opened from
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the head of the Bay of Quinty through Lake Huron for
the Benefit of the Indian Trade, a Channel which at the
same time that it is universally acknowledged to be
Superior to the Old holds out a prospect of the most
flattering advantages, not only to the Commerce of
this Province in general, but to this settlement in par-
ticular. It is also humbly requested that the shipping
may be allowed to Rendezvous at Cataraqui and the In-
habitants have the free use of the Lakes for whatever
craft they may chuse to build.

1oth. They pray that three places may be pitched
upon between Point au Baudet and Cataraqui for the
purpose of receiving Grain from the Settlers when they
have any to Spare, in consequence of your Lordship’s
generous proposal communicated to them thro’ the
Inspector of Loyalists.

11th. They pray your Lordship will be so kind as to
use your influence with the Commissioners appointed
to examine the Claims of the Loyalists, to induce them
to make a Journey to New Johnstown, New Oswegatchie,
and Cataraqui to investigate the Claims of the Loyalists
on this Communication, as the poverty of the Settlers
in General and the expence of an attendance at Quebec
or Montreal in the prosecution of their Claims, will
discourage them from the attempt, or oblige them totally
to relinquish them.

12th. They also pray that your Lordship will be so
good as to confirm to them the use of the Locks or
Canalls as hitherto granted by his Honor, Lieut. Governor
Hope, and that you will likewise please to put them on
an equal footing with the 84th Regt in Regard to the
proportion of Lands granted to that Corps ;—this is a
flattering object to your petitioners whose finances are
mostly exhausted in the expensive and Arduous task of
forming a Settlement in a New Country, and which on
that account as well as the justice of their pretensions
they hope will induce your Lordship to take this Matter
into consideration.

Upon the whole your Petitioners have the fullest con-
fidence that your Lordship will be so good as to pay
every attention to the several Articles contained in this
Petition that accord with Reason and Justice, and those
which may appear otherwise they conceive your Lord-
ship will kindly impute to a mistaken opinion, or want
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of proper information. And Your Petitioners as in
duty bound will ever Pray

(Signed)

PETER VAN ALSTINE 4th Township ALEX®R McDONELL Township No. 1
= GEORGE SINGLETON 3 do S. ANDERSON do No.z2
& ARcCHP McDONALD § do  JoHN McDONELL do No. 32
¢ JoHN EVERITT I do RICHP DUNCAN do No.4 g
£ HENRY SIMMONS 2 do  JoHN MUNRO do  No.s5&
&) Wi FRASER do No. 60O
5 JusTUS SHERWOOD s
= JaMES CAMPBELL } do No.74
o JOHN JONES a9
E NEW JOHNSTOWN, THOS SHERWOOD d N 85‘_,

April 15tk 1787. PETER FRUL 9 e

If this petition be compared with the Constitutional Act
of 1791, it will be seen that the settlers lately arrived from
the old colonies got all they asked for. It is also a proof
that the loyalists were not subservient subjects depending
for their privileges upon the will of their sovereign. They
believed in agitation by constitutional methods, such as by
petition. The Constitutional Act, as an answer to their
petition, fortified them in their belief. Because of their
faith in petitioning their sovereign instead of hastily flying
to arms to redress grievances, they were forced to defend a
sovereign whose acts they did not endorse. Their children,
holding a like faith, in the thirties of last century had to take
up arms to save Canada for the British Empire, happily
with more success than their fathers in the old colonies.

On July 24, 1788, it was proclaimed by Lord Dorchester,
by the advice and consent of the council, that that part of
Quebec west of the eastern boundary of the township of
Lancaster be divided into four districts called Lunenburg,
Mecklenburg, Nassau, and Hesse. The selection of these
names and also of the names of the townships in which the
loyalists first settled shows their affection and devotion to
their sovereign. Many townships were named after his
children, and the districts after principalities in Hanover.

Land boards and courts were organized in each district.
The land boards proceeded to grant lands to loyalists, who
continued to enter the province until nearly the end of the
century. Those who came in later were called ‘ late loyalists ’
and were subjected to some annoyance unless they came
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from some of the eastern provinces. By instructions of Lord
Dorchester on June 2, 1787, these boards were authorized
to grant two hundred acres of land to all who had improved
their former grants and two hundred acres to all new appli-
cants who could establish their claims as loyalists.

On November 9, 1789, at the council of the Province of
Quebec,

His Lordship intimated to the Council, that it re-
mained a question, upon the late Regulation for the
disposition of the Waste Lands of the Crown, whether
the Boards constituted for that purpose were authorized
to make Locations to the Sons of Loyalists, on their
coming to full Age, and that it was his wish to put a mark
of Honor upon the families who had adhered to the Unity
of the Empire, and joined the Royal Standard in America
before the Treaty of Separation in the year 1783.

The Council concurring with his Lordship, it is accord-
ingly ordered :

That the several Land Boards take course for preserv-
ing a Registry of the names of all persons falling under
the description aforementioned to the end that their
posterity may be discriminated from future settlers, in
the Parish Registers and Rolls of the Militia of their
respective Districts, and other Public Remembrances of
the Province as proper objects, by their persevering in
the Fidelity and Conduct so honourable to their ancestors,
for distinguished Benefits and Privileges.

And it is also ordered, that the said Land Boards may
in every such case provide not only for the Sons of
those Loyalists, as they arrive to full age, but for their
Daughters also of that age, or on their Marriage, assign-
ing to each a Lot of Two Hundred Acres, more or less,
provided nevertheless that they respectively comply
with the general Regulations, and that it shall satis-
factorily appear that there has been no default in the
due Cultivation and Improvement of the Lands already
assigned to the head of the family of which they are
members.

(Signed) J. WirrLiams, C.C.

Through this proclamation many names were added to
the United Empire Loyalist list. Lieutenant - Governor
Simcoe was very anxious to increase the population of Upper
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Canada, therefore, on April 6, 1796, he issued a proclama-
tion containing the following paragraph :

Whereas it appears by the minutes of the Council
of the late Province of Quebec, dated Monday the gth
day of November, 1789, to have been the desire of His
Excellency, Lord Dorchester, the Governor General,
to put a mark of honour upon the families who adhered
to the Unity of the Empire and joined the Royal Standard
in America, before the Treaty of Separation in the year
1783, and for that purpose it was then ordered by His
Excellency in Council that the several Land Boards take
course in preserving a registry of the names of all persons
falling under the description aforementioned, to the
end that their posterity might be discriminated from
future settlers in the parish registers and rolls of the
Militia of their respective districts and other public
remembrances of the Province, as proper objects, by
their persevering in the fidelity and conduct so honour-
able to their ancestors, for distinguished benefits and
privileges. But as such registry has not been generally
made, and as it is still necessary to ascertain the persons
and families who may have distinguished themselves
as abovementioned, &c., do hereby direct all persons
claiming to be confirmed by deed under seal of the Pro-
vince of their several possessions, who adhered to the
Unity of the Empire and joined the Royal Standard in
America, before the Treaty of Separation in the year
1783, to ascertain the same upon oath before Magis-
trates in the Michaelmas Quarter Sessions assembled,
now next ensuing the date of this Proclamation, that if
they neglect to ascertain according to the mode set forth
their claims to receive deeds without fee, they will not
be considered as entitled, in this respect, to the benefit
of having adhered.

Under this proclamation many names continued to be
added to the United Empire Loyalist list? even as late as 1824.

! The most important list of United Empire Loyalists is that published in
Toronto, in 1885, in The Centennial of the Settlement of Upper Canada by the United
Empire Loyalists, 1784-1884. 1t contains 5085 names arranged in alphabetical
order. It gives the residence, corps and other information, but the copying and
proof-reading has been badly done, the long ‘s’ where ‘ ss’ occurs in a name
frequently being written ‘p.” A much better list could now be prepared if all
the original sources were carefully compared.
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The land boards granted lands to many claimants, but the
boards were occasionally imposed upon, and several names
were expunged and others suspended. Some of these were
restored.

INDIAN IMMIGRATION

The Six Nations, or, as commonly called, the Iroquois,
remained loyal adherents of Great Britain throughout the
War of the Revolution. They took this stand chiefly through
the influence of Sir John Johnson and his brothers-in-law,
Daniel Claus and Guy Johnson. The most prominent chief
of the Six Nations and the greatest Indian of his time was
Joseph Brant (Thayendanegea), a pure-bred Mohawk who
had received a good English education and was in every way
a capable leader of his people and a person not inferior to any
of the leaders of whites, either on the field of battle or in the
council-chamber. He was held in high esteem by Haldi-
mand, and until the day of his death implicit confidence was
placed in him by the Indians and the English alike. When
provision was being made to place the active loyalists on
lands in what is now Ontario, Brant made application for a
tract of land that his people might continue to live under
the protection of the flag for which they had shown such a
strong attachment and had sacrificed so much. In 1784
some of the Mohawks, under the chief John Deserontya,
had settled along the Bay of Quinte, where they were granted
lands, which their descendants still occupy.

Many of the Mohawks and some others of the Six Nations
were living at Niagara at the close of the war and, like the
loyalists, were not allowed to go back to their old homes on
the Mohawk River in New York State. On Brant’s applica-
tion General Haldimand, on March 23, 1784, gave directions
for the purchase of lands from the Missisaugas of the tract
between the three lakes, Ontario, Erie, and Huron. Out of
this purchase a tract six miles wide on each side of the Ouse
or Grand River from its mouth to its source was to be re-
served for the Mohawks and such other of the Six Nations
as wished to join them, the rest of the purchase to be reserved
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for loyalists. This grant was authorized by General Haldi-
mand on October 25, 1784.

IMMIGRATION IN THE EARLY YEARS OF UrPER CANADA

When the Province of Quebec was divided by the Con-
stitutional Act of 1791 into Upper Canada and Lower Canada
many persons continued to come into the upper province from
the United States. The various land boards tried to exercise
a due discrimination in allotting lands. Only persons of
good character and undoubted loyalty were given grants
after taking the oath of allegiance. When the first lieutenant-
governor, Colonel John Graves Simcoe, assumed office his
desire was to people Upper Canada with a loyal population.
He was confident that thousands then living in the United
States would rather live under the British flag than under
the Stars and Stripes ; consequently restrictions were relaxed
and free grants were given very promiscuously, the taking
of the oath of allegiance being the only test. Simcoe was
aided in this work by the British consuls at Philadelphia and
other places. The result was a great influx of settlers from
the United States, even from as far south as the Carolinas.
The lieutenant-governor had set his mind on building up
a powerful British colony in the territory that was left to
Britain after the peace of 1783. Shortly after Simcoe came
to Upper Canada war between the mother country and France
broke out, and this hindered immigration from the homeland.
An active immigration policy was instituted to overcome
the loss of population from Great Britain. Agents were dis-
patched to the various States to advertise the advantages
of Upper Canada. This, coupled with dissatisfaction with
the government in several of the States, caused many to
seek new homes under the British flag. Simcoe carefully
supervised the class of persons admitted to Upper Canada,
but during the administratorship of Peter Russell lands
were granted to all applicants. Major-General Hunter, the

! For the history of the relationship of the Six Nations Indians with the
British and their settlement in Canada, see ‘ Indian Affairs, 1763-1841,” in section
11 of this work.
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latter’s successor, said that Russell was so easily satisfied
that he ‘ would have granted lands to the devil and all his
family as good loyalists providing they were able to pay
the fees.’

In 1793 Simcoe had to deviate somewhat from his original
policy of granting only two hundred acres to any one person.
To encourage the chief men of the province to make an
effort to bring in settlers, entire townships were granted to
individuals or associations. The township of Haldimand
was granted to Abel Spencer and Hazleton Spencer; the
township of Murray to Jacob Watson, Stephen Graham,
John Barker, and Ebenezer Cooley ; the township of Hope to
Jonathan Walton, Abraham Walton, and Elias Smith ; the
township of Hamilton to Marshall Jones and others; the
township of Bristol to Andrew Price, Samuel Jarvis, and
others ; the township of Cramahe to Silas Hodges and others ;
and the township of Clarke to Jasper Murdoch.

When Simcoe assumed the lieutenant-governorship he
wished to have a loyal corps to enforce his authority and
to protect his person. A battalion of about four hundred
and fifty officers and men was formed in England for
this purpose. It was called the Queen’s Rangers, after the
corps Simcoe commanded during the Revolutionary War.
Many men and officers of the old corps were in the new
corps. This corps performed a variety of duties, such as
cutting roads and clearing land for the site of Toronto, the
projected seat of the government. In 1805 the Queen’s
Rangers was disbanded and all its members settled in Upper
Canada.

The Rev. Samuel Peters sent from London, England,
fifty-one families consisting of loyalists and others. These
immigrants settled in the township of Pittsburgh and
adjacent to Kingston.

Many of the settlers on Yonge Street came from the
Northern States and held in contempt the officers of the
province, both civil and military. They brought in with
them their own school-teachers, and in their schools used
American books that ridiculed British institutions and
lauded the institutions of the United States. Indeed, this
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state of affairs existed in some parts of the province until
the middle of the nineteenth century.

Many settlers avowing republican principles settled along
Lake Erie west of Long Point, as well as in the district about
Newcastle along Lake Ontario. These people also brought
with them American teachers and American school-books.
Itinerant Methodist preachers, who were soon active among
them, propagated political doctrines intended to show the
superiority of the republican form of government over the
monarchical form. The lieutenant-governor and the loyal-
ists were cognizant of this, but were powerless to stop it.
Had the government of the province been in less vigorous
hands than those of the United Empire Loyalists, whose love
for British connection was only exceeded by their hatred of
the United States, it would have been hard to predict the
outcome. Brock believed that these Americans were a
menace to the province, and events proved that he was not
in error. Hull’'s invasion of Upper Canada from Detroit
was the signal for an uprising in the London district of a
large party under Simon Watson, a surveyor, which raided
the country without opposition as far as the township of
Westminster. The capture of Detroit and the victory of
Queenston Heights put a stop to active demonstration in
favour of the United States. Hundreds of open sympathizers
with the enemy left the country, and others who were less
pronounced in their attitude deemed it wise to remain
neutral and respectful to the government. But this hatred
of British principles took a long time to die out. With
scarcely an exception these same districts—about London
and the northern part of the county of York—were the
recruiting grounds of the participants in the rebellion under
Mackenzie in 1837.

The War of 1812 was in a sense a blessing to Upper
Canada. It put a stop to the reckless granting of land to
persons holding republican views, and caused the authorities
to direct their efforts to secure settlers from England, Scot-
land, and Ireland, upon whom no suspicion of disloyalty
could rest.
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THE SETTLEMENT OF THE SOCIETY OF FRIENDS
OR (QQUAKERS

The Quakers who settled in Upper Canada came from
Pennsylvania and New Jersey. They were non-combatants
during the War of the Revolution and had not suffered perse-
cution like the active loyalists. After the war, however,
law and order were relaxed and taxes were oppressive. These
people became dissatisfied and longed for the old order of
government, and sought it in Canada. They settled princi-
pally in the township of Whitchurch in the county of York.
The Quakers continued to come to the province for more
than twenty years after its formation. The later immi-
grants came from Dutchess County in the State of New
York. These settled in Prince Edward County, the town-
ship of Norwich in the London district, and in other town-
ships in the county of York.

One of the most striking personages connected with the
Quakers was David Willson, who located in East Gwillim-
bury in the county of York. This man was the son of John
Willson, who emigrated to America from Carrickfergus in
the county of Antrim, Ireland, in 1770. John Willson pro-
ceeded up the Hudson to Dutchess County, where David
was born. In 1801 David married and came to Canada and
settled among the Quakers on Yonge Street. Being of a
religious turn of mind he associated himself with the Quakers,
but he advocated opinions not in accordance with the
orthodox views of that sect, and he was expelled from the
society. He, with a few other families, established the
Church of the Children of Peace. At first these people
worshipped in private houses and in the schoolhouse, and
later in a building, erected for the purpose, called ‘ The Old
Meeting-house.” Their numbers increased, and between
1825 and 1830 they built in the village of Sharon an edifice
called ¢ The Temple,” the ruins of which may yet be seen.
The principal point of difference between them and the
Quakers was the introduction of music in their services.
They practised this art to such purpose that at one time the
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community had the finest band in the province. Some
members of the sect joined Mackenzie in his march on
Toronto, but for the most part they were steadfast loyalists.
Not a few of those who espoused the cause of the rebels
suffered imprisonment, among them being Willson's two
sons. Dissensions arose from time to time, through politics,
and after the death of the founder in 1866 the members
joined other denominations. Scarcely a single adherent of the
Church of the Children of Peace is now to be found in Ontario.

THE SETTLEMENT OF THE MENNONITES AND TUNKERS

Shortly after the War of the Revolution had ended, the
Mennonites and Tunkers, chiefly of Dutch and German
origin from Pennsylvania and New Jersey, came to Canada
and settled in the Niagara district along Black Creek and
Twenty Mile Creek. A little later another band migrated
to the county of York, settling chiefly in the rear of Markham
township and the south of Whitchurch township. Their
descendants still live there and are among the most efficient
farmers of the county.

By far the largest settlement of Mennonites in Upper
Canada was in what is now the county of Waterloo. In
1799 Joseph Schorg, or Sherk as he came to be called, and
Samuel Betzner came from Franklin County, Pennsylvania,
to Canada. Sherk stayed during the winter near Niagara
Falls, while Betzner went on to the vicinity of Ancaster.
Seeing no desirable place for settlement in these districts,
they pushed on about thirty miles and located on the Grand
River in the county of Waterloo. In the spring they moved
their families to their new home. They bought their farms
from Richard Beasley, who, along with James Wilson and
John B. Rosseau, had purchased 94,012 acres from Joseph
Brant. By the end of the year 1802 several families had
settled on this land, but they accidentally discovered that
the territory purchased from Brant was mortgaged for
$20,000. This put a stop to immigration to this district
for a time, and Beasley was unable to dispose of any more
of his land. He therefore proposed that the Mennonites
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should form a company and buy the whole tract. The
settlers met in January 1804 and decided to send Joseph
Sherk and Samuel Bricker to their friends in Franklin County,
Pennsylvania, to make an effort to raise the money to lift
the mortgage. They failed in both Franklin and Cumber-
land Counties, and Sherk returned to Canada in despair.
Bricker proceeded to Lancaster County, and a meeting of
his co-religionists was held at the house of John Eby. Strong
companies were being formed to buy land in Maryland and
Virginia for the poorer members of the sect, and the project
advanced by Bricker to buy land in Canada, ‘the out-of-
the-world country,” and ruled by the ‘Crown,” was not
favourably received until ‘ Old Hannes ' Eby arose and said
they should not look upon the matter in the light of a specu-
lation, but as a Christian duty to help their brethren in
distress, and, if it yielded them no pecuniary profit, it would
be doing their duty, an act the Lord might in His own good
time bless in a way none of them thought of. Any one who
now views the many happy and prosperous homes of the
descendants of these Germans in Waterloo and surrounding
counties must conclude that the words of Hannes Eby were
prophetic. A joint stock company was organized. The
stock consisted of eight shares, one share being the maximum
and one-eighth share the minimum any stockholder could
possess. Daniel Erb was appointed Bricker’s assistant, and
with $20,000, all in silver dollars in a strong box, these two
men travelled in a light buggy to Canada. By the help of
the Hon. William Dickson the affair was adjusted, and
Richard Beasley conveyed to Daniel Erb and Jacob Erb as
trustees 60,000 acres of land for $20,000 Canadian currency.
The tract was surveyed by Augustus Jones into lots of 448
acres each, and a map of the township of Waterloo was sent
to the stockholders in Pennsylvania. Each stockholder
drew his land by lot. Immigration now set in, and the glow-
ing accounts brought back by those who visited the new
settlement induced numbers to emigrate to Upper Canada.
Live stock was driven all the way from Pennsylvania, thirty
days being taken to make the trip. Until the year 1835
families came into the township, and soon land was taken
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up in the adjacent townships, some of the settlers coming
direct from Germany.

About 1816 Absalom Shade from Pennsylvania was
appointed agent for the Hon. William Dickson of Niagara,
who owned the township of North Dumfries. The first
settlers were Scots from New York State, who were after-
wards joined by others who came direct from Scotland.
Many Germans also took up land in this township.

The township of Wilmot was settled by German noncon-
formists—Tunkers—holding a doctrine similar to the Men-
nonites, but differing from the latter in dress and cut of hair
and beard. They came originally from Amsterdam, in 1822,
to New Orleans and travelled northward to Lancaster County,
Pennsylvania, under the guidance of their leader, Christian
Noffziger. Here Nofiziger was advised to continue his
journey to Canada, where he arrived in August 1822, and
carefully examined Wilmot township and found it suitable
for settlement. Noffziger then went to York to interview
the lieutenant-governor, Sir Peregrine Maitland, with a view
to securing this tract for his fellow-countrymen in the father-
land who proposed emigrating. The lieutenant-governor
generously offered to give each family fifty acres free, with
the privilege of purchasing more at a low rate. Noffziger
then went to Europe and interviewed the British authorities
to make sure that the immigration was desirable. He was
assured that the lieutenant-governor’'s promise would be
carried out to the letter. As a result of Noffziger’s work a
number of German immigrants arrived in Upper Canada in
1824 and 1826. These were soon followed by others from
Bavaria, Alsace, and other parts of Germany. The settle-
ments were extended to other neighbouring townships in
the county of Perth, where they soon became prosperous.
The descendants of these people have extended greatly
beyond the original settlements. The large German popula-
tion of the western peninsula had its beginning when Sherk
and Betzner plunged into the wilderness of Waterloo county
in 1800, and there formed a nucleus around which their
countrymen gathered from their old homes in the United
States and from the German states of Europe.

VOL. XVII D
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THE MARKHAM SETTLEMENT

Shortly after the separation from Britain the different
States of the American Union made strenuous efforts to
direct the tide of immigration to their shores. They suc-
ceeded in a marked degree in securing settlers from England,
Scotland, Ireland, and Germany. Patents for lands were
granted to favoured individuals, who proceeded to let the
land to tenants secured by them in Europe. This ‘ patroon’
system, which prevailed in the State of New York, fell into
disfavour when settlers found that they could own their lands
outright in Upper Canada by paying a small fee and doing
settlement duty.

In 1794 William Berczy brought out from Hamburg a
large number of German Protestants to locate on the Pulteney
domain in New York State. He soon learned of the easy
terms granted to settlers in Upper Canada, and journeyed
to York to investigate the situation. He was favourably
impressed and made application for land, and was granted
64,000 acres in the township of Markham. The whole
country was then a wilderness. The nearest place of any
size was Niagara. York had been marked out only in the
preceding summer ; and Yonge Street had been opened
northward for but a short distance. Berczy, however, was
resourceful and very energetic, and under his guidance sixty-
four families made their way across the Niagara River and
along the lake shore to York. They cut a wagon road from
York north to ‘the southern border of the township of Mark-
ham. These immigrants were prepared for wilderness travel.
Their wagons were fitted with boxes made watertight, which
they could use as boats in an emergency. In these they
occasionally rowed across small streams with quite a large
load of supplies and settlers’ effects. They took up their
farms along the banks of the Rouge, a river flowing into
Lake Ontario about twenty miles east of York. For many
years the route by this river and the lake was the easiest
method of getting to York. Berczy built saw and grist
mills on the river, and in a few years the settlement was a
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thriving one. From the beginning of the nineteenth century
this township has been looked upon as one of the wealthiest
in the whole province.

A great deal of money was expended by Berczy in getting
the settlement started, but the government considered that
not enough settlers had been brought in to warrant a grant
of the whole 64,000 acres, consequently that part not used
was thrown open for settlement. Berczy became involved
financially. According to his own statement he had spent
430,000 in locating the settlers under his charge, and he had
no means by which he could recoup himself. He left the
settlement in disgust and took up his residence in Montreal.
He considered that he had not been fairly dealt with, and for
several years urged his claims, in numerous letters, on the
government.! Unable to get justice, he sold his mills in
1805 to Captain Nolan of the 7oth Regiment, then stationed
at York. Berczy returned to the United States, and died
in New York in 1813.

In October 1818 Berczy’s son made application for a
grant of land, as heir of his father, and sought an adjust-
ment of the claim his father had against the government.
The land council considered the whole question and ruled
that the son under the circumstances was entitled to 2400
acres of land. Sir Peregrine Maitland, in a dispatch to Lord
Bathurst of March 1, 1819, requested that this grant might
be confirmed by the Prince Regent.

Undoubtedly Berczy was harshly dealt with. The in-
justice was occasioned by a misunderstanding, and Maitland
had the rare faculty of distinguishing between the worthy and
the unworthy in just such cases as this. But the grant to the
son was a tardy reward for the sacrifices of the father.

THE SETTLEMENT OF THE EMIGRES

During the progress of the French Revolution and the
Reign of Terror thousands of the supporters of the Bourbons
left France and went to England. Many of these people

! This correspondence is contained in two large volumes now in the possession
of the Dominion Archives, Ottawa.
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were a charge upon public and private charity. To the
credit of England it can be said that no homeless exile ever
appealed to her in vain. It is estimated that by 1806 over
$9,000,000 had been expended on these exiles.

The clergy of France were particular objects of the hatred
of the revolutionists, and the Bishop of Quebec asked leave
of the British government to bring many of the exiled priests
to Canada, where they were much needed. This request
suggested to the government the idea of sending the émigrés
to Canada as colonists. Consequently in 1792 three clergy-
men and a naval officer went to Canada. They were well
received by Bishop Hubert and by Lieutenant-Governor
Simcoe. A township was set apart for them near the head
of Lake Ontario. Just when all arrangements had been
perfected, the Bourbon party gained new life and the republic
appeared to be near its end. The exiles hoped to return, and
England being nearer home than Canada, the idea of becoming
colonists or ministering to their fellow-countrymen in Canada
was abandoned. The order setting apart a township for
them in Upper Canada was rescinded. From time to time
several of the French refugees addressed letters to the British
government asking to be given lands in Canada and aid to
establish themselves there. To these appeals no attention
was paid.

In 1797, however, a memorial was presented to the British
government outlining a plan by which a French colony could
be sent to Canada. The plan was drawn up by Comte de
Puisaye, and its provisions were convincing enough to enlist
the active aid of the government.

Briefly, de Puisaye’s plan was to use some of the fund
that was being expended for the refugees in England for
establishing them in Canada. In this way he expected that
the recipients would soon be self-supporting and a source
of strength to the British Empire. Land was to be allotted
to them and they were to be allowed their expenses for three
years, which included food, clothing, farm implements, and
seed-grain. Every paragraph of the memorial was carefully
worded and for the purpose of showing the government how
it was to gain at every point by following the plan outlined.
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First, to ensure enough colonists, all those refusing to go to
Canada were to have no claim on the bounty of the British
government. The expense of the passage was to be a first
tax on the land. Land was to be cleared and buildings con-
structed by a regiment of soldiers, whose pay should be a
charge on the military establishment of Canada. The officers
should be émigrés under a colonel who should be head of the
colony under the governor. Not more than three hundred
or four hundred should be allowed to go the first year.

The proposer of this scheme was no ordinary man, and
in modern times could have maintained his fortune un-
impaired by becoming a promoter. His career had been an
eventful one and full of action. Born of noble family in the
province of Perche in 1754, he was destined for the church,
but the profession of arms was too alluring, and at eighteen
he entered the regiment of Conti as lieutenant. Later he
purchased the colonelcy of the Hundred Swiss, a part of the
household troops of the king. In the States-General of 1789
he represented his native province of Perche. He voted
with the reformers who wished for a constitutional monarchy.
When the new constitution was completed he retired to his
estate and was placed at the head of the National Guards of
the district of Evreux. The Jacobin party gaining the upper
hand, de Puisaye raised an army in Normandy to ensure to the
king power to conduct the government constitutionally. On
July 13, 1793, the Norman army was routed and his chiteau
and estate pillaged, and he was forced to fly to Brittany with a
price upon his head. By pretending to be of royal blood he
completely won the Breton peasants. By 1794 he had or-
ganized an army in Brittany and was ready to strike a blow for
the Bourbons that would give them control of Western France.
To make success sure he resolved to go personally to England
to seek aid for his enterprise. His mission was successful,
and it was proposed that a descent upon Brittany should be
made by a force of British troops and émigrés under Lord
Moira, which in conjunction with the army of Brittany would
sweep the republicans from the country. In de Puisaye’s
absence, however, the Breton leaders signed a treaty with
the republic, and the work of years was lost.
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In no way daunted, de Puisaye sent an insurgent leader,
de Saint-Tronc, to organize anew while he devoted himself
to holding the aid of the British. It was arranged that
Admiral Warren was to transport an army to Quiberon Bay.
Contrary winds delayed the transports and, after landing,
a divided command gave time to the republican leaders to
close round the invaders and destroy them. Six thousand
surrendered and 690 of these, all émigrés, were executed.
De Puisaye escaped to the British vessels, but landed again
in Brittany, and never ceased to work for the Bourbon cause
until all was hopelessly lost by the western provinces laying
down their arms. De Puisaye was never included in the
pacification. He was advised to look after his personal
safety, but this he refused to do until he found the cause
hopeless and himself repudiated by the agents of the king.
Then he went to London and resigned his commission as
lieutenant-general in the Bourbon army. His restless dis-
position and untiring activity must have something upon
which to work. It was at this time that his plan to trans-
port émigrés to Canada took shape.

In July 1798 a small party of forty-four was got together
and embarked at Portsmouth on the government packet
Betsy bound for Quebec, which city they reached on Octo-
ber 7. They took a smaller vessel to Montreal, where they
were looked after by the assistant commissary-general for a few
days until bateaux could be got ready at Lachine to convey
them to Kingston. Here they arrived on October 29 and
were housed and given supplies from the government stores.
It was proposed that de Puisaye, de Saint-Tronc, and Mar-
chand, de Puisaye’s servant, were to go on to York to prepare
for the reception of the emigrants there, as it was near this
place that they were to be allotted lands.

The personnel of the émigrés differed vastly from that of
an ordinary body of emigrants, and a brief description of a
few of the most distinguished should be of interest. Among
the company were four that fought at Quiberon: de Saint-
Tronc, Comte de Chalus, the Marquis de Sainte-Aulaire, and
Quetton St George.

The most distinguished by birth, family, and education
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was de Beaupoil, the Marquis de Sainte-Aulaire. He had
staked everything for the Bourbon cause, but had to leave
the country. In England he kept in touch with French
affairs and was of some material use to Britain in warning
her of French designs on India. The marquise and their
son accompanied the marquis, besides a cousin, Gui de
Beaupoil, who had been a page at the court of Marie
Antoinette. The marquis was to be military head of the
colony ; but a few weeks at Kingston damped his ardour
for pioneer life in Upper Canada, and he sought to return
to England. By the aid of the Hon. Richard Cartwright,
the leading merchant of Kingston, passports for the marquis
and his family and Coster de St Victor were made out and
they were sent to Montreal. The marquis, Gui de Beaupoil,
and St Victor in the fall of 1799 took passage for England.
The marquise stayed behind with her son and later joined
them in England. The marquis took service with Russia
in 1806 and fought against France. In 1817 he returned to
.his native country and was made a field-marshal the next
year. St Victor went to Paris, plotted against Napoleon,
was suspected, and fled to England. Returning, he entered
into plots with Pichegru and others, was arrested, tried and
condemned, and guillotined on June 25, 1804.

The Comte de Chalus and his brother, Vicomte de Chalus,
were Bourbon enthusiasts from Maine. They received
grants of land, but sold them and returned home. De Saint-
Tronc and Marzeul, along with many others, after getting
their grants sold them and left the country. Quetton St
George became a trader with the Indians and amassed great
wealth. It was he who bought most of the land from the
other émigrés. He had the friendship of the chief men of
Upper Canada. He returned to France and married, but never
came back to North America. His only son came to Canada
about 1847 to look after his father’s estate, which in 1831
amounted to 26,000 acres of land. In his father’s absence
it was looked after by William Warren Baldwin. The son
took up his residence on Yonge Street about twenty miles
north of Toronto, where the site of his estate may now be
recognized by a long avenue of closely planted pine trees.
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Peter Russell, as president of the council, was the adminis-
trator of the government of Upper Canada, and from corre-
spondence with the home secretary and others he learned
that the British government was behind de Puisaye’s enter-
prise. Some of the leading men were opposed to settling the
émigrés in a body, particularly under the leaders they had.

When de Puisaye arrived at York on November 18 the
council appropriated the townships of Uxbridge, Gwillimbury,
part of Whitchurch, and a township to the north of Whitby
not yet named. De Puisaye was to have five thousand acres
and the others according to rank, the same as were granted to
the disbanded regiments that took part in the Revolutionary
War. Titles were not to be granted until after the expira-
tion of seven years. The council was divided upon the
proposed question of giving the settlement a military char-
acter, but Russell had a plan by which the soldiers would
be divided among the king’s posts.

After some weeks’ stay in York de Puisaye requested
that twenty-two lots of two hundred acres each on Yonge
Street should be given him for the nucleus of a town. The
conditions were that each patentee would build a house and
occupy it within a year and that he would clear and fence five
acres of land and open a road. By January 4 the survey had
been finished, and by February 14 de Puisaye with sixteen
others had erected houses, and later a church and parsonage.
De Puisaye called the new town Windham after the secretary
of war, who had shown such marked respect for his plan and
through whose influence the émigrés had been so kindly
treated by the officials at York. By spring several more of
those at Kingston had joined the colony, but the servants
had deserted.

Less than one year of work trying to carve out a home in
the wilderness had thoroughly disgusted most of the members
of the little colony, and as soon as possible they sought other
means of gaining a livelihood, and in a short time Windham
was deserted. Several sold their claims and went home to
France. De Puisaye, the only one with ready money, began
to look out for a more desirable situation for a town and
a place for other colonists he expected from England. He
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tried to buy land from the Indians, but without success,
because the executive council would not concede that Brant,
their leader, had the right to sell lands. After staying with
Brant at the head of Lake Ontario for some months, he visited
Niagara, and was so pleased with the situation that he pur-
chased a house and three hundred acres along the Niagara
River about three miles from its mouth. He rebuilt the
house, fitted it up lavishly with furniture, carpets, mirrors,
and other accessories purchased in Europe. The grounds
were laid out, shrubs and trees were planted, stables and
barns built, and all manner of live stock purchased, all at
an expenditure in improvements of about £5400. Like many
another enthusiast, he found that little encouragement was
given him. Colonists did not arrive as he expected, and he
had, therefore, reluctantly to give up his project. In May
1802 he, Mrs Smithers, his housekeeper, whom he after-
wards married, and de Saint-Tronc left for England by way
of New York. For the first few years after his return to
the Old World he was engaged in writing his memoirs in
five volumes, chiefly to vindicate his character in connection
with the Quiberon affair. He died near Hammersmith in
England, December 13, 1827.

De Puisaye’s fate was similar to that of Berczy, Selkirk,
MacNab, and others who devoted their talents and their
fortunes to try to colonize Upper Canada. The govern-
ment officials of the day were incapable of discerning the
value of such men to the infant province. Most of the
officials profited personally from the expenditures of these
promoters, and the government, which the officials con-
trolled, in many instances dealt unfairly with them. In
nearly every case, too, the homeless emigrants they helped
on the way to independence turned against their benefactors
in the hour of their adversity.

The story of de Puisaye is given at length because it
furnishes a picture of the tribulations of the early pioneers,
and not for any permanent result his efforts at colonization
had upon the settling of a portion of Upper Canada.
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THE TALBOT SETTLEMENT

In the year 1790 there landed at Quebec a young man,
nineteen years of age, to join the 24th Regiment as lieu-
tenant. In June 1792 Colorel Simcoe, recently appointed to
the lieutenant-governorship of the new province of Upper
Canada, left Quebec for the seat of his government. As one
of his staff he selected the experienced and dashing young
lieutenant of the 24th Regiment. The party reached Kings-
ton on July 1, and leaving there on the 24th of the month
they reached the mouth of the Niagara on the 26th. This
was the first introduction of Thomas Talbot, our young aide,
to a province that was to be the scene of his activities
for fifty years. The career of Thomas Talbot is so distin-
guished, so remarkable, and so full of romance, and is so
closely interwoven with the settlement, progress, and develop-
ment of Upper Canada that one feels a desire to know every
little detail of his private, as well as of his public, life.

The Talbots were an ancient and honourable family, one,
Richard de Talbot, being a baron of the Conqueror. When
Henry 11 conquered Ireland a grandson of this de Talbot
received from the king a grant of the barony and castle of
Malahide, about nine miles from Dublin. If we were to
read closely the history of the kings of England down to the
present, we would find a Talbot near each monarch. So
noticeable is this fact that it has been said : ‘ Since William
the Bastard died there has been no day when the adhesion
of the head of the Talbots has not been distinctly important
to the acting government of England.’

Thomas Talbot was born in the old castle of Malahide
on July 19, 1771. He was destined, in the wilderness of
Upper Canada, to play an important part in the history
of the British Empire. Seemingly by intuition he could
distinguish a loyal from a disloyal applicant for land, and
when the hour of trial came to Canada, Talbot and his
settlers were factors in repelling invasion during the War
of 1812 and crushing rebellion of disloyal settlers in 1837.
Although his work was less spectacular and its scene farther
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. removed from the radiance of the throne than that of his
distinguished forbears, perhaps it was as necessary as theirs
for the preservation of the Empire.

Like all young scions of nobility, Thomas Talbot entered
the army early in life, becoming an ensign at twelve and a
lieutenant on half-pay a few months later. From then until
his sixteenth year he attended school. After leaving school
he was on the active list of the 24th Regiment as aide
to the lord-lieutenant of Ireland, and associated with him
was Arthur Wellesley, better known later as the Duke of
Wellington, who was a year or two Talbot’s senior. The
friendship so early formed continued throughout their long
lives. During Talbot’s last visit to England he called on the
great duke at Apsley House, and the two octogenarians no
doubt discussed pioneer life in far-off Canada.

When Talbot was on the staff of Simcoe he was entrusted
with important diplomatic business at Philadelphia and he
attended two Indian councils on the Miami. It is said that
he became enamoured with life amid the beautiful forests
and waterways of Upper Canada by reading Charlevoix’
history, particularly that portion describing the * Paradise
of the Hurons.” It is more probable, however, that the lure
of the forest took hold of him during his various trips with
Simcoe to Detroit through the western peninsula. On these
trips he revelled in the beauties of the wilderness and was in
his element when pitching the tent or cooking the meals,
work which no remonstrance from his chief could make him
leave to the servants of the party. There is no doubt that
on one of these journeys he formed the determination to
seek in Upper Canada a grant of land such as was given
to officers of his rank. In June 1794 he left Upper Canada
on being summoned to join the 85th Foot, as major. In
January 1796 he was promoted to the lieutenant-colonelcy
of the 5th Foot. He took part in the Duke of York’s ill-
fated expedition in the Netherlands and was in garrison at
Gibraltar for a time. By the end of 1800 the active service
which his nature craved seemed at an end, and on Christmas
Day of that year, to the amazement of hosts of his military
associates, he sold cut and withdrew from the army. There
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was much speculation as to the cause of his unusual action.
Disappointment in love and the infatuation of the king's
daughter for the gay and handsome officer were reasons that
gossip gave for so unheard of an action. But he was tired
of conventional life. He had seen much of the frivolous
and artificial life of society at the time, and, perhaps, was on
the verge of being swept into its vortex and lost. The soft
and low murmuring of the pines was still ‘in his ears. He
would go to Upper Canada, away from temptation, and build
up a great estate and devote his wealth and his talents
towards inducing hundreds of needy ones of the British Isles
to come to the province, where they might become indepen-
dent and happy subjects of their sovereign. In this he was,
no doubt, influenced by the enthusiasm of Simcoe.

Talbot returned to Canada early in 1801 expecting to
get a township for himself on which he might place settlers.
Simcoe had promised him land, but the warrants had not
been made out and the regulations regarding land grants had
undergone change since his previous visit. Fees and settle-
ment duties were required, and to evade these he sought
the aid of the Duke of Cumberland. It may be observed,
however, that Peter Russell and the other members of the
executive council were too busy granting lands to themselves
to pay much attention to Talbot. The Babys were granted
a large part of the township of Yarmouth, Talbot’s original
selection. Talbot deserves praise for evading the payment
of fees when he found that none were paid for large grants
given to friends of the executive. He wished the duke to
ask the king for a grant of a township and then to transfer
the grant to him. As a royal patent it would be exempt
from fees. The duke turned the matter over to his brother
the Duke of Kent, who wrote to Lord Hobart, colonial
secretary, a strong letter in Talbot’s favour.

Talbot on his arrival in Upper Canada went to his
favourite location on the shore of Lake Erie near the present
Port Stanley and began a clearing. It is not known how
long he remained here, but, becoming impatient at not re-
ceiving a grant, he returned to London in October 1802.
Here he busied himself giving information to the govern-
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ment regarding the soil, climate, and brilliant prospects of the
Lake Erie district. He wished to direct emigration towards
Canada rather than to the States. He likewise pointed out
to the authorities the danger to Canada from the character
of the settlers then coming in from the United States.
Simcoe, now in London, on February 11 wrote to the
colonial secretary strongly pressing Talbot’s claim for five
thousand acres. This appeal was successful, and in four days
Talbot was the bearer of a letter from Lord Hobart to Lieu-
tenant-Governor Hunter granting him five thousand acres in
Yarmouth township. If this tract were already allotted, he
was to have his grant in any other township he might select.
As Yarmouth South had been granted to the Babys, Talbot
chose Dunwich and at a later date Aldborough. In the
township of Dunwich, at the mouth of a little stream, he
landed with four helpers on May 21, 1803. Climbing the
steep bank he selected a beautiful elevation for his home and
with his own hands felled the first tree. Thus was begun
the Talbot settlement. In the following year carpenters were
brought from Niagara, and houses and outbuildings were
erected. Here he spent the rest of his days, except for
occasional visits to York (Toronto), Quebec and Europe, and
for a short period of incapacity before his death. Here he
performed all the duties of his household—cut wood, built
fires, baked the bread, and cooked for the men clearing his
land. Here he received the chief men, the finest minds of
the province. Here he welcomed distinguished travellers
and writers, titled aristocrats, noted churchmen, and pro-
vincial governors. Some of these were Dr Howison, Mrs
Jameson, Isaac Brock, Francis Gore, the Duke of Richmond,
Lord Taunton, Lord Wharncliffe, Sir Peregrine Maitland,
Sir John Colborne, Sir George Arthur, Lord Aylmer, Chief
Justice Sir John Beverley Robinson, the Hon. Peter Robinson,
the Earl of Derby, his brothers—Richard Talbot, afterwards
Lord Talbot, and William Talbot,—his nephews—Lord
Airey, and Julius and John Airey,—Dr Dunlop, Bishops
Stuart and Strachan, Lady Emeline Stuart-Wortley, and her
daughter, afterwards Lady Victoria Welby, and hosts of
others of lesser note. All who have written of Talbot and
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his settlement have borne testimony to the remarkable work
he accomplished in peopling the district with a large popu-
lation that in a few years became loyal and prosperous
farmers willing to extend the welcome hand to immigrants
and help them on the road to independence. No other
settlement had made such progress. It must be remem-
bered that while he was granted special privileges by the
British government the result justified its confidence. Others
had been granted similar favours, but they failed to fulfil
their contracts and lost their grants. The townships of Oxford,
Townsend, and Burford were granted to persons who had the
same opportunity as Talbot, but failed.

For every settler Talbot placed on fifty acres of land he
was to receive two hundred acres for himself. His policy
was to have permanent settlers and a compact settlement.
No clergy reserves were allotted in the townships under his
charge. No certificates for patents were to be given to
settlers unless they had cleared a strip one hundred feet
wide across their lot along the road, built a house at least
fifteen feet by twenty feet, and resided on their lots for five
years. These exactions might retard the settlement at first,
but would prevent speculation and would ultimately make
the settlement more permanent. By 1809 the first settlers
appeared, and the system of roadmaking inaugurated by
Talbot was an inducement for settlers to come in. Settle-
ment went on slowly and was hindered by the three years
of war. The raiding Americans in 1814 gave his project a
set-back by burning his mills. By 1820 he informed Sir
Peregrine Maitland that he had completed the location on
the lands allotted to him. He did his work so well that
the whole of the south-western part of the province was
placed under his charge by the provincial government. This
enabled him to complete the Talbot road extending from
Delhi to Sandwich and from Port Talbot to London.

By the year 1826 Talbot had expended all his wealth in
building roads and making the district desirable for settlers.
True, he held about sixty-five thousand acres of land, but
much of it was unproductive and his agricultural experi-
ments failed to bring in an adequate return ; hence he wrote
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to Lord Bathurst that he had placed on lands about twenty
thousand persons without expense to the government, but
at a cost of £20,000 to himself. This appeal resulted
in getting him a remuneration of £400 per year for the
services he continued to render in locating settlers. Talbot
has been criticized for having made a fortune out of lands,
but his recompense was not at all excessive for the great
service he performed for Upper Canada in the early days of
her history. Nearly all the settlers he placed on land were
his staunch friends to the last. A few agitators, ungrateful
for the help he gave them when they arrived in the settle-
ment penniless, desired to rob him of the lands he held.
According to a return laid before the house of assembly in
1836 we learn that 518,000 acres, situated in twenty-cight
townships, had at one time or another been placed at his
disposal. In 1831 the settlers he had been influential in
locating were estimated at forty thousand.

The townships of Dunwich, Aldborough, the north of
Yarmouth, and South Dorchester were settled principally by
Scottish Highlanders, the Talbot road east and including
the north branch into Southwold by people from the United
States, Southern England, and an overflow from the Long
Point settlement and the Niagara district. The south of
Yarmouth was settled by Quakers from Pennsylvania and
New Jersey, but not under the auspices of Talbot. Many
of these took an active part in the rebellion of 1837, but were
captured and held in check by the loyal Talbot settlers.
Malahide was occupied by settlers from New York State,
Long Point, and Nova Scotia.

Not much remains to be said of the ¢ Father of the Talbot
Settlement.” Although appointed a member of the legis-
lative council of the province he seldom attended its sessions.
He was a tory of the old school, honest, upright, benevolent,
and an uncompromising opponent of cant. He was often
opposed to the actions and methods of both political parties,
hence he frequently found it necessary to ignore the govern-
ment of the province and get authority for his actions from
the home government. His unflinching loyalty to his sove-
reign made him the inexorable opponent of the party associated
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with the rebellion. He delivered but one political speech,
and that was in 1832 at St Thomas. When William Lyon
Mackenzie and his followers rose in arms, he called together
his settlers and in scathing terms denounced rebellion.
The militia in his district overawed any centres of incipient
risings. For this many sympathizers with reform were
thankful when they saw the collapse of the Mackenzie fiasco
and the odium attached to the active rebels.

Near the close of his eventful life he wished to leave his
estate to some relative who would maintain the dignity of
the ancestral Talbot line in the New World. Julius Airey,
son of his sister Margaret, was invited to visit his uncle.
The surroundings were not to the liking of a young man
brought up in the polished society of the old land. No
visions of a vast inheritance could make up for the dreary
monotony of life at Port Talbot. After a year he returned
home. Richard Airey, brother of Julius, had visited his
uncle when secretary to Lord Aylmer, Governor of Canada.
Afterwards, in 1837, he was stationed at St Thomas with
his regiment, the 34th, of which he was lieutenant-colonel.
When military secretary to the Horse Guards Colonel Airey
decided to come to Canada with his family and reside at
Port Talbot and care for his aged uncle. Instead of humour-
ing the old man, the Aireys sought to bend him to their way
of living. Becoming dissatisfied, Colonel Talbot resolved
to spend the rest of his days in England. Accordingly, he
conveyed to Colonel Airey the Port Talbot estate of one
thousand three hundred acres and all his lands in Aldborough.
In less than a year Colonel Airey returned to his military
duties in London after renting Port Talbot. He served as
quartermaster-general during the Crimean War and was after-
wards elevated to the peerage.

Colonel Talbot had scarcely set out for the old land when
he was taken seriously ill, but to the surprise of all he rallied,
and after spending nearly a year in England, he returned to
Canada, to live in a small room in the house of the widow of
his old and faithful servant Jeffrey Hunter, within sight of
the home he had occupied for nearly fifty years, now in the
possession of strangers. Tiring of this, he went to London,
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Ontario, to live with George MacBeth, his helpmate and com-
panion for some years and who accompanied him to England
on his last two trips. Here he died on February 5, 1853, be-
queathing the whole of his estate to MacBeth.

His remains were placed in the graveyard at Port Talbot,
where rested hundreds whom he had helped on the way to
a competency in the days when he ruled the Talbot settle-
ment with a kindly and benevolent despotism. His grave
is marked by a plain slab bearing the inscription: ‘ The
Honourable Thomas Talbot, Founder of the Talbot Settle-
ment.’

THE GLENGARRY SETTLEMENT

The front township of the county of Glengarry and
Cornwall in the county of Stormont were settled in 1784 by
the disbanded soldiers of the King’s Royal Regiment of New
York. These soldiers were Scotsmen who had emigrated,
just before the War of the Revolution, to the colony of New
York and had settled near Johnstown, the home of Sir
William Johnson.

The back townships of Lochiel, Kenyon, Roxborough, and
Finch were at the beginning of the nineteenth century a
wilderness. It was quite natural that these loyal Scots-
men would induce their friends in Scotland who thought
of emigrating to locate beside them in the British colony
of Canada. The first emigration was in 1786, when the
Rev. Alexander Macdonell (Scotus) came to Glengarry with
five hundred settlers, principally of his kinsmen from the
estate of Knoydart in Glengarry, Scotland. This band left
Greenock on board the ship M°Donald, Captain Robert
Stevenson, arrived at Quebec on September 7, 1786, and
immediately proceeded to the Glengarry settlement. Mac-
donell was one of the earliest priests to minister to his co-
religionists in Glengarry and Stormont. He founded the
parish of St Raphael, the first in Glengarry, and, indeed,
in Upper Canada, and here he built the first church, known
as the ‘ Blue Chapel.’” This edifice was succeeded by the
present beautiful church erected by his successor and name-
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sake, Alexander Macdonell, afterwards better known as
Bishop Macdonell.

In 1792 Macdonell of Greenfield emigrated to Glengarry
with a number of his clan. He was married to a sister of
Colonel John Macdonell of Aberchalder, who was the first
speaker of the first legislature of Upper Canada. Each year
brought out settlers from other clans to make their homes
in Glengarry. Among them were a number of Camerons,
Macmillans, M¢Phersons, M¢Leods and others who came
outin 1796. The northern part of the township of Lancaster
was cut off from it in 1816 and named Lochiel after the
celebrated chieftain of the Camerons. Nearly every Scottish
clan was represented in Glengarry before the close of the
eighteenth century.

The last emigration of Scotsmen on a large scale took
place in 1803, under the auspices of the Rev. Alexander
Macdonell, the first Roman Catholic bishop of Upper Canada.
In 1792 this well-known prelate, when a young missionary
on the borders of Inverness and Perth, affected by the
distress of his countrymen and hearing that an emigrant
vessel which had sailed from the island of Barra, one of the
Hebrides, had in a wrecked condition put into Greenock,
where she had landed her passengers in a most helpless and
destitute state, went to Glasgow to plead in their behalf.
Here Macdonell secured an introduction to the professors of
Glasgow University and the leading manufacturers of the city,
and proposed that the latter should take into their employ-
ment the shipwrecked emigrants and the Highlanders lately
turned off their farms. This they promised to do, but there
was great difficulty in getting the Highlanders satisfactory
situations, chiefly because they were ignorant of the English
language and because a majority of them were of the Roman
Catholic religion. The latter obstacle was due to the
inimical attitude of the lower orders of the people of Glasgow
towards the Roman Catholics on account of the Lord George
Gordon riots. The energetic priest succeeded in allaying the
fears of the manufacturers, and after a few months’ residence
in Glasgow managed to procure employment for upwards
of six hundred distressed Highlanders. After two years of
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employment the doctrines of the French revolutionists began
to take hold of the people of Great Britain. The chief
sympathizers with the Revolution were in the manufacturing
districts. To check the spread of the doctrine war was
declared against France. This had the effect of reducing
exports of manufactured goods to France, and consequently
the factories closed and the Highlanders were again out of
employment.

At this juncture the young priest conceived the idea of
raising a Roman Catholic corps in His Majesty’s service
with Macdonell of Glengarry as colonel. In 1794, at a
large meeting at Fort Augustus, an address was drawn up
and the Chief Macdonell and John Fletcher of Dundas went
to London to present it to the king, who graciously received
it. A letter of service was issued authorizing the raising
of the first Glengarry Fencible Regiment as a Roman Catholic
corps, the first since the Reformation. The Rev. Alexander
Macdonell, contrary to the then existing law, was gazetted
as chaplain. Four or five Scottish regiments refused to
extend their services to England and mutinied when ordered
to march. The Glengarry Fencibles through their chaplain
offered to extend their services to England or Ireland or even
to Jersey or Guernsey. This offer was accepted by the
government. From 1795 to the summer of 1798 they were
in Guernsey, but rebellion having broken out in Ireland in
the latter year the regiment was ordered to that unhappy
country. After serving in Ireland to the eminent satisfac-
tion of the government, application was made for the augmen-
tation of the regiment, but the Peace of Amiens in 1802
closed the war and the regiment was disbanded. Its members
were soon as destitute as they had been before its enrol-
ment, and their chaplain proceeded to London to seek aid
in sending the disbanded soldiers to Upper Canada. Here
the young missionary was received with honour by the Duke
of York and the premier, Addington, who proposed to send
the people to Trinidad. This offer was refused by Macdonell,
as was also one to send them to Nova Scotia or New Brunswick
or Sault Ste Marie. He persisted in his intention to take
his people to Upper Canada, and the secretary of state for
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the Colonies, Lord Hobart, addressed the following letter to
Lieutenant-General Hunter, Lieutenant-Governor of Upper
Canada:

DOWNING STREET, 1s¢ Marck, 1803.

SiR,—A body of Highlanders, mostly Macdonells,
and partly disbanded soldiers of the Glengarry Fencible
Regiment, with their families and immediate connec-
tions, are upon the point of quitting their present place
of abode, with the design of following into Upper Canada
some of their relatives who have already established
themselves in that Province.

The merit and services of the Regiment in which a
proportion of these people have served, give them strong
claims to any mark of favour and consideration which
can consistently be extended to them ; and with the
encouragement usually afforded in the Province they
would no doubt prove as valuable settlers as their con-
nections now residing in the District of Glengarry, of
whose industry and general good conduct very favour-
able representations have been received here.

Government has been apprised of the situation and
disposition of the families before described by Mr
Macdonell, one of the Ministers of their Church and
formerly Chaplain to the Glengarry Regiment, who
possesses considerable influence with the whole body.

He has undertaken, in the event of their absolute
determination to carry into execution their plan of
departure, to embark with them and direct their course
to Canada.

In case of their arrival within your Government, I am
commanded by His Majesty to authorize you to grant,
in the usual manner, a tract of the unappropriated
Crown lands in any part of the Province where they
may wish to fix, in the proportion of twelve hundred
acres to Mr Macdonell and two hundred acres to every
family he may introduce into the Colony.—I have the
honour to be, sir, your most obedient, humble servant,

HOBART.

In the same year that the Glengarry Fencibles arrived
in the St Lawrence, a shipload of one thousand one hundred
souls, chiefly from Glenelg and Kintail, joined their friends
in Upper Canada. To enumerate the prominent men that
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this emigration gave to Canada would be but to quote the
names of the gallant officers and men that helped to keep
Canada British in the War of 1812. Red George Macdonell,
the hero of Ogdensburg and Chateauguay, is a notable
example. Colonel John Macdonell, aide-de-camp to Sir
Isaac Brock, member for Glengarry in 1812, was with his
chief at the capture of Detroit, where he drew up the terms
of capitulation. He was killed at the battle of Queenston
Heights, and his body reposes with that of Brock under the
monument erected on Queenston Heights in honour of the
‘Hero of Upper Canada.” Two regiments were recruited
in Glengarry at the beginning of the War of 1812, the Glen-
garry Light Infantry and the Canadian Fencibles. The
moving spirit in the work was the Rev. Alexander Macdonell,
who was appointed their chaplain. The gallantry of the
Glengarry men on all occasions is ably set forth by the
historians of the war. Later, in the Rebellion of 1837, their
sons were the backbone of the defence of the province.

The influx of so many loyal adherents of the crown to
Canada has had a marked effect upon the history of the
country. War was not the only occupation in which they
served with honour. In the legislative halls they were fore-
most in advocating just and good laws for the government
of the province.

THE SETTLEMENT OF THE TOWNSHIP OF DUMFRIES

The township of Dumfries was originally part of the land
set apart by Great Britain for the Six Nations Indians. On
February 5, 1798, Joseph Brant sold Block No. 1, contain-
ing 94,305 acres, to Philip Stedman for £8841. This block
was afterwards known as the township of Dumfries. The
government sanctioned the sale. Stedman died without
direct heirs shortly after receiving the deed from the crown.
In 1811 the Hon. Thomas Clarke purchased the land from
Stedman’s sister and mortgaged it to the Indian Trustees for
the original purchase-price. Clarke sold the lands in 1816
to William Dickson for £15,000 and the assumption of the
mortgage.
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Dickson was born in Dumfries, Scotland, in 1769 and
came to Canada in 1792, settling in the Niagara district,
where he practised law. During the War of 1812 he was
taken prisoner and sent to Greenbush in New York, but was
subsequently released on parole. He was challenged to a
duel by a fellow-lawyer and former friend named Weekes.!
Dickson accepted the challenge, and the two men met behind
the American Fort Niagara. Weekes was killed at the first
exchange of shots. It appears that Dickson and Weekes
were engaged as counsel on the same side of a case at the
assizes at Niagara. Weekes in his address to the jury com-
mented very severely on the conduct of Lieutenant-Governor
Simcoe. At the conclusion of this address Dickson arose
and addressed the court, saying that although on the same
side of the case as Weekes he disapproved of the language
used in reference to the late lieutenant-governor. As a
result of Dickson’s action Weekes sent him a challenge to a
duel that, as stated above, ended fatally for the challenger.

In 1816 Dickson was appointed a legislative councillor
and continued to take a prominent part in all affairs that
pertained to the welfare of the province. In 1837 he col-
lected the militia of Niagara district and took them by
steamer to Toronto in time to assist in the defeat of the
rebels under Mackenzie at Montgomery’s Tavern. He lived
until February 19, 1846.

After the purchase of Dumfries William Dickson pro-
posed to build mills somewhere near the centre of his land
and to invite settlers to purchase lots adjoining this nucleus
of the town. In seeking for an agent to look after his affairs
in Dumfries he met a young man named Absalom Shade, a
native of Pennsylvania, but then a resident of Buffalo, who
was an unsuccessful tenderer for the building of the court-
house at Niagara. Dickson offered Shade the position of
agent of his enterprises in Dumfries. Shade agreed to look
over the ground, and both he and his employer set out on
horseback by the road leading to the Grand River near where
Paris is now situated. Here they obtained the services of an
Indian guide, who took them northward along the bank of

1 See section 11, p. 185.
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the river. When they arrived at the present site of Galt
they came to the conclusion that there was sufficient water-
power for milling purposes in the creek that here joins the
Grand. Dickson left for Flamboro, but Shade stayed a
few days longer to look thoroughly over the district. He
found that some of the German settlers of Waterloo had
moved over into Dumfries, but no site for a mill and a town
appeared so suitable as the one first selected. Shade was a
man of unusual energy and determination, very necessary
characteristics in a pioneer to whom is entrusted the great
and varied work of building a mill, laying out a town, and
locating settlers in a wilderness. He, however, was equal
to the task, and in 1816 employed men to clear the land and
build a house and a mill. By the end of 1817 there were
thirty-eight families settled in the township, chiefly Scots-
men who had lived some time in Genesee County, New York.

THE SELKIRK SETTLEMENT

The name of Lord Selkirk is usually associated with the
settlement on the Red River in and about the site of the
present city of Winnipeg! It is not generally known that
one of his emigration schemes was to bring settlers to Upper
Canada. In 1802 he applied to the British government for
a grant of land near the present town of Sault Ste Marie.
An agent was actually sent out to examine the site, but he
was refused the grant because it was outside the jurisdic-
tion of the province. The noble lord had various schemes
of settlement. He obtained a grant of land in Prince Edward
Island and in 1803 brought out about eight hundred High-
landers to occupy it.

In the next year he brought out one hundred and eleven
Highlanders to Upper Canada and located them on a tract of
land, Baldoon, consisting of nine hundred and fifty acres along
Lake St Clair near the mouth of Bear Creek. The colonists
came from Tobermory, island of Mull, Scotland. On account
of the war with France the final sailing was delayed until
May 1804. They crossed the ocean in the ship Oughton

1 See ‘ The Red River Settlement,’ section X.
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of Greenock and ascended the St Lawrence to Kingston in
bateaux. At Kingston they took ship for Queenston and
portaged to a safe place above Niagara Falls, and again took
bateaux to Amherstburg and located on their land in Sep-
tember. The Baldoon settlement did not succeed, partly on
account of the low nature of the land. Forty-two of the
settlers died the first year and others removed to more favour-
able locations among their countrymen. In 1812 the settle-
ment was raided by Hull during his invasion of Upper Canada,
and a good deal of the stock of the settlers was taken. Many
of the merino sheep, one thousand in number, furnished
by Selkirk to the settlers, were driven to Detroit to supply
Hull's army with food. These settlers were raided again in
1813 by the Americans under MC¢Arthur. By 1817 only
nine or ten families remained on the site of the original
settlement, and on September 17, 1818, Selkirk sold Baldoon
to John MacNab, a Hudson’s Bay trader.

The hardships encountered by the settlers on the Red
River caused them to seek another location nearer civiliza-
tion than their new home. A number of families left the
Red River Settlement for Upper Canada by the old North-
West route. The greater number settled in the town-
ships of East and West Gwillimbury near the shores of Lake
Simcoe. A few joined their relatives in the townships of
Markham and Aldborough.

IMMIGRATION AFTER THE CLOSE OF THE NAPOLEONIC WARS

Several causes contributed to the great influx of settlers
to Upper Canada from about 1816 or 1817 to 1840. The
War of 1812 with the United States brought Upper Canada
to the attention of the British people. The officers and men
of the various regiments, when they reached their homes in
the British Isles, spoke favourably of the climate and re-
sources of the province. The debates on the proposed
union of the Canadas in the British parliament in 1822 and
1823 brought the upper province still further into public
notice.

The close of the long war with France was the cause of a
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large number of persons being thrown out of employment.
There was a surplus population without any occupation.
The disbanded soldiers, the weavers, the tailors, the shoe-
makers, the shipwrights, and others who had been thrown out
of work soon became a heavy tax on the country, and their
only hope lay in emigrating.

The story of Richard Talbot of the south of Ireland, a
relative of the Hon. Thomas Talbot, and of his immigration
to the township of London in Upper Canada is similar to
that of many others in a like situation. When the door of
military preferment was closed against his sons he resolved
to emigrate. He made application to Lord Bathurst for a
grant of land in Upper Canada, aided by the intercession
of Lord Rosse. Lord Bathurst replied stating that twenty-
five acres was all the encouragement that could be given to
individuals, but that he was ready to receive proposals from
persons who would undertake the cultivation of large grants
under the following conditions : ten settlers at least were to
be taken out and one hundred acres granted to each; the
person applying for land was required to deposit ten pounds
for every settler, which was to be repaid him as soon as the
settlers were located on the land ; a grant was to be given
free of expense to the person agreeing to the above pro-
posals; and free passage was provided for the settlers
and the leader of the party, but the party would have to
supply their own victuals.

Talbot agreed to the above proposals, and forty-four
families, consisting of nearly two hundred persons from the
south of Ireland, made their way to Cork to embark for
Canada. Talbot bore a letter from Lord Bathurst to Sir
John Coape Sherbrooke, governor-in-chief of Canada, stating
that he had engaged to take to Canada the settlers whose
names were annexed, and that a grant of one hundred acres
was to be given to each male over seventeen years of age,
and when the settlers were located he was to repay to Talbot
the sum deposited as a surety that the persons he brought
out would take up land.

On June 13, 1818, the party embarked in the Brunswick
of 541 tons burden, carrying 150 tons ordnance stores for
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the garrison at Quebec and three months’ provisions for
Talbot’s settlers. Accompanying Talbot were three other
‘ families of respectability,’” those of Mr Geary, Mr Hardy,
and Mr Burton. On July 27, after a voyage of forty-three
and a half days, the ship anchored before Quebec. The party
lost by death twelve persons, all children under fourteen
years of age ; such was the toll of human life exacted by the
Atlantic voyage in the days of the sailing vessel.

Before embarking for the western province Talbot called
upon the Duke of Richmond, who had recently arrived as
governor-in-chief of Canada, and presented his letters of
introduction and the order from Lord Bathurst for the land
he was entitled to. The duke referred him to Lieutenant-
Colonel F. Cockburn, deputy quartermaster-general, who
tried to persuade Talbot to settle in Lower Canada, but
without success. Talbot then received an order for the
provisions for his party on their way to the west and also
for one hundred and seventy blankets for their use.

The party left Quebec for Montreal on August 3, 1818,
in the steamboat Telegraph, and arrived at their destination
on the morning of the sth. They expected the government
to provide passage from Montreal to the land upon which
they were to settle, but after remaining in that city for a
few days it was found that no provision had been made for
the rest of the journey. An appeal to the governor for
bateaux was unsuccessful. While in Montreal thirty-one of
the settlers and their families, on the persuasion of Colonel
Cockburn, accepted land near Perth, which was just then
being opened as a military settlement.

The remainder of the party left Lachine on August 18 in
bateaux for Prescott, which place they reached on September 1.
Two days later they embarked in the schooner Caledonia
for York, where they arrived after a voyage of six days.
Here Talbot was informed by the lieutenant-governor that
he might select his land in any township open for settle-
ment. He was referred to the surveyor-general, but received
little information. In a short time Talbot met his kinsman,
Colonel Thomas Talbot, who gave him full information and
particularly recommended the township of London. Acting
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upon this recommendation the party left York for London
township on September 11. Theywent by schooner to Niagara,
then by water to Queenston, thence to Fort Erie by land,
and from Fort Erie to Port Talbot by water. The vessel
that conveyed the party was wrecked on the southern shore
of Lake Erie, but only one life was lost. The party soon
after arrival at Port Talbot lodged the women and children
in houses in the township of Westminster, while the male
portion proceeded to the township of London to build houses
on their land for the reception of their families. This was
accomplished by the beginning of December. Talbot was
allowed one thousand two hundred acres of land for himself
for his part in the undertaking.

Six months of travel by sea, by lake, by river and by
land, and then only a home in a forest wilderness, was the
price paid by the pioneer for freedom. In a few years of
arduous toil grain-fields took the place of the forest, and horses,
cows, and sheep the place of wild animals. The labour was
hard, but the reward was great.

THE MILITARY SETTLEMENTS

As already stated, the close of the war with Napoleon
changed the industries of Great Britain to such a degree
that thousands were thrown out of employment. The
soldier found his occupation gone and the government pro-
posed to form a military settlement in Canada, where dis-
banded soldiers and officers might become farmers. The
St Lawrence route was considered too hazardous in time of
war with the United States, and several surveys were made
of a route to Upper Canada by way of the Ottawa and
Rideau Rivers to Kingston. This was the first suggestion
of the building of the Rideau Canal and the improvement
of navigation on the Ottawa River. Accompanying the
scheme of improved navigation was the project of settling
the disbanded soldiers and loyal settlers along the route of
the proposed canal, so that it would run through a country
peopled with men of undoubted loyalty.
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The first emigrants to reach the new settlement were
from Scotland. They left Greenock in three transports late
in May 1815, but were on the ocean until September, when
they landed at Quebec. They were taken up the St Lawrence
to Prescott and Brockville, where they spent the winter.
Early in April 1816 they travelled along blazed trails to their
future home. The centre of the settlement was the present
town of Perth on a little river named the Tay, both names
being taken from the home of the immigrants in Scotland.
The land was good and the settlement prospered from its
very inception. About two hundred and fifty people formed
the first pioneer community. From time to time additions
were made to it by emigrants from Scotland and Ulster in
Ireland. The most notable addition was the disbanded
soldiers of the Glengarry Fencibles, the Canadian Fencibles,
and de Watteville’s regiment. These men were inured to
the hardships of a life in the new country, and, moreover,
were familiar with the work of clearing forests and with
the building of log-houses. They could handle the ax to
advantage, and were therefore employed in building homes
for the settlers from the Old World and in clearing the land.
The town of Perth was laid out, roads and bridges were con-
structed ; soon good reports of the advancement of the
settlement reached Scotland, and there was a great influx
of people. Several circumstances combined to ensure the
success of the settlement from the beginning. The settlers
had a good location and the example of experienced bush-
men to follow, and the military authorities granted them
rations, clothes, and implements. According to a report of
Lieutenant-Colonel Cockburn, issued during the governor-
ship of Lord Dalhousie, between one thousand five hundred
and two thousand heads of families had not been the stipu-
lated time on their lands to entitle them to receive their
deeds. Under the terms each settler had to clear and culti-
vate a part of his hundred acres and live on it for a stipulated
time before receiving his deed. Lieutenant-Colonel Cockburn
feared that if the military authorities withdrew their aid, as
Lord Dalhousie advised, the settlers would get their deeds
and dispose of their lands to speculators and Americans, who
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would not be desirable persons so near the projected military
highway.

THE LANARK SETTLEMENT

The good reports from the Perth settlement induced
several persons in the shires of Lanark and Renfrew to
petition the government of Great Britain for aid to emigrate
to Upper Canada. Lord Bathurst, the colonial secretary,
approved of the plan laid down by the Lanark and Renfrew
petitioners, and procured for those who wished to emigrate
large grants of land in what is now the county of Lanark.
These grants were given on the understanding that rations
and passage as far as Quebec were to be furnished to the
emigrants by the societies promoting the emigration. In addi-
tion each man was paid one pound. To defray the expenses
of those without means £500 was raised in London. The
government gave to each head of a family one hundred acres
of land on condition of residence and that a certain amount
of land should be cultivated within a limited period. When
the settlers arrived at the place of settlement each was to
be advanced £3 and they were to receive an additional £3
six months after arrival. The lands were to be surveyed
by the government, which also agreed to defray the
expenses of transportation from Quebec to the settlement.
During the years 1820 and 1821 over two thousand persons
were brought to Canada under the joint auspices of the
several societies and the government. Their principal places
of settlement were in the townships of Dalhousie, Ramsay,
and Lanark, named respectively after the governor-general,
Lord Dalhousie, his family name, and the county in Scotland
from whence the settlers had come.

In 1821 the governor-general stated that nearly one
thousand two hundred emigrants from Lanark in Scotland
were placed in Lanark in Canada. The chief needs were
teachers and clergymen and aid to build schoolhouses and
churches. The money for these purposes, 4300, was raised
in Scotland, mainly through the exertions of the Duke of
Hamilton.
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THE PETERBOROUGH SETTLEMENT

The first township of the county of Peterborough to be
surveyed was Smith, in the year 1818. In that year a number
of people sailed from Cumberland, England, and some found
their way to the township just surveyed. They came in by
the way of Rice Lake and Otonabee River, as there was no
road in from Port Hope. Near the limits of the present city
of Peterborough they erected a temporary log-house, where
they all lived until they had built a small house or shanty on
each lot selected. In the same year other settlers came in
from the older settlements along the front, but their diffi-
culties were as nothing compared with the privations under-
gone by the pioneers who came from the old land. The
latter, totally unaccustomed to life in the wilderness, suffered
incredible hardships before they cleared, under the greatest
difficulties, small plots of land on which they raised some
potatoes and wheat.

The township of Otonabee was surveyed in 1819 and a
large number of settlers arrived in the next few years.
Captain Spilsbury, a half-pay officer, brought in a number of
settlers, but all but one, George Kent, besides the captain,
found pioneer life too arduous, and left for the old settle-
ments. In 1820 about twenty men with families took up
land, and along with them some eight single men. Most of
these were emigrants from the British Isles and came out
singly or in small groups. It often happened that emigrants
from one district in Great Britain or Ireland left the old land
together, but took up locations far apart when they arrived
in Upper Canada. Among the arrivals in the township of
Otonabee in 1820 were some army officers and discharged
soldiers. The most prominent of these was Captain Charles
Rubidge, R.N., who was the first to perform settlement
duties and secure a title to his land. Much of the land near
the front of the township was held by half-pay officers who
did not become actual settlers. These non-resident owners
hired others to perform settlement duties for them. Some
of these officers, it is true, took possession of their land, but
for the most part they found life in the bush distasteful, and
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abandoned their land for homes in the centres of popula-
tion more congenial to their habits.

Another settler of Otonabee who deserves special men-
tion is Samuel Strickland.! He was one of the famous
Strickland family whose literary productions have a high
place in the field of English and Canadian literature. He
came out from Suffolk, England, in 1825, and after a short
residence in Darlington moved to a lot in Otonabee about a
mile from the present city of Peterborough. About 1831
he went to the township of Douro and commenced again the
hard life of a pioneer. His farm near the village of Lake-
field shows that he made no mistake in changing locations.
Strickland took a prominent part under John Galt in the
work of settlement on the lands of the Canada Company in
the Huron Tract. He was a justice of the peace and took
an active part in the volunteer militia during the Rebellion
of 1837, subsequently retiring with the rank of colonel.
Colonel Strickland’s book, Twenty-seven Years in Canada
West, was published in London in two volumes in 1853. In
this work he gives a faithful and entertaining description
of his experiences in Upper Canada.

Colonel Strickland was soon joined by two of his sisters.
One of these was Susanna, wife of J. W. Dunbar Moodie, a
retired half-pay officer. The hardships endured by highly
cultured English people who took up land in the wilderness
are graphically described in her work in two volumes entitled
Roughing it in the Bush.2 This book had a wide circulation
in England and deterred for a number of years immigration
to Upper Canada. Mrs Moodie lived to see beautiful fields
and orchards laden with grain and fruit where once the
stubborn forest held possession of the soil. In a subsequent
volume, Life in the Clearings versus the Bush, she mitigates
somewhat the harsh opinions recorded in her former work,
but not even time could wholly efface the awful recollections
she had of the first few years in the bush north of Peterborough.

Catharine Parr, another of the Strickland sisters, married
Lieutenant Thomas Traill, and with him emigrated to Upper
Canada, where her husband took up land on the shore of

1 See section vI, p. 543. ¥ See ibid., p. 544 et seq.
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Rice Lake. She was a contributor to Canadian and British
magazines and in 1835 published Backwoods of Canada and
later The Female Emigrant's Guide, two books that affected
immigration to the province.l

The settlement of the Strickland family in Upper Canada
had an elevating influence on the social life of the province.
At the time of their arrival the people of Upper Canada
were of necessity engaged in a sharp struggle to produce
the necessaries of life. This had the effect of deadening the
finer feelings. At great personal expense the Stricklands
tried to awaken the slumbering literary taste, and in a
measure they succeeded. Before they passed away they
saw Upper Canada the home of a peaceful, happy people,
rich in material things and appreciative of the fine arts,
willing to aid the struggling immigrant from across the sea
to acquire a home within the British Empire.

Although the life of the pioneer settler of a century ago
was a strenuous one, it was conducive to health and longevity.
As an instance of this it may be mentioned that out of
twenty-six settlers from the parish of Tulliallan in Kincar-
dine, Scotland, seventeen were living forty-six years after-
wards. Of the nine that had died three exceeded eighty-two,
two were between seventy and seventy-five, and four between
fifty and fifty-five years of age. The healthfulness of the
climate, combined with an outdoor life, more than makes
up for the dangers and privations of pioneer life.

The township of Douro was occupied in the fall of 1822,
a year prior to its survey, by two brothers-in-law, Alexander
Stewart and Robert Reid, and their families. These men
on leaving Ireland were furnished with letters of introduc-
tion to the lieutenant-governor, who assigned them land in
Douro. Stewart got a grant of one thousand two hundred
acres and Reid one of two thousand on condition of actual
settlement and the performance of settlement duties. They
also had permission to hold the entire township for five years,
so that they could place on it any friends in Ireland whom
they might induce to emigrate. This right they cheerfully
relinquished in 1825, when the Hon. Peter Robinson arrived

1 See section vI, pp. 543-4.
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with his settlers. These two men attained prominence and
accumulated wealth in their new home. Stewart was ap-
pointed to the legislative council in 1833 as a reward for his
exertions in promoting settlement.

Mrs Stewart has left a short narrative of her personal
experiences that clearly indicates the difficulties that had to
be overcome and the privations that had to be endured
before the immigrant and his family could pause from the
constant struggle for existence. According to this narrative
the party with which the Stewarts came to Canada left
Quebec by steamer for Montreal on June I, 1822. From
Lachine to Prescott they took bateaux and then steamer to
York, which place they reached in August. After making
arrangements for settlement they left for Cobourg about
October 1. Here Stewart was detained through illness.
Reid and some hired men went to their locations and began
work on two clearings and the erection of a shanty. In
November Reid brought his family to their new home, and
Stewart and his family joined them in February. When
the Stewarts arrived in the dead of the night at the shack
prepared for them, they found it in a very unfinished state.
The door had not been hung, no partitions had been put up,
the chimney had not been completed, and the floor was
covered with a thick coating of ice and mortar. There was
a cheerful fire in the fireplace, and the smoke escaped through
a gaping hole in the roof. After a supper of tea, bread and
butter, and pork, they spread their mattresses on some shingle
shavings and slept soundly, although the stars could be seen
through the hole in the roof. About half a mile away Reid
lived under equally hard conditions. His home was a mere
shanty to which the winter winds found easy access.

Conditions soon improved, but as all provisions had to
be brought from Cobourg over bad roads and across Rice Lake,
great inconveniences and losses had to be borne. On one
occasion boots for both families, about twenty pairs in all,
were ordered from Cobourg, but they were lost in crossing
Rice Lake and could not be recovered, and for several
months a number of the party had to go barefoot. Pea-soup
and pork were the principal food of the settlers. Bread was
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in general use when flour could be obtained. Rye-flour was
often a substitute, and one season they were obliged to use
boiled wheat and corn. On one occasion they were forced
to subsist on bran and oatcakes.

The township of Asphodel was surveyed in 1820, but
only about twelve families came in during the next five years.
In 1825, however, like the other townships, Asphodel received
its share of immigrants.

The township of Dummer was surveyed in 1823, but no
attempt was made to settle it until 1831. In the summer of
that year many emigrants from Great Britain arrived at
Quebec. The Marquis of Bath sent out one hundred and
fifty, the government sent out one hundred commuted pen-
sioners and their families, while about one thousand seven
hundred came at their own expense. These people were
taken charge of by agents and conducted to Peterborough,
where Captain Rubidge, R.N., who acted as immigration
agent, located them on the unoccupied lands. A large number
were located in Dummer, and the remainder were distri-
buted among the other townships.

The mode of location was a very fair one. Guides were
sent out with an advance-party to examine the land, and
when a selection was made the agent issued a location ticket
that entitled each immigrant to one hundred acres on the
fulfilment of certain conditions. A small sum of money,
under five dollars, was given to the settler if he needed it,
and with the help of older settlers near him a shanty was
erected, into which, as soon as possible, he moved with his
effects. Grants of one hundred acres were made to heads
of families and grown-up sons on condition that after the
expiration of four years an annual payment of one shilling
per acre would be made during each of the second four years.
At the end of eight years’ actual settlement and upon the
payment of eighty dollars the settler would receive a title
to his land. The government, however, was very lenient,
and if payment was not made within the specified time an
extension was granted. The provincial government allowed
living rations while the immigrants were travelling through
the country and during the time of location.
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The settlers that were located in 1831 were almost ex-
clusively from the British Isles and were of a high type.
They were thankful for the little aid given them, and
national pride was an impetus that moved all to put forth
their best efforts to succeed. The next year others came
out under the auspices of a private emigration society in
Glasgow. Such societies sprang up in all large cities
of England, Scotland, and Ireland. Their object was to
change the current of emigration from the United States
to a British colony. The Glasgow society had authority
from the government of Canada to offer intending settlers a
grant of fifty acres of wild land with the privilege of purchas-
ing an additional fifty acres at a fixed sum. The story of
these pioneers reads like a romance. After their arrival at
Peterborough they set out to locate their lots. These were
distant about twenty miles and could only be reached by
journeying over a primitive road and trail. Two or three
of the intending settlers went together loaded heavily with
provisions—pork and flour being the staples—an ax for
chopping a clearance and building huts, blankets for their
covering at night, a tinder-box for starting a fire—matches
were not in common use—and a can of whisky, the only
medicine in general use in the bush. After the lots were
located the settlers worked together, amid swarms of mos-
quitoes and black flies, to erect huts. When the provisions
were nearly exhausted one of the number was sent to the
store for supplies. Instances are recorded where the lone
traveller lost his way, and after several days in the forest
arrived exhausted at the settlement. The first years were
years of incessant toil, but after a small clearing was made
rude plenty was the rule if the chosen lot had a fair percen-
tage of good soil. The perseverance and energy displayed
by the pioneers is worthy of remembrance by those who in
a large measure enjoy the fruits of their constant labours.

The townships of North and South Monahan were settled
in 1818 and 1819, when about a dozen settlers took up land
and, undcr the usual difficulties, made homes for themselves
in the forest.

The township of Ennismore was surveyed in 1825 and
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received some of the settlers of the great immigration in that
year.

In 1832 a number of men of gentle birth settled in Harvey
near Pigeon Lake. The only recommendation for this settle-
ment was that the region abounded in game, no small item in
the life of a pioneer. The land, however, in many cases
proved to be poor, and after the settlers had expended their
money in building fancy log-houses and clearing away the
forest they found that the soil yielded poor crops. Inability
to cultivate the land, distance from market, and the lack of
good roads and bridges were serious drawbacks to the pro-
sperity of the settlement. In a few years all had left the dis-
trict. Some purchased improved farms elsewhere or engaged
in other work more suited to their tastes and early training.

The other townships in the county of Peterborough and
its vicinity have been settled at later dates mainly by sons of
the first pioneers, but the process occupied nearly fifty years.
Railways and good government roads and the experience
gained in the older parts of the province have enabled the
later settlers to become self-sustaining and prosperous in a
shorter time and at less inconvenience than was the lot of
the pioneers who came in during the first two or three decades
of the nineteenth century.

THE IMMIGRATION OF 1825

Before 1825 only about five hundred settlers occupied
the country north of Rice Lake. There was only one settler,
a Mr Scott, where the flourishing city of Peterborough now
stands. In the autumn of 1825 a large accession was
made to these settlers through an emigration from the south
of Ireland conducted by the Hon. Peter Robinson under
the auspices of the British government. Four hundred and
fifteen families, comprising in all 2024 souls, embarked for
Canada. The ships sailed from Cork in May 1825, and after
a speedy voyage for those days of less than a month they
arrived at Quebec, from whence they were immediately sent
on to Kingston. Here they were sheltered in tents for some
weeks. In the meantime Robinson sailed from Liverpool
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to New York and came to Toronto by way of Niagara. He
at once went to Cobourg and thence to Peterborough, and in
company with Colonel M¢Donell spent a week exploring
townships suitable for the location of the settlers. On
August 11 Robinson embarked five hundred of the immi-
grants at Kingston and reached Cobourg the next day. The
remainder arrived at intervals of a week. The first task
was to repair the road from Cobourg to Rice Lake to make
it passable for heavily laden wagons. Boats were brought
from Lake Ontario and launched on Rice Lake. From Rice
Lake the Otonabee River is navigable for twenty-five miles,
but the water was so low in the rapids that it was found
necessary to build a boat suitable to their navigation. It
was flat-bottomed, sixty feet in length and eight feet wide,
and could carry from twenty to thirty persons and a large
amount of baggage. This task took eight days and was
entirely successful. The chief difficulty was the fever and
ague that attacked every member of the first party, con-
sisting of twenty men of the country hired as ax-men and
thirty settlers, two of whom died. When the settlers arrived
at the present site of Peterborough with their supplies and
household goods, they constructed huts of logs, or of what-
ever material came handy, to shelter them from the weather.

Robinson had for his purposes erected five buildings. They
were all built of logs and had shingled roofs. One was used
as a residence by Dr Reade, surgeon to the immigrants, and
as a church in which mass was celebrated by the Rev. Mr
Crowley ; two were used as storehouses ; one was Robin-
son’s office, where all the business was transacted ; the fifth
and largest was occupied as a dwelling-house by Robinson,
Colonel M¢Donell, and John Smith, the surveyor who helped
to locate the immigrants.

During the initial days of the enterprise rations were
dispensed by the government. These consisted of one
pound of pork and one pound of flour for each person over
fourteen years of age, and half that amount for children
between five and fourteen ; every four children under five
were granted an adult ration. These rations were con-
tinued for a year and a half.
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The most troublesome part of the work was to locate the
settlers, but in this Robinson was ably assisted by M¢Donell
and Smith, and by Captain Rubidge, who gave his services
gratis. The plan adopted was to send the immigrants in
groups accompanied by a guide to select their lands. One
hundred acres were allotted to each family of five persons.
If sons were of age they were given a similar lot. When a
lot was chosen, former settlers were hired to erect a shanty
on each lot, where, after roads were constructed, the settler
and his effects were taken by ox or horse teams, hired for
the occasion from settlers south of Rice Lake. With the
exception of a few who wintered in Peterborough, all the
immigrants were located before the winter set in. Each
family was supplied with a cow, an ax, an auger, a hand-
saw, one hundred nails, two gimlets, three hoes, one kettle,
one frying-pan, one iron pot, five bushels of seed-potatoes,
and eight quarts of Indian corn.

While the government did all it could for these people,
the death-rate was high on account of sea-sickness during
the Atlantic voyage and the fever and ague and the hardships
inseparable from life in the wilderness. Fifteen died on the
passage to Quebec and eighty-seven after their arrival in
Canada up till March 1826. Dysentery and fever played
havoc with them. Eleven victims of these diseases were
buried in one day in Kingston. They were not without
medical aid, for a surgeon of the royal navy was on board
each ship, and, as stated above, Dr Reade remained with
them after their arrival in Canada.

Besides the 2024 who embarked at Cork, twelve joined
in Canada, and thirty-three were born in Canada before
March 1826. The location of these immigrants was as
follows :

In Douro . . 60 heads of families
” Smith g 34 5 ” ”
,, Otonabee ; EC7, ke
» Emily . . A2 . & v b %
,, Ennismore . 77t Shoe s
»» Asphodel . - Ry »

Grave doubts were entertained as to the success of the
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undertaking as far as the province was concerned. There
were not wanting persons ready to publish calumnies ; but
from the first these people made excellent progress in clearing
the land and in raising crops and live stock. The estimated
value of their products up to November 1826 was £12,525,
Halifax currency.

An attack was made upon the loyalty and patriotism of
these people by William Lyon Mackenzie in the Colonial
Advocate of December 8, 1826, but this was promptly refuted.
Not a dozen years were to elapse before many of these settlers
enlisted to quell the incipient rebellion fomented by their
slanderer. Descendants of these immigrants occupy lead-
ing positions in the learned professions to-day and in a large
degree retain the vivacity, wit, and brilliancy so character-
istic of the Irish race the world over.

In the winter of 1826 Peterborough was visited by Sir
Peregrine Maitland, then lieutenant-governor of Upper
Canada. Accompanying him were Colonel Talbot, the
Hon. John Beverley Robinson, George G. Bethune, and the
Hon. Zaccheus Burnham. Passing up the Otonabee they
were met by the Hon. Peter Robinson, Captain Rubidge, and
many of the settlers. Dinner was served at the home of
Captain Rubidge. The party stayed some days in the settle-
ment and were housed in Robinson’s commodious dwelling,
which caused it to be known locally as ‘ Government House.’
The governor received deputations from the various town-
ships and listened to addresses and visited the settlers in the
township of Ennismore. It is quite characteristic of these
Irish settlers that the only note of grievance in their address
was ‘ the want of clergymen to administer to us the comforts
of our Holy Religion and good schoolmasters to instruct
our children.’

The visit of the lieutenant-governor had a very cheering
effect upon the settlers. It was an evidence that the govern-
ment was not unmindful of them so far from their native
land, and they laboured in their wilderness homes with
a cheerfulness that no discouraging event could damp.
They sent loyal and thankful addresses to Lord Bathurst,
and were the means of enticing to Upper Canada many
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more of their countrymen, who have greatly enriched the
province.

For his great work in forming this settlement Robinson
received the thanks of the Emigration Committee of the
British parliament. The settlers always looked upon him as
their benefactor and friend. At a meeting to select a name
for the town, then called Scott’s Plains, it was proposed to
name the place Peterborough as a compliment to Robinson.
The name has also been chosen for the county, which was
formerly called the north riding of Northumberland.

THe GUELPH SETTLEMENT

Many philanthropists had schemes for bringing out emi-
grants. One of these men was John Galt, the Scottish writer.
His scheme was to purchase a large tract of land in Upper
Canada and place upon it hundreds of people of Great Britain
who had no occupation and who desired an opportunity to
raise their families in some colony where they would not be
a tax on the community. Galt had travelled much and had
thus extended his education and widened his knowledge of
public affairs. He wrote on subjects of public interest in the
papers and magazines of the day, and consequently, when
he outlined his plans of forming a company to settle the
vacant lands of Canada, the greatest attention was paid to
his suggestions by the people and the government. He did
not wish at first to take any active part in the undertaking.
Tired of a life of adventure, he had taken up his residence at
Eskgrove, near Musselburgh, and intended to devote his
remaining days to literature and the education of his three
sons. He had not been long there before he was called to a
consultation on Canadian affairs by Frederick John Robinson,
afterwards Viscount Goderich, who was then chancellor of the
Exchequer. Upper Canada was at this time seeking assist-
ance from the home government for the purpose of meeting
liabilities that it had incurred in bettering the internal com-
munications of the province. The chancellor of the Ex-
chequer was prepared to satisfy the existing claims against
the province provided it would guarantee to pay half its civil
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expenses. Galt, through this interview, renewed his interest
in emigration to Canada and consulted many persons well
versed in Canadian affairs, particularly Bishop Macdonell.
The knowledge he now received caused him to modify to
some degree his original ideas regarding emigration. The
result was the formation of the Canada Company, of which
he was appointed secretary.

In 1824, shortly after this company was formed, a govern-
ment commission, consisting of Galt, Sir John Harvey, Colonel
Cockburn, Mr M¢Gillivray, and Mr Davidson, was appointed
to visit Canada and make a valuation of the crown reserves
in the upper province which it was proposed to sell to the
company. The commission decided that 3s. 6d. per acre
would be a fair price. But those interested in the clergy
reserves bitterly opposed the sale of the reserves. The
matter was finally left to arbitration, and in 1826 the com-
pany received the great Huron Tract instead of the reserves,
a decision much more favourable than the one proposed.!

The company was duly chartered with a capital of
£1,000,000, and preparations were at once made for active
operations. In October 1826 John Galt set out for Canada,
and arrived at York, now Toronto, in January 1827. It was
not long before he had over three hundred offers to pur-
chase land. On his first visit to the province he had been
favourably impressed with the land near the township of
Dumfries, the chief town of which had been named Galt after
him by his friend, the Hon. William Dickson. A further
inspection was made, and it verified his early impressions.
He therefore resolved to make this the centre of the first
settlement under the auspices of the company. After a trip
to New York on business he arrived at Dundas on April 21.
The next day, accompanied by a number of persons from the
vicinity of Dundas, he set out for Galt. St George’s Day,
April 23, was the day fixed upon for the commencement of
operations. Accordingly, on that day the whole party set out
from Galt for the site of the new town, under the guidance
of Dr William Dunlop, ‘ Tiger Dunlop,” an eccentric char-
acter who had seen service in the War of 1812 and who was

1 See section 11, p. 515.
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now ‘ Warden of the Canada Company’s Woods and Forests.’
The doctor lost his way, the party wandered about in a pelting
rainstorm, and it was not till nearly sundown that they
reached their destination. Having dried themselves as best
they could beside a fire started by an advance-party, Galt,
Pryor and the jovial doctor, accompanied by two ax-men,
went to the site of the town, and choosing a large maple tree
as the first to be felled in the new settlement, Galt took an ax
from one of the men and gave it the first stroke ; he then
handed the ax to Dr Dunlop, who gave it a second stroke ;
Dunlop in turn gave way to Pryor. The woodmen then
felled the tree. The occasion was not without a degree of
solemnity, which was relieved by the doctor taking a flask of
whisky from his pocket and all three drinking to the pro-
sperity of the future city of Guelph. The name was chosen
in compliment to the royal family. Thus was founded the
present city of Guelph, so beautifully situated on the banks
of the River Speed in the midst of a rich agricultural country.
The work of clearing the land and building habitations for the
workmen was begun the next day. Galt, when in New York,
had engaged, through Buchanan, the British consul, a number
of artisans, carpenters, blacksmiths, wheelwrights, and bakers.
During the summer several lots, about forty in number, were
taken up by settlers, and in the following year a large
party of immigrants arrived from Scotland and took up
land between Guelph and Elora, since named the Scotch
Block.

At this time York was the nearest place from which sup-
plies could be obtained ; but York was too remote and could
be reached only by the circuitous route through Dundas and
Galt. To assist the settlers Galt conceived the plan of
establishing a depot for supplies at the head of Lake Ontario.
He applied for and received a grant of land on the canal con-
necting Burlington Bay with the lake.

While engaged in this work Galt was surprised by the
arrival of a large party of immigrants forwarded from New
York by Buchanan. These people, fifty-seven in number,
had been sent to Caracas in South America by the Columbian
Company, and finding that the glowing picture of conditions
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in the southern continent painted by the agents in England
was a delusion, decided to proceed to North America, and,
with the help of British officials, managed to reach New York,
but in a destitute condition. Buchanan, not knowing the
terms under which persons might locate on the company’s
lands, forwarded them to Galt. From motives of humanity
these people were sent on to Guelph, but they were so weak
from exposure and sickness that they could not earn enough
to support their families; consequently they had to receive
advances from the funds of the company. Galt considered
these people a charge upon the country, and, when making
his annual payment to the government, retained the -money
advanced them. The receiver-general at York said that the
retention of this money would embarrass him ; thereupon
Galt paid over the money retained, and the subject was left for
future investigation and settlement. From the first there
were persons both in England and Canada who were opposed
to the company and who lost no opportunity to injure Galt.
This case of humanity to a starving people was so misrepre-
sented to the directors in London that Galt barely escaped
censure for his generosity. However, he had made no mis-
take. These people, who each received fifty acres of land,
fulfilled all their obligations to the company for advances,
and in other ways kept faith with their benefactor without
the loss of a cent of interest or principal.

The choice of the name of the town was another cause of
annoyance. It was represented to the directors that Galt
had deliberately slighted Lord Goderich, and he received a
letter from the directors condemning him for his choice of a
name and ordering him to change it from Guelph to Goderich.
As deeds and legal documents in which the name Guelph
appeared were made out, Galt pointed out that it would take
an act of the legislature to change the name. He was quite
willing to have the name changed if given directions to this
effect. No more was heard of the matter, and to show that
he had no ill-will against Goderich he named after his lordship
a new town that he founded two years afterwards on the shore
of Lake Huron.

In 1828 Galt sent Pryor to survey the Huron Tract, and
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in February of this year he employed Samuel Strickland,
already referred to as a settler near Peterborough, to super-
intend the outdoor department in the absence of Pryor.
Strickland’s duties were to look after the company’s stores,
keep the labour rolls, and oversee the road-making and bridge-
building and everything connected with the practical ad-
ministration of the settlement. Strickland in his book,
Twenty-seven Years in Canada West, speaks in the highest
terms of Galt as an administrator and a man. He served
three years with the company, then left it because his
salary was reduced after Galt severed his connection with
the enterprise.

Early in the spring of 1829 John Galt left Canada never
to return. For his remaining days he devoted himself to
literature, but in this he eked out but a precarious existence,
until his death at Greenock on April 11, 1839. John Galt
is chiefly remembered in Canadian history as the father of
Sir Alexander Tilloch Galt, one of the most distinguished
Fathers of Confederation and minister of Finance in the first
Dominion cabinet.

After the retirement of Galt the impetus he gave the
affairs of the company continued, and thousands flocked
from the mother country and the continent to settle on its
fertile lands. Hardy sons of the older pioneers went to the
new lands, and the prosperity that came in the first days of
the settlement has continued, so that the Huron Tract is now
one of the most prosperous sections of the province.

THE MACNAB SETTLEMENT

Along the Ottawa River in the county of Renfrew lies the
prosperous township of MacNab. It takes its name from
Archibald MacNab, the last chief of the clan to hold the
family estate. The story of its early settlement is as full
of romance, misunderstandings, and quarrels as any pioneer
settlement in the province.

The ancestral home of the clan was in Perthshire, Scotland,
adjoining the town of Killin. It was here in Kennel House
that the laird was born in 1775. The MacNabs were firm
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adherents of the Stuarts, and some of them paid the death
penalty for their loyalty. The MacNab estate was heavily
involved when the last laird came into possession, and the
burden was still further increased by his extravagance and
lack of ordinary business ability. His unrelenting creditor,
the Earl of Breadalbane, was suing for possession, and the
officers of the crown were on the track of the proud chieftain.
If he were brought before the court he would have to hand
over the deeds of his estate or forfeit his liberty. Therefore,
anxious to maintain his liberty and to have an opportunity
of redeeming his estate by paying off the amount he owed, he
left his ancestral home to consult with his cousin, Dr Hamilton
Buchanan of Leny. After considering the question from all
sides these representatives of the once powerful houses of Mac-
Nab and Arnprior decided that MacNab should go to America,
there retrieve his fortunes, and return to Scotland and recover
the home of his ancestors from his creditor. He was to start
the next day, but the king’s messengers were on his track, and
he was barely able to retreat, partly dressed, out of the back
door of Leny House when the officers tried to gain entrance
at the front door. Dr Hamilton Buchanan, with a shot-gun
at an upper window, threatened to shoot the zealous officers
if they attempted to gain entrance forcibly. Foiled in their
purpose, they set a watch on the house and went to Callander.
MacNab, after receiving food and clothes in the glen, crept
back to the house after nightfall, but was seen by the spy,
who was off at once to inform the officers that the chief was
in Leny House. While on the way to give this information
he was seized by four sturdy Highlanders, gagged, blindfolded,
and carried to a mill and kept a prisoner for two days. Two
servants of the laird’s kinsman prepared the coach and horses,
and at midnight MacNab and Buchanan set out for Dundee,
where they arrived safely. Here MacNab took ship for
London, and thence to Quebec. It is interesting to note that
the two faithful servants afterwards came to Canada. They
were John Buchanan, who lived for many years at Point
Fortune, and Peter MacIntyre, who died at Calabogie Lake
in 1868.

Meanwhile the Earl of Breadalbane had officers looking
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for MacNab in Scotland, but the first tidings they learned of
him were from the Montreal papers, which recorded a great
banquet given in the Canadian city to the recently arrived
Highland chieftain. In Canada the decree of the court had
no power, hence MacNab was free. From Montreal MacNab
went to Glengarry, visited the Highlanders there, and was for
two weeks the guest of that noble friend of the Scottish im-
migrant, Bishop Macdonell. Having received from the bishop
a great deal of valuable information, the chief proceeded to
Toronto to make application for a township on which to locate
a settlement. There had recently been surveyed a township
in the county of Renfrew containing eighty-one thousand
acres. This township, which had not yet been named, was
offered to him, and he was told that if he undertook the
settlement of it he might name it himself. The chief at once
accepted the terms of the government and named the town-
ship MacNab after himself.

The agreement entered into with the government is dated
November 5, 1823, and in part is as follows :

That a township of the usual dimensions be set apart
on the Ottawa River, next to the township of Fitzroy,
for the purpose of being placed under the direction and
superintendence of the Laird of MacNab for settlement.
That the said township remain under his sole direction
for and during the space of eighteen months, when the
progress of the experiment will enable the Government
to judge of the propriety of extending the period. That
patents may issue to any of the settlers of said township,
on certificate from the Laird of MacNab stating that
the settling duties are well and duly performed, and his
claims on the settlers arranged and adjusted ; or patents
may issue to Petitioner in Trust, for any number of
settlers, certified by him as aforesaid ; the fee on each
patent to be One Pound Five Shillings and Fourpence,
sterling. That the Laird of MacNab be permitted to
assign not less than One Hundred Acres to each family
or Male of Twenty-one years of age on taking the oath
of allegiance. That an immediate grant of 1200 acres
of land be assigned to the Laird of MacNab, to be in-
creased to the quantity formerly given to a Field Officer,
on completing the settlement of the township. That
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the old settlers pay the interest on the money laid out
for their use by the Laird of MacNab, either in money
or produce, at the option of the settler ; and that the
settler shall have the liberty to pay up the principal and
interest at any time during the first seven years.

During the next summer MacNab visited his township
to make preparation for the settlers he intended to get from
his estate in Scotland. He was in high spirits and enthusi-
astic regarding the future. He built a large house on the
banks of the Ottawa, which he called ‘ Kennel Lodge ’ after
his Scottish home. From here he addressed a letter to Dr
Hamilton Buchanan, which speaks for itself of his high and
noble purpose.

KENNEL LODGE,
ON THE BANKS OF THE OTTAWA,
10t Aug., 1824.

My DEAR LENEY,—From my last letter you will have
gleaned what my intentions are, and of the progress I
have made. Now I am happy to inform you that all
my arrangements for settlement are complete. The
township of MacNab has to-day been handed over to
me by Sir Peregrine and it contains 80,000 acres of fine,
wooded, arable land—and upwards. You will send out
to me, according to your offer, twenty families, at first.
Give them three months’ provisions, and make each
head of a family, before you give him a passage ticket,
sign the enclosed bond, which has been specially pre-
pared by the Attorney-General. . . . I will meet the
settlers in Montreal, and see each one on the land located
to them, and will provide for their transport to their
lands. They should embark early in April, and I should
feel obliged if you would personally superintend their
embarkation at Greenock. Now I am in a fine way
to redeem the estate at home, and in a few years will
return after having established a name in Canada, and
founded a transatlantic colony of the clan.

The preparations can all be made this winter for their
emigration, and I shall be fully prepared to receive them.
I have a large log house erected close to the banks of
the Ottawa, which, as you will see by the heading of
this letter, I have called after my estate on Loch Tay.

(Signed) MAcCNAB.
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On the receipt of this letter Dr Hamilton Buchanan got
together a band of emigrants consisting of twenty-one heads
of families, each of whom signed a bond to pay £36 for him-
self, £30 for his wife, and £16 for every child, with interest
either in money or produce. On April 19, 1825, the emigrants,
eighty-four in all, embarked at Greenock in the Niagara for
Canada. They arrived in Montreal on May 27 and were met
by the chief, who gave them a genuine Highland welcome. The
settlers set out from Lachine for the ascent of the Ottawa
River in bateaux, and in two or three days landed at Point
Fortune. The luggage was hauled to Hawkesbury, where it
was put on a slow steamer which plied on the Ottawa from
that place to Hull. The voyage up the Ottawa to the Chats
Falls was toilsome, and the whole journey from Montreal
took twenty-eight days.

The settlers were soon located on the land, but, as in the
case of all pioneers, their hardships were great. For two or
three years their cleared land would not produce enough to
keep their families, hence the men had to work for the older
settlers in the adjoining townships to get provisions. In
their distress they blamed the chief for all their misfortunes,
and after a time misunderstandings arose. MacNab wished
to rule the township as a feudal lord and to be the inter-
mediary between the settlers and the government. Many
tales of the harshness of the chief have been related. It is
just possible that the settlers rued their bargain made in
Scotland when once they were in Canada, where land was
cheap. They never seemed to consider that the chief had
expended a large sum to bring them to Canada and that he
should be reimbursed for his outlay. The chief was arbi-
trary, and no doubt acted in a high-handed manner in some
cases, but he was undoubtedly a fine type of the Scottish
gentleman. His detractors did not bear nearly so high a
reputation for probity. While the settlers were in Scotland
or stranded in Montreal they eagerly accepted the terms laid
down by the chief, but when on their lands they forgot their
promise and wished to repudiate their bargain.

In 1830 MacNab met a band of immigrants at Montreal
and induced them to settle on his land and to pay a quitrent
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for ever of two barrels of flour or its equivalent in Indian
corn or oats for every two hundred acres. Again, in 1834,
another large party came from Blair-Atholl, Scotland, and
settled in the township.

After a series of lawsuits with the settlers a truce was
called. The government stepped in, purchased the chief’s
rights to the township for $16,000 and freed the settlers from
any semblance of feudal vassalage. Shortly after this the
chief quitted the township for ever, and for a few years lived
in Hamilton in a small house purchased from his kinsman,
Sir Allan N. MacNab. In 1843 he left Hamilton for the
Orkneys, where he had an estate to which he had recently
fallen heir. He soon squandered this in foolish and lavish
expenditures, and in 1859 he retired to France. His death
took place on April 22, 1860, at Lannion, a small fishing
village in Brittany.

Some writers would have their readers believe that
MacNab was a tyrant who revelled in the oppression of his
people and that he expended thousands of pounds in bringing
poor people to Canada to live in the township allotted to
him just for the joy of lording it over them. But he was
undoubtedly actuated by the highest motives. He thought
he saw a way to improve the lot of poor people of his native
country. He knew that in Upper Canada, with diligence and
perseverance on their part, they would soon reach a position
of comparative affluence. He also thought that as the settlers
prospered he would prosper. His plan failed for himself, but
not for the people who settled in his township. They and
their children were the gainers. MacNab believed that his
scheme was a practical one; so thought Selkirk, and Galt,
and Talbot, and dozens of others of theirs. Every one
profited by the efforts at settlement excepting the pro-
moters who originated the schemes. Not even to-day, after
a hundred years of experience, is there an exact science of
promoting immigration. It is shifted now from the indi-
vidual and the company to the government, and the errors
are as expensive and as evident as at any time in the history
of immigration.

VOL. XVII G
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THE HALIBURTON SETTLEMENT

In 1861 the Canadian Land and Emigration Company of
London, England, purchased ten townships.from the Crown
Land department of Upper Canada. The townships were
Dysart, Dudley, Harcourt, Guildford, Horburn, Bruton,
Havelock, Eyre, and Clyde, and one in the county of Vic-
toria. After a good deal of misunderstanding the purchase
was concluded in May 1865. The company bought 362,125
acres at fifty cents per acre, water areas being excluded.
Ordinary settlement duties were to be performed on 261,544
acres in fifteen years. Ten per cent of the purchase-money
was to be refunded to the company for constructing leading
roads through their lands. Chiefly through misunderstand-
ings with the crown officials, the company, after operating
for about two years, came to an end. The settlement was
slow in starting, but within a few years prospered, and the
towns of Haliburton and Minden are now thriving centres.

In the review of the various settlements notice has been
taken only of the large migrations from England, Ireland or
Scotland under the auspices of philanthropists such as Talbot,
Selkirk, MacNab, or Galt. Besides these there were many
others who in a quiet way promoted emigration to the pro-
vince. In some remote part of the kingdom of Great Britain
and Ireland a family had courage and, of course, the means to
leave their home and brave a two or three months’ sea-voyage
to America. Once located on a grant of land, they found
themselves, after a year's toil, on the way to affluence. What
they had done their friends from ‘home ’ could do ; there-
fore, anxious for company and to spread abroad the good news
of plenty, they wrote flattering letters of the fertility of the
soil and the wealth that might be gained by healthy if un-
remitting labour. In many cases their friends secured the
necessary passage-money and crossed the Atlantic and took
up land beside them.

Thus by land companies, by government effort, and by
individual effort the wilderness of Upper Canada became
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populated and the forests fell before the ax of the pioneer
builders of Canada. Wheat-fields and stock-farms, peach
and apple orchards and vineyards now cover the land.
Thriving villages, towns, and cities have sprung up on the
shores of the mediterranean seas known as the Great Lakes.
The prosperity of the twentieth century is largely due to the
foundation laid by the pioneers of the close of the eighteenth
and the opening of the nineteenth century.
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account of the history of Ontario politics. C.R.W.

Biggar’s biography of Sir Oliver Mowat and Colonel
Clarke’s Sixty Years in Upper Canada both rank as author-
ities; but one of them is biographical, and the other is
autobiographical ; while both are confined to a part of the
period. No adequate use, moreover, is made in either of
them of the wealth of material to be found in the back files
of the Globe, the Leader, and the Mail, in defunct periodicals
such as the Canadian Monthly and National Review, the
Nation, the Week, and the Bystander, or in the very consider-
able pamphlet literature of the time. In one sense, there-
fore, this essay may be said to break virgin ground. It
cannot pretend to be exhaustive or definitive. The time for
writing the &istoire intime of Ontario politics has not yet
arrived. But within the limitations imposed upon it, it is
an attempt to do what has not been done before.

’I‘HERE has been attempted as yet no continuous

I

THE PATENT COMBINATION

HE Province of Ontario was created by the British
North America Act, and came into existence on July 1,

1867. The organization of the government of the
province, however, was not completed in a night. It was
not until July 8, 1867, that the representative of the crown

was sworn in under the title of lieutenant-governor; it was
103
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not until July 20 that the cabinet of ministers was com-
pleted ; and it was only on December 27 that the first
legislative assembly of Ontario met at Toronto in the old
Parliament Buildings. Nor were these arrangements final.
The appointment to the lieutenant-governorship was merely
a provisional one: Major-General Henry William Stisted,
C.B., Ontario’s first lieutenant-governor, was a purely mili-
tary personage pressed into service to fill a gap. * The prin-
cipal duties of the Provisional Lieutenant-Governor,’ it was
announced, ‘will be to form a local administration, to
direct the issue of the writs for an election of the Assembly
of Ontario, and to call the Assembly together when it has
been elected. When the character of the House has been
clearly ascertained, the duties of the Provisional Governor
will be about at an end, and the time will have come for
the appointment of his more permanent successor.’! Just
why a provisional lieutenant-governor was necessary to per-
form these duties is not immediately clear ; but it may
safely be assumed that the arrangement was dictated by
party exigencies at Ottawa. The truth is that, after Con-
federation, Sir John A. Macdonald was in the strange position
of having more offices to fill than men to fill them. In any
case, General Stisted was relieved of his duties the next
summer,and William (afterwards Sir William) Pearce Howland
was appointed in his stead. ‘ Yankee Howland,” as How-
land was popularly named, owing to his American birth and
upbringing, was a tradesman who had risen to prominence as
a liberal politician ; he had entered the Great Coalition in
1864 with George Brown, but had remained in the government
when George Brown left it. He was minister of Inland
Revenue in the government formed by Sir John A. Mac-
donald in 1867 ; and his appointment as lieutenant-governor
of Ontario was perhaps an attempt on Sir John A. Macdonald’s
part to get him out of the way, perhaps an attempt to reward
him for his past services, or possibly both.

The gentleman upon whom Lieutenant-Governor Stisted
called to form an administration was John Sandfield Mac-
donald. In doing this Stisted was of course acting upon

1 The Leader, July o, 1867.
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instructions from Ottawa. The hand was the hand of
General Stisted, but the voice was the voice of Sir John A.
Macdonald. Sir John A. Macdonald and John Sandfield
Macdonald had been political opponents for many years :
one was a moderate conservative, the other was an advanced
reformer ; one was an Orangeman, the other was a Roman
Catholic ; one had fathered Confederation, the other had
opposed it. Yet Sir John A. Macdonald saw, with his usual
eye for strategical advantages, that, partly because of these
very facts, Sandfield Macdonald was the best man to be
placed in charge of the upper province. The conservative
foothold in the upper province had become, since the advent
of George Brown and his agitation for ‘ Rep. by Pop.’, some-
what precarious; and a purely conservative administration
would have had difficulty in getting a majority at the polls.
But by enlisting the services of Sandfield Macdonald, Sir
John effected a coalition (or, as Sandfield Macdonald after-
wards named it, a ‘ Patent Combination ') which, he felt sure,
would carry the province. The only reformer who had been
able to get together a stable administration during the last
years of the Union, Sandfield Macdonald might be counted
upon to win over a considerable number of reform votes ; an
opponent of Confederation who had resolved to make the
best of the new order, he might serve to conciliate that large
element which had been strongly anti-Confederationist ;
and a Roman Catholic, he would be able to carry with him
the Roman Catholic vote, for which George Brown in the
Globe had been angling openly.! At the same time, Sir John
felt that he could swing the conservative vote into line also ;
for even if some of the old guard rebelled at voting for a
reformer like Sandfield Macdonald, it was only necessary to
point out that the alternative was George Brown. Thus
Ontario would be assured a strong administration, ready to
work in harmony with the government at Ottawa in setting
the Confederation scheme a-working.

John Sandfield Macdonald was a native Canadian, of
Highland-Scottish extraction. At an early age he had
entered on the practice of law in the town of Cornwall, and

1 Editorials in the Leader, May 29 and July 6, 1867.
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had eventually amassed a considerable fortune. He was at
the time of Confederation one of the oldest members of
parliament : he had entered the first Union parliament in
1841, when Lord Sydenham was governor-in-chief, and he
had continued to sit in parliament since that time. His
political course had been a somewhat curious one. He had
been elected for Glengarry in 1841 nominally as a conserva-
tive ; but when parties began to form, he was found voting
with Robert Baldwin and the liberals. Between Baldwin
and himself there was always the greatest harmony ; from
1849 to 1851 Sandfield Macdonald was solicitor-general
in the Baldwin-La Fontaine administration. The rise of
George Brown and the Clear Grit party, however, drove him
to the cross-benches. An advocate of the ‘ double majority’
principle and of fair play to the French Canadians, he could
not sympathize with George Brown's agitation for ‘ Rep.
by Pop.” and his cry of French domination. Between the
two men there was never any real cordiality. Sandfield
Macdonald, indeed, stood so much aloof from the Clear Grit
section of the reform party that Sir John A. Macdonald had
on one occasion at least tried to tempt him with the sweets
of office. It was not surprising, therefore, that he should
have chosen him in 1867 to form the first administration of
Ontario.

It was the desire of both Sir John A. Macdonald and John
Sandfield Macdonald to establish the new administration
on a no-party basis. The work of the legislative assembly
promised to be more administrative than legislative, to
partake more of the character of a county council than of a
parliament ; and there seemed, therefore, to be, under the
circumstances, no broad principles at stake to divide parties.
Sir John A. Macdonald even took the hustings and denounced
the evils of partyism : ‘ Party,” he said, ‘ is merely a struggle
for office ; the madness of many for the gain of a few.'? A
coalition had carried Confederation; and it was deemed
advisable to entrust a coalition with the task of putting Con-
federation into effect in Ontario. This coalition, explained
the government organ, was not to be ‘ what is understood

1 Speech at Chatham (the Leader, August 1, 1867).
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by a coalition to carry certain measures, but a combination
to complete that constitutional superstructure which must
precede ordinary legislation.’ !

It was on these lines that Sandfield Macdonald constructed
his administration. On July 15 the first three members of
it were sworn in : the Hon. John Sandfield Macdonald as
attorney-general ; John (afterwards Sir John) Carling as com-
missioner of Agriculture and Public Works; and Stephen
Richards as commissioner of Crown Lands. The appoint-
ment of ‘honest John Carling,’ a wealthy brewer, met
with general approval ; he had moderate conservative lean-
ings and had already occupied the post of receiver-general
in the Cartier-Macdonald government of 1862. Without
pretension as a speaker, he was yet an excellent adminis-
trator, and a very useful man about the lobbies.? The name
of Richards did not meet with such a favourable reception.
The Globe, with that crude humour which characterized
it during the régime of George Brown, inquired in capital
letters, * Who is Stephen Richards ?’ And even the Leader
admitted that Richards would not have been its choice.
Nevertheless a very much worse appointment might have
been made. The commissioner of Crown Lands proved
himself a man of high principles and good average ability,
and after four years the Globe was constrained to pay him
an unwilling tribute. ‘ Mr Richards,’ it confessed, ‘ is slow,
hesitating, hair-splitting, and shabby, but he works.” On
July 20 the remaining members of the cabinet were sworn
in : Matthew (afterwards Sir Matthew) Crooks Cameron
as secretary and registrar of the province, and Edmund
Burke Wood as treasurer. Both these men were distin-
guished members of the Upper Canada bar. Cameron was
a high tory, who openly avowed on more than one occa-
sion his admiration for the Family Compact, and deplored
the advent of democratic government. Wood (who rejoiced
in the political sobriquet of ‘ Big Thunder’) was a reformer,

! The Leader, July 16, 1867.

*  Mr. Carling is not a prominent man in debate, but a tolerably active man in
those matters which do not require much speaking in public. No man was more
active than he in doing what business is done in the corridor.”—Edward Blake,
speaking at St Catharines (the Globe, December 8, 1870).
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and had hitherto been rated in the ranks of the Clear Grit
party.

It was freely charged against Sandfield Macdonald that
in the formation of his cabinet he submitted to dictation
from Ottawa. His government was derided as a fantoccino
ministry, the strings of which were pulled by Sir John A.
Macdonald ; and the way in which the two Macdonalds
‘ hunted in couples ’ during the elections of 1867 gave colour
to the charge. Sandfield Macdonald, however, was not the
sort of man to submit to interference or dictation ;! his most
distinguishing characteristic was perhaps his independence ; 2
and in Sir John A. Macdonald’s official biography there are
not wanting signs that he was not at all amenable to advice
from Ottawa.®? The charge that he was under the thumb
of Sir John A. Macdonald may therefore be dismissed as
baseless.

It was evident from the first that the Sandfield Macdonald
government was going to meet with opposition. A reform
convention had been held at Toronto in the spring of 1867
under the auspices of George Brown and the Globe, at which
the attitude of the reform party toward coalition govern-
ments had been defined.* The coalition of 1864, by means
of which Confederation had been carried through, was
justified on the ground of sovereign necessity ; but coalitions
of opposing political parties for ordinary administrative
purposes were condemned as resulting in ‘ corruption, extra-
vagance, and the abandonment of principle.” The resolution
embodying these views was not carried unanimously ; for
W. P. Howland and William M¢Dougall, both of whom
had remained in the Great Coalition after George Brown
had left it, defended the continuance of coalition government
with force and courage. But George Brown and his friends
had been able to carry the convention with them. Sandfield
Macdonald knew, therefore, that in forming a coalition
government he would have to count on the hostility of George

1 Editorial in the Leader, November 23, 1867.

2 “ Perhaps the most specially distinguishing characteristic of Mr Macdonald’s
mind was his personal independence.’—Obituary notice in the Globe, June 3, 1872.

3 Sir Joseph Pope, Memoirs of Siv John Macdonald, vol. ii. pp. 20 and 141.
¢ John Lewis, George Brown (‘ Makers of Canada ’ series), pp. 208-9.
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Brown and his wing of the reform party. Indeed, he was
openly warned by the Globe that if he did not form his ad-
ministration on an exclusive party basis, his blood would be
upon his own head.

It is difficult to justify the introduction of partyism into
Ontario politics by George Brown and his friends in 1867.
It is true, as Edward Blake pointed out later, that the
two-party system is essential to the proper working of the
English form of responsible government. But it must be
admitted that there were in 1867 no principles at stake
drawing hard and fast lines between the parties. The new
administration had not announced its programme ; and, in
any case, its' work promised to be so much like that of ‘a
glorified county council ’ that there seemed to be no excuse
for reviving in connection with it the political feuds of the
Union. If parties had to come, they should have been
allowed to grow up naturally ; they should not have been
perpetuated in the new arena from the pre-Confederation
period. As it was, the only charge that could be levelled
against the government, apart from the baseless charge that
it would be subservient to the conservative politicians at
Ottawa, was that its members had not, in quite other times
and circumstances, belonged to the same political party.
The term °factionist,” therefore, which was applied to the
followers of George Brown, was not wholly inapplicable.
Partyism was their raison d’étre.

The secret of George Brown’s attitude was that he be-
lieved that his followers were in a majority in Ontario, and
that he should have been entrusted with the administration
of the province. And it must be confessed that he had a
considerable following in the country and some men of out-
standing ability as his supporters. At first the government
newspapers had attempted to belittle the ‘ Brownites.” ‘Only
fancy,” said the Leader, ‘a Government composed of Alex.
Mackenzie, Millionaire Edgar, Black Bottle Blain, and
Billy Burns.” But it soon came to be realized that a party
which contained men like Edward Blake and Adam Crooks,
for instance, was not to be despised. The faculty which
George Brown showed at this time of attracting brilliant
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lawyers such as these to his standard was remarkable. Blake
especially would have been an acquisition to any political
party. A young man of only thirty-four years of age, he
was already the leading Chancery lawyer in Upper Canada,
and was in receipt of a professional income of over $20,000
a year. He had had no political or parliamentary experi-
ence, but his ability as a speaker was great, and his know-
ledge of parliamentary and constitutional law profound.
He was, moreover, actuated by the purest public spirit ;
office had no mercenary attractions for him. It was doubted
whether, with his forensic style and his rigid integrity, he
would loom as large in the political arena as he had in the
court-room ; but the doubt might have been spared. No
lawyer ever took to political life more rapidly and naturally
than Edward Blake.

The elections, not only for the provincial legislature,
but also for the Dominion House of Commons, took place
at the end of the summer of 1867 (August-September). In
both the opposition fared with less success than they had
anticipated. The redoubtable George Brown was defeated
in South Ontario when running for the House of Commons,
and so bitterly did he feel the defeat that he resigned the
leadership of the liberal party and never again sought elec-
tion to any political assembly. In the local elections Adam
Crooks was defeated in Toronto, and Archibald M¢Kellar,
anotherof Brown’s lieutenants, was defeated in Kent (although
he was elected later for Bothwell) ; and when the month-
long elections were over the ‘ Brownites ' found themselves
in a decided minority in both the provincial and the federal
houses. Almost their only consolation was the brilliant
double victory that Edward Blake succeeded in winning in
West Durham and South Bruce! On the other hand, the
‘ Patent Combination ’ fared very well. Not only were all
the ministers returned, but some private members of experi-

1 In the Leader, July 6, 1867, there is an amusing picture of Blake’s cam-
paign methods : ‘ Mr Edward Blake is a man of business and infinite ambition.
He publishes an address to the electors of South Bruce in the morning, declaring
himself a candidate for the representation of that Riding in the Local Legislature,

and on the same day jumps into his yacht and sets out for West Durham with the
intention of wooing the electors of that Riding, for the sake of their dowry in the
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ence and ability were elected as its supporters. Sir Henry
Smith, who had been solicitor-general in the MacNab-Morris
government of 1854, and speaker of the house of assembly
in 1858-59, was returned for Frontenac; and R. W. (after-
wards Sir Richard) Scott was elected for Ottawa. In a
house of eighty-two members the government numbered
among its supporters almost fifty.

The first legislative assembly of Ontario met on December
27, 1867, in the old Parliament Buildings in Toronto, the
scene of many a fierce political struggle in the days of the
Family Compact. In the first session it was not to be
expected that there would be much work done. The great
majority of the members (seventy-two out of eighty-two)
had never sat in parliament before, and it was thought they
would require time to orient themselves. Even the speaker
chosen, John Stevenson of Lennox, ‘one of those Reformers
who at the last election stood shoulder to shoulder with Con-
servatives,” was innocent of parliamentary experience. More-
over, the financial terms of Confederation had not yet been
finally arranged. Until the accounts between the Dominion
and the Provinces of Ontario and Quebec had been settled,
and the exact financial position of Ontario ascertained, it
was necessary to proceed very slowly in all matters involving
the expenditure of money. The speech from the throne
contained, therefore, the promise of few public bills, and
it was confidently expected that the session would be a short
and uncontentious one.

The expectation proved unfounded. Hardly had the
house got down to business when the prime minister began
to have trouble with his supporters. When the house re-
assembled after the New Year’s recess, the private members
began to flood it with private bills. Although the govern-
ment had only two bills to introduce, Sir Henry Smith, for
instance, had no less than five, and several of these dealt with
matters that ought properly to have been the subject of govern-

shape of a seat in the House of Commons. . . . We expect to hear that West
Durham was startled from its propriety on the arrival of the political wooer in his
yacht. Accustomed to the severe simplicity of farmer Monroe, we very much
fear that the yacht, the eye-glass, and a high style of convention eloquence will
be too much for it.’
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ment legislation. ‘If the Attorney-General is not careful,’
said the Globe, ‘ it will soon become a doubtful point whether
he or Sir Henry Smith is to lead the House, and direct its
legislation.” For several days Sandfield Macdonald allowed
matters to take their course ; but when John Coyne intro-
duced a bill respecting Division Courts, the premier rose in
his place and remonstrated with his followers. ‘ He would
say that there appeared to him an unusual desire on the part
of honourable members to take out of the hands of the govern-
ment that responsibility which attached to the government
at all times. The laws of the country ought not to be
legislated upon—no alterations should be made in them, at
all events—without asking the government. Several bills,
mostly of an important nature, had already been introduced
in this way, without any previous consultation with the
Government ; and the Government were no longer prepared
to sanction this course.”! Sir Henry Smith, in reply,
attacked the premier, and accused him of wishing to ‘carry
the whole policy of the administration in his breeches’
pocket.’

During the session there were open disagreements even
among the ministers. ‘ We cannot permit the occasion to
pass,” said the Leader, at the close of the session, ‘ without
pointing to the somewhat uncalled-for displays of divergent
views upon many subjects which were made by ministers in
the House.” Perhaps the most notable instance of ministerial
disagreement was in connection with what was known as
‘ the Battle of the Gauges.” The legislature had been ap-
proached by a number of small railway companies seeking
incorporation for the purpose of building local lines. On
account of their greater cheapness these companies sought
permission to build narrow-gauge roads; in some cases it
was a question of a narrow-gauge road or none at all. The
Grand Trunk Railway Company, however, was hopeful of
being able some day to absorb these local lines, and therefore
fought hard in the Railway Committee to force them to build
broad-gauge roads. The provincial treasurer, E. B. Wood,
was somewhat under Grand Trunk influence, and when the

Speech, Legislative Assembly, January 22, 1868.
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Toronto, Grey, and Bruce Railway Company sought the
privilege of building a narrow-gauge road, he brought pressure
to bear on the committee to refuse the privilege.! In the
country at large, however, feeling was very strongly in favour
of the narrow-gauge road ; the farmers wanted railways as
quickly and cheaply as they could be got (regardless of how
long the day of satisfactory railway transportation in Ontario
might be deferred) ; and so, when the Railway Committee
reported its bill, another minister, the provincial secretary,
M. C. Cameron, rose in the house and forced through an
amendment conceding the narrow-gauge road. The lack of
union, indeed, throughout the ministerial ranks on this and
other questions was only too marked.

The opposition was compact and aggressive. There had
been, at the beginning of the session, a movement to make
Blake the leader of the opposition ; but Blake, feeling him-
self too inexperienced in parliamentary affairs, had declined
the honour. The leadership then devolved upon Archibald
McKellar, and for nearly three sessions Blake and the greater
part of the opposition worked loyally under the leadership
of the member for Bothwell. Early in the session the oppo-
sition very nearly won a victory in the debate on dual
representation. Many of the members of the assembly,
including the leaders on both sides, occupied seats not only
in the legislature of Ontario, but also in the Dominion House
of Commons. There was a time when even Sir John A.
Macdonald had thought of occupying a seat in the local
house? The close connection between the two houses which
this system of dual representation brought about was re-
garded by the opposition as a source of danger ; it was their
theory that the two houses should be as separate and distinct
as possible. Blake, therefore, although he held seats both
at Ottawa and Toronto, introduced a bill forbidding dual
representation—a sort of self-denying ordinance by which
a member of one house was unable to occupy a seat in the
other. This bill was opposed by the government, on the
ground that the question was one for the constituencies to

1 The Globe, February 26, 1868
2 Sir Joseph Pope, Memoirs of gir John Macdonald, vol. ii. p. zo footnote.
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decide upon as individual cases might arise—a very proper
argument, especially at a time when there was an unpre-
cedented demand upon the parliamentary talent of the
country. Yet the bill was defeated only by the narrow
majority of two. An even greater success attended the in-
genious attempt of the opposition leader to sow discord
in the government camp by moving ‘that an address be
presented to His Excellency praying him to recommend an
appropriation of $4000 to Isabella Mackenzie, widow of the
late William Lyon Mackenzie, for her sole use and benefit.’
However much one may deplore here the resuscitation of
dead issues, it must be confessed that the motion proved very
embarrassing to the government. The display of divergent
views on the part of different members of the cabinet which
it called forth can only be described as amusing. The pro-
vincial secretary jumped up and delivered himself of a pane-
gyric on the Family Compact ; the premier absented himself
from voting ; and the commissioner of Crown Lands, alone
among the ministers, cast his vote in favour of the motion.
The second session of the first legislative assembly of
Ontario, which began on November 3, 1868, opened under
auspices somewhat more favourable to the government.
Sandfield Macdonald had been able before the end of the
first session to get his followers a little more in hand, and
during the summer a troubler in Israel was removed by the
death of Sir Henry Smith. Moreover, during the early part
of the second session, Sandfield Macdonald succeeded in
detaching from their allegiance to the opposition leader a
number of members to the left of the speaker. These were,
for the most part, reformers who had been elected as anti-
coalitionists, but who were not willing to submit to the
dictation of George Brown and the Globe. They were known
as the ‘ Nine Martyrs,” a name which was attached to them
by the Globe when they wrote to that journal in aggrieved
terms complaining of the treatment they had received at its
hands. They brought an accession to the voting strength of
the government, but probably in the long-run they did the
government more harm than good. A wvolte-face is always
liable to shock people, and there was no doubt that most
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of the Martyrs were guilty of going back on their election
pledges. The means, moreover, by which some of them had
been won over were not thought to be above reproach ; many
believed the Globe’s assertion that they had been ‘ gradually
bought up.” ‘ Their price,’” said the Globe, with an agility
in dodging the law of libel born of long practice, ‘is known
to every member of the Assembly.’

Notwithstanding this defection from their ranks, however,
the opposition pursued their attack on the government with
unabated vigour. Their first victim was the provincial
secretary. Cameron, who was a criminal lawyer with a
reputation second to none in the province, had been engaged
to defend the prisoner Whelan in the D’Arcy M¢Gee murder
trial. Contrary to all right usage, he had carried out his
engagement ; and Blake, therefore, took the first opportunity
that presented itself of moving a resolution that * No Minister
of the Crown shall act as Counsel against the Crown, on a
Crown prosecution.” The principle here laid down was so
proper, and the conduct of the provincial secretary so inde-
fensible, that even the premier was forced to abandon his
colleague. ‘I rather excused than justified him,” was the
best he could say ; and he promised that ‘ the government
would not permit any more offences of this kind.’*

The opposition scored heavily in the country also by
attacking the estimates for the new Government House.
‘ The reputation of the attorney-general for economical ad-
ministration,” said the Globe, ‘ has been a good deal damaged
by the extravagance in connection with the Governor's resi-
dence.” And undoubtedly, to the hard-working farmers of
Ontario, $120,000, which was the estimated cost of the new
building, seemed an unnecessarily large sum. It was pointed
out to farmers whose houses had cost $1000 that no less than
$7000 was to be spent on the housing of the lieutenant-
governor's horses. Several thousands, moreover, of public
money (‘of Methodist money,” exclaimed the Christian
Guardian) were to be expended upon a ball-room. This
iniquitous waste of public money was all over the country
imputed to the government for unrighteousness.

1 Speech, Legislative Assembly, November 13, 1868.
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It was in the third session, however, which began on
November 3, 1869, that the opposition won its greatest
tactical success. In order to conciliate the people of Nova
Scotia, among whom there had arisen a widespread movement
towards the repeal of Confederation, the government of
Sir John A. Macdonald had been induced to pass an act,
known as the Nova Scotia Act, granting Nova Scotia better
financial terms than had been arranged at the Quebec Con-
ference. This action of the Dominion government had been
attacked by Blake during the previous session of the legis-
lature, in a series of resolutions declaring that the financial
arrangements made by the Nova Scotia Act were unfair to
Ontario, and should not have been entered into without a
general revision and readjustment of the financial arrange-
ments as between the several provinces. This was an attack,
not on the government at Toronto, but on the govern-
ment at Ottawa. The opposition, however, was aware that
Sandfield Macdonald was anxious to preserve the fullest har-
mony between the Dominion and the provincial governments,
and these resolutions were calculated, therefore, to put the
Sandfield Macdonald government in something of a dilemma.
It would have to condemn the action of the Dominion govern-
ment, or seem to betray the interests of Ontario. In the
second session a way had been found out of the dilemma
by the moving of the six months’ hoist. But when the house
reassembled in the autumn of 1869 Blake again moved a
series of resolutions, thirteen in number, condemning the
Nova Scotia Act in very much the same terms as before. The
first eleven resolutions were defeated by the moving of the
six months’ hoist ; the twelfth resolution was withdrawn ;
but when the thirteenth, which embodied the main principle
for which the opposition had been contending, came to be
voted upon, it became apparent that the government would
not be able to carry the house with it. Thereupon, in
order to save itself from defeat, the government executed
a right-about-face, and voted in a body for the very principle
against which it had been contending. It was many a day
before the government was allowed to forget ‘ the thirteenth
resolution.’
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Toward the end of the third session there was a change
in the leadership of the opposition.! M¢Kellar had up to this
point led the party in the house, and Blake, although pro-
minent in debate, had occupied only the fourth seat in the
second row. Mc¢Kellar now, recognizing the superior ability
of Blake, magnanimously insisted that the leadership should
be transferred to him ; and Blake was no longer able to plead
inexperience, since he had already shown himself an admirable
parliamentary tactician. Blake was therefore installed in the
first seat to the left of the speaker, and led the party during
the rest of the third and all of the fourth session.

The attack of the opposition during Blake’s period of
leadership was concentrated largely upon one point in the
government’s defences—the way in which the government
was administering the public moneys. The charge was not
one of extravagance. Except for the single awful lapse in
connection with Government House, Sandfield Macdonald
was admitted even by his enemies to be an exemplar of
economy : Blake, indeed, on more than one occasion had
criticized him for his parsimony.? What proved the undoing
of the Sandfield Macdonald government was its surplus.
Partly as the result of rigid economy, but still more because
of the excellent terms awarded Ontario in the financial
arbitration between the provinces and the Dominion after
Confederation,® it very soon became clear that Ontario
would have a surplus of several millions. The greater part
of this surplus was invested in the debentures and other public
securities of the Dominion of Canada ; but it proved too
great a temptation not to use a little of it in the interests of
party patronage. Sandfield Macdonald was a frank prac-
titioner of the spoils system : there is something refreshing in
the honesty with which he avowed it. During the elections
of 1867 he made a speech at Hamilton which revealed his
attitude at the outset : ‘ If you have any axes to grind,” he
said to the electors, ‘ send them up by my friend Mr O’Reilly.”*

! Editorial in the Globe, February 10, 1870.

2 Speech, Legislative Assembly, February 18, 1868.

¢ Editorial on ‘ The Ontario Surplus ’ in the Globe, December 5, 1868.
¢ The Globe, September 3, 1867.
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And when he was attacked in the house for this speech, he
boldly defended himself : * His principle was, that if the
Government had anything to give, they would give it to their
friends, and if they had anything to give after that, they
would give it to their opponents. That had been the practice
of every administration since he had been in public life.’!
Hamilton, when it failed to return O’Reilly, was made to feel
the weight of the government’s displeasure. The Deaf and
Dumb Institute, which had been situated there, was removed
to Belleville ; for Belleville had returned a government sup-
porter. And Strathroy, which had gone Reform, received
no better treatment at the government’s hands. When a
deputation waited on the premier with a petition that the
government prison should be built in Strathroy, they were
met by the famous retort, * What the hell has Strathroy done
for me ?’ %2; and the prison was built in another riding. Some
of Sandfield Macdonald’s obiter dicta have a distinctly Wal-
polean ring : ‘ Stick by me, and I will stick by you’; ‘ What
do you want, gentlemen ? Name your price, and you shall
have it’; ‘A government must support its supporters,’ etc.
On the other hand, it is only fair to remark that Sandfield
Macdonald did not always mean all he said. He himself
explained that ‘ he had a bad habit of joking with a grave
face’; and in his last session he complained bitterly that
‘ he could not make any jocular remark in the lobbies or in
the halls of a hotel without there being some spies around him
to tell it ; and the next morning it would appear in the Globe,
with the worst possible construction put upon it.*> To regard
Sandfield Macdonald as personally corrupt would be a grave
mistake ; he had merely the idea of nearly every other
practical politician of his day regarding the distribution of
patronage. And even here he was not a bad guardian of the
public interests. There was a somewhat unusual sincerity
in the apology he made for himself when Blake detected in
the budget a small item of which no very satisfactory account
could be given. ‘I have been very economical,” said the

1 Speech, Legislative Assembly, January 13, 1868.
2 The Globe, August 24, 1871.
3 Speech, Legislative Assembly, January 6, 1871.
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premier ; ‘but sometimes it is very hard to resist these
people.’ 1

The policy, moreover, which Sandfield Macdonald adopted
of keeping the administration of the public moneys as far as
possible in his own hand proved a second point of attack for
the opposition. In the legislative assembly of United Canada
Sandfield Macdonald had been a sleepless champion of the
right of parliament to control expenditure ; but in the Ontario
legislature he seems to have felt that the business to be trans-
acted was of so much more local and administrative a char-
acter that it called for a different policy. Sir John A. Mac-
donald believed in circumscribing the sphere of the provincial
legislatures ; he had been in favour of a legislative rather
than a federal union, and would doubtless have been glad to
see the provincial legislatures reduced to administrative coun-
cils, such as those that exist in the South African provinces
to-day. And there is some reason for believing that Sand-
field Macdonald agreed with him in this view.? Sandfield
Macdonald never made any attempt to magnify the sphere
of the provincial assembly, as Sir Oliver Mowat did later ;
and it is difficult to explain on any other hypothesis his deter-
mination to substitute executive for parliamentary control
of public business. A foretaste of the premier’s policy was
given the house on the second day of the first session : when
it was proposed to appoint a committee on emergencies,
the government declared itself opposed to such a step, and
made it clear that it intended to take the appointment of all
offices in the house into its own hands. ‘Such an attempt,’
said the Globe, ‘ to reduce the Legislature to the position of
a mere department of the Government, comes very strangely
from an old Liberal like the Attorney-General.’® During
the second session several large appropriations of money
were made without any detailed knowledge on the part of the
legislature as to the manner in which the money was to be
spent. A lump sum of $20,000, for instance, was voted to
compensate dismissed officials ; but no explanation was offered

1 Speech, Legislative Assembly, January 16, 1871.
2 C. R. W. Biggar, Sir Oliver Mowat, p. 146.
8 Editorial, January 13, 1868.
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as to how the money was to be distributed.! But the esti-
mates for the year 1871 afforded perhaps the most striking
exemplification of the government’s policy. For a Central
Prison there was voted $150,000; for an Agricultural Col-
lege, $100,000; for a College of Technology, $50,000 ; for
drainage works, $153,000; for colonization roads, $50,000 ;
and (an item of which much was destined to be heard)
for railway grants, $1,500,000: a sum altogether of over
$2,000,000 to be expended at the discretion of the ministers,
and without any real parliamentary control. ‘A sum equal
to four-fifths of the ordinary revenue is handed over to the
sole discretion of a man who has openly announced * axe-
grinding "’ to be part of his system of government.’? The
opposition took a strong and definite stand against this policy.
In the session of 1870-71 Blake moved a resolution to the
effect that every order-in-council granting railway aid should
be subject to ratification by the legislative assembly. The
resolution was voted down, but it became a principal plank
in the opposition platform in the elections of 1871.

The enthusiasm and fervour with which the opposition
threw itself into the campaign had in it something fanatical.
‘ Popular self-government in all that relates to municipal
affairs and interests ; resistance to arbitrary and irresponsible
authority ; local government of all local affairs ; parliamen-
tary control of the public expenditure; strict ministerial
responsibility to the legislature ; economy, not merely in
theory but in practice, as regards the expenditure of the
public money ’ 3—this was their official platform. It sounded
like an echo from the days of the struggle for responsible
government. The editorial of the Globe on the eve of the
election campaign ended with the words : ‘ GOD DEFEND THE
RicaT.” And even Blake fell into a devotional strain. ‘ We
are not afraid,’ he said at Hamilton, ‘ to appeal to the con-
stituencies of the country for their intelligent judgment—
to appeal to Him in whom we live and move and have our
being—to appeal to Him without whom not a sparrow falleth
to the ground—to appeal to Him in this crisis of our national

1 Editorial in the Globe, January 25, 1869. 2 Ibid., March 20, 1871.
3 The Globe, February 15, 1871. :
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existence and to call upon Him, as I ask you to join with me
in doing, in the prayer that God may defend the right.’

This method of attack proved not unsuccessful. During
the course of the elections Sandfield Macdonald was confined
to his room with a serious attack of illness, and in his absence
from the hustings many old liberals reverted to their party
allegiance. The impression, moreover, had been sedulously
spread by the opposition that Sandfield Macdonald was in
league with Sir John A. Macdonald, and subservient to him.
‘ The country,” said the Globe, ‘ has not forgotten the doings
of the last election, when J. S. played the part of John A.’s
shadow, or Man Friday, in so many different places and in
so many ways.” Consequently there was a decided falling-
off in the coalitionist vote ; and when all the returns were
in, it became clear that the government would have difficulty
in getting together a working majority. Its fate, in fact,
seemed to depend on the votes of a few independent members.

The situation with which Sandfield Macdonald was con-
fronted, when he came to call the newly elected assembly
together, was a singularly difficult and unprecedented one.
After the elections there had been the usual number of elec-
tion appeals. Under the old system, which was in force up
to 1870 in Ontario, election appeals had been heard by special
committees of the house after the house had assembled.
But in the last session of the legislature there had been passed
a new Act for Controverted Elections, which threw the burden
of hearing election appeals on the courts. When, therefore,
Sandfield Macdonald came to call the assembly together, he
found that no fewer than six members had been unseated
under the stern rule of the new election law ; and most of
these were government supporters. There were, moreover,
two other seats which were vacant for one reason or another.
This meant that the government would be almost certainly
in a minority in the house until the by-elections could be
held. Yet the writs for the by-elections could not be issued
until the assembly had met together and elected a speaker to
issue them.

That the situation was not hopeless was the opinion of no
less distinguished a politician than Sir John A. Macdonald.
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‘I am vain enough to think,’ he wrote, ‘ that if I were in his
[Sandfield Macdonald’s] place just now, and had his cards, I
could carry him through the first three weeks of the session—
wherein alone there is any danger.’* What Sandfield Mac-
donald should have done was clearly pointed out afterwards
by Goldwin Smith, at that time a recent arrival in Canada,
but an interested spectator of the struggle in the Ontario
legislature.? The obvious course of the government, said ‘A
Bystander,” was ‘ to summon Parliament in the first instance
only for the election of a Speaker who might receive the report
of the judges and issue the new writs ; and then to move an
adjournment till the number of the House should be com-
plete ; or, if it was desirable to proceed with ordinary busi-
ness, they might have appealed to their opponents for a
postponement of party questions till the balance of parties
had been decided. No leader of an Opposition could have
refused to respond to such an appeal.’ Neither of these
courses, however, seems to have occurred to the cabinet.
Instead of trying to avert a straight party vote, they openly
courted it. Although they could scarcely hope to command
a majority, they called the house together on December 7,
1871, and after a speaker had been duly elected, they opened
the session for general business with a speech from the throne
of the ordinary sort, claiming credit for the success of the
administration, and thus directly challenging a vote of no-
confidence.

The opposition was not slow to take up the challenge.
There was one question at least on which it was certain of a
majority in the house—the question, to which reference has
already been made, of the policy of handing over to the
executive $1,500,000 for subsidizing railways, without the
further control of the legislature. The policy of the govern-
ment in this regard had proved so unpopular in the con-
stituencies that some of the members who were otherwise
well disposed toward the government had been compelled to

1 Sir Joseph Pope, Memoirs of Sir Jol » Macdonald, vol. ii. p. 142.

? See the paper by ‘ A Bystander,” ‘ The Recent Struggle in the Parliament of
Ontario,’ in the Canadian Monthly and National Revie, February 1872, This
was the first of the ¢ Bystander ’ papers.
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pledge themselves against it. Blake, therefore, took the first
opportunity of moving the following amendment to the
address :

But we feel bound to take the earliest opportunity
of informing your Excellency that we regret the course
taken by the Legislative Assembly last Session under
the guidance of your present Ministers in reference to
the large powers given to the Executive as to the dis-
position of the Railway Aid Fund, and to state that in
our opinion the proposal of the Government to grant
aid to any railway should be submitted for the approval
or rejection of the Legislative Assembly, so as not to
leave so large a sum as $1,500,000 at the disposal of
the Executive without a vote of this House appropriating
the same to particular works.

This amendment, it should be observed, was highly
improper. It amounted not so much to a vote of censure
on the government as to a vote of censure on the previous
parliament ; and while it is always open to a parliament to
repeal the acts of its predecessors, it is never open to it to
censure them. To censure an act of parliament is to condemn
not only the legislature which passed the act, but the crown
which assented to it. This objection, however, apparently
did not occur to the ministers; for they immediately pro-
ceeded to move, through a private member, a resolution,
‘That inasmuch as one-tenth of the constituencies of the pro-
vince remain at this time unrepresented in this House. ..
it is inexpedient further to consider the question involved
in the amendment till the said constituencies are duly repre-
sented on the floor of this House.” If this resolution had
been couched in the form of an appeal from the premier to
the leader of the opposition, it might have borne some weight ;
although it must be confessed that the government had
already abandoned this ground when it opened parliament
with a speech from the throne of the ordinary kind. But as
a formal resolution it was indefensible. If the principle
which it involved were admitted, it would condemn most
legislatures to a chronic state of suspended animation.

In the divisions which followed the government was
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defeated. The amendment to the amendment was rejected
by a majority of eight (40-32), and the opposition amendment
was carried by a majority of seven (40-33). There was, how-
ever, in this vote, it should be observed, no reason why the
government should resign. The vote had been confined to a
single measure, and that a measure which had been passed
with all constitutional regularity by a previous parliament.
‘It is a false sense of honour which leads a Government to
throw up the reins when defeated on any question not really
of a vital kind.” Sandfield Macdonald, therefore, refused to
regard the vote as one of no-confidence, and announced that
he would stay at his post. In this determination he was
supported by all the ministers but one. That one, the
provincial treasurer, E. B. Wood, had convinced himself that
the government had lost the confidence of the house, and
now took what is perhaps one of the most distasteful steps
that a public man can be called upon to take : he sent in his
resignation to the premier, and left his colleagues under fire.

In connection with Wood’s resignation occurred a famous
incident known as the ‘ Speak Now ’ episode. A couple of
days after Wood’s resignation a note was observed to pass
from Blake to Wood across the floor of the house, and Wood
was seen, after reading it, to tear it up and throw it in a
spittoon. One of the members of the house, his curiosity
being roused, afterwards investigated the contents of the
spittoon, and succeeded in piecing together the fragments of
the note. All that it contained was, ‘ You had better speak
now.” Yet on this very flimsy evidence Cameron built up a
charge, which he threw out on the floor of the house, that
Blake had employed corrupt means to induce Wood to resign.
That the charge was groundless will be evident to any one
who takes the trouble to examine the facts. What happened
was this : Wood, having been attacked by his late colleagues
as a deserter, wished to reply at the end of the debate, and
knowing that Blake had control of the house, he naturally
applied to him to find out when the debate was likely to close ;
Blake told him the debate would continue for some time, but
when it showed unexpected signs of flagging, he sent a note
over to Wood telling him that he ‘ had better speak now’ ;
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Wood, however, did not speak. That is positively all there
was in this too famous incident.!

The opposition, finding that it had failed to dislodge the
government by its first amendment to the address, now pro-
ceeded to move a second. Alexander Mackenzie, who had
been elected member for West Middlesex, moved ‘ That the
House has no confidence in the ministry which is attempting
to carry out, in reference to the control of the said fund of one
and a half million, an usurpation fraught with danger to public
liberty and constitutional government.” Against this motion
several objections might have been urged. It was little
more than a repetition of the first amendment, framed with
the same object of catching stray votes on the railway ques-
tion ; and the use of the word ‘ usurpation,’ as applied to a
power duly conferred by parliament, was an absurdity. The
government, however, made no objection to the form of the
motion, and blandly accepted it as a general motion of no-
confidence. In the division that followed the government
was defeated by a majority of one (37-36).

It would seem that the government ought now to have
resigned. The general question of confidence had been
debated on both sides, and it was clear that the ministers
had lost control of the house. Instead of resigning, how-
ever, the government brought down in answer to the address
a message from the lieutenant-governor, which contained
the following paragraph :

With reference to that portion of the answer to the
speech which expresses the disapproval by the Legis-
lative Assembly of the large powers given to the Executive
under an Act passed by <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>